

# A geometric model for blocks of Frobenius kernels

Pramod Achar, Simon Riche

# ▶ To cite this version:

Pramod Achar, Simon Riche. A geometric model for blocks of Frobenius kernels. 2022. hal-03602356

HAL Id: hal-03602356

https://hal.science/hal-03602356

Preprint submitted on 9 Mar 2022

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# A GEOMETRIC MODEL FOR BLOCKS OF FROBENIUS KERNELS

#### PRAMOD N. ACHAR AND SIMON RICHE

ABSTRACT. Building on a geometric counterpart of Steinberg's tensor product formula for simple representations of a connected reductive algebraic group  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  over a field of positive characteristic proved in [AR3], and following an idea of Arkhipov–Bezrukavnikov–Braverman–Gaitsgory–Mirković, we define and initiate the study of some categories of perverse sheaves on the affine Grassmannian of the Langlands dual group to  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  that should provide geometric models for blocks of representations of the Frobenius kernel  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$  of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ . In particular, we show that these categories admit enough projective and injective objects, which are closely related to some tilting perverse sheaves, and that they are highest weight categories in an appropriate generalized sense.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Combinatorics of the affine Weyl group	6
3.	Perverse sheaves on affine Grassmannians	13
4.	Background from representation theory	26
5.	Modules over the regular perverse sheaf	33
6.	Averaging and wall-crossing functors	43
7.	Projectives and injectives	51
8.	Ungraded $\mathcal{R}$ -modules	60
9.	Baby Verma and co-Verma modules	67
References		87

#### 1. Introduction

1.1. **Overview.** Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic  $\ell > 0$ , and let  $\mathbf{\check{G}}$  be a connected reductive algebraic group over k. We also let G be a connected reductive algebraic group over an algebraically closed field of characteristic  $p \neq \ell$  such that the Langlands dual group  $G_k^{\vee}$  over k is the Frobenius twist  $\mathbf{\check{G}}^{(1)}$  of  $\mathbf{\check{G}}$ . The Finkelberg-Mirković conjecture (which is currently open, but perhaps not for long) [FM] predicts that when  $\ell$  is larger than the Coxeter number for  $\mathbf{\check{G}}$ , the category of (étale) Iwahori-constructible perverse k-sheaves on the affine Grassmannian Gr of G, denoted by  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathsf{Gr}, k)$ , should be equivalent to the (extended) principal block of  $\mathbf{\check{G}}$ . See [AR3, §1.2] for a precise statement and further discussion.

P.A. was supported by NSF Grant No. DMS-1802241. This project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 101002592).

In anticipation of this conjecture, one might look for "representation-theoretic phenomena" in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ , which might hold with milder assumptions on  $\ell$ . The present paper and its companion paper [AR3] (where we established a formula for convolution products of certain simple perverse sheaves, modeled on the Steinberg tensor product formula for group representations, without any restriction on  $\ell$ ) both pursue this idea.

More specifically, the motivation for the present paper is as follows. Let  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$  denote the first Frobenius kernel of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ . The representation theory of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$  is, of course, closely related to that of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ : indeed, as illustrated in, say, [Ja, Chap. II.3], it is essential to study  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$ -modules even if one is primarily interested in proving results about  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ . It is often convenient to also study  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -modules, where  $\check{\mathbf{T}}\subset \check{\mathbf{G}}$  is a maximal torus. Our goal in this paper is to construct and study two new abelian categories, to be denoted by  $\mathrm{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\mathrm{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , that are related to  $\mathrm{Perv}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  in the same way that  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$ -representations and  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -representations, respectively, are related to  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -representations.

1.2. Main results. In our geometric study, the fact that  $\mathbb{k}$  has positive characteristic is not required. We therefore denote by  $\mathbb{k}$  either a finite extension or an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ , or a finite extension or an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ . We will fix a maximal torus T and a Borel subgroup B in G such that  $T \subset B$ . For technical reasons, we will assume that the quotient of the character lattice of T by the root lattice is torsion-free  $^1$  and that  $\mathbb{k}$  contains a nontrivial p-th root of unity.

Let  $\mathbf{Y}$  be the cocharacter lattice of T. The category  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  consists of certain  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded ind-objects in  $\operatorname{Perv}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  equipped with an action of an algebra ind-object denoted by  $\mathcal{R}$ . The precise definition will be given in Section 5. For now, we remark that there is an easy way to take an ordinary perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{F} \in \operatorname{Perv}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  and produce an ind-perverse sheaf  $\Phi(\mathcal{F}) \in \operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  by taking the "free  $\mathcal{R}$ -module on  $\mathcal{F}$ ." This construction yields a functor

$$\Phi: \mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to \mathsf{mod}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}).$$

Let W be the Weyl group of G, and let  $W_{\rm ext} := W \ltimes \mathbf{Y}$  be the extended affine Weyl group. The following statement gathers some of the main results of this paper (see Theorems 5.6 and 7.9 and Propositions 7.7, 9.5, 9.7 and 9.21). (The partial order  $\leq$  appearing below is Lusztig's "periodic order" on  $W_{\rm ext}$ , whose definition is recalled in §2.5. The definition of restricted elements in  $W_{\rm ext}$  can be found in [AR3, §2.4].)

**Theorem 1.1.** (1) The category  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_n}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is a finite-length abelian category.

(2) For each  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , there is a simple object  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w \in \text{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , and the assignment  $w \mapsto \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w$  yields a bijection

 $W_{\mathrm{ext}} \overset{\sim}{\to} \{ \mathit{isomorphism classes of simple objects in } \mathrm{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \}.$ 

If w is restricted then  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w$  is the image under  $\Phi$  of the simple object in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(Gr, \mathbb{k})$  labeled by w.

(3) In the Serre subcategory of  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  generated by the objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}$  with  $y \not\succ w$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}$  admits a projective cover  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}$  and an injective hull  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This assumption is satisfied e.g. if G is semisimple of adjoint type.

(4) For each  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , there is an object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w$  in  $\text{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  that is both the injective hull and projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w$ . Moreover,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w$  admits a filtration with subquotients of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y$ , and a filtration with subquotients of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_y$ .

The objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'$  appearing in this statement are geometric incarnations of baby Verma and baby co-Verma  $\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}_1\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}$ -modules. All of these properties are geometric counterparts of standard results on  $\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}_1\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}$ -modules using the dictionary explained in §1.4 below. For instance, see [Ja, Proposition II.9.6] for (2) and [Ja, Proposition II.11.4 and §II.11.5] for (4). (Note that we do not impose any restriction on  $\ell$  in this theorem, although the conjectural translation to Representation Theory requires  $\ell$  to be larger than the Coxeter number.)

We will also prove similar results for the category  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathcal{R})$  that we do not state here, see Section 8.

1.3. Some comments on Theorem 1.1. To be more precise, in the body of the paper we will define two different versions of the category  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , that translate into geometry two different perspectives on the property of being finitely generated. Proving that these two definitions in fact give rise to the same category (see Theorem 7.9(1)) is what will require most of our efforts. The construction and study of projective and injective objects is essential to our approach to this question. This study also proves in passing that  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is a highest weight category in a generalized sense recently formulated by Brundan–Stroppel [BS], which implies the second sentence in part (4).

In the body of the paper, we will actually prove a more general version of Theorem 1.1 that accommodates "Whittaker perverse sheaves" on Gr, rather than just Iwahori-constructible perverse sheaves. The Whittaker versions of this theorem are not merely generalizations for their own sake: our proof of Theorem 1.1, even in the simplified case stated above, makes crucial use of functors that allow us to pass to and from various Whittaker versions.

Another key tool in the proof of part (4) is the "Iwahori–Whittaker model for the Satake category" of [BGMRR]. The counterpart of  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  in the setting of [BGMRR] turns out to be equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional representations of the torus  $\check{\mathbf{T}}$ : in particular, it is a semisimple category, and thus has a rich supply of projective and injective objects, which give rise to projective and injective objects in our other categories via appropriate averaging functors.

- Remark 1.2. (1) In the case  $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ , parts (1)–(3) of Theorem 1.1 were previously obtained by Arkhipov–Bezrukavnikov–Braverman–Gaitsgory–Mirković [ABBGM]. (Indeed, our definitions of the category  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{u}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and of the objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}$  are essentially copied from [ABBGM].) Thus, for  $\mathbb{k} = \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ , the main new contribution of the present paper is the study of projective/injective objects in  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{u}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .
  - (2) Let us mention in passing that, in case k has characteristic 0, our methods also provide a geometric proof that the abelian category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr}, k)$  has enough projectives and injectives, and that these two classes of objects coincide: see §7.1. (In contrast, for k of positive characteristic,  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr}, k)$  has no nonzero projective or injective objects unless G is a torus.) This fact was previously known: it can be deduced from a representation-theoretic

result of Andersen–Polo–Wen [APW] via intermediaries discussed in Remark 1.4 below. The problem of finding a geometric proof of this property was in fact the starting point of this work. It finally allows to answer a question the authors asked themselves (and a few colleagues) more than ten years ago.

1.4. A Finkelberg–Mirković conjecture for the Frobenius kernel. In this subsection, we make precise the conjectural relationship between  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and the category of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -representations. (These considerations have obvious analogues relating the "Whittaker" variants of  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  considered in the body of the paper to singular blocks of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -representations; we leave it to the reader to formulate these variants.) This subsection is for motivation only; it does not play any logical role in the rest of the paper.

We assume in this subsection that  $\mathbb{k}$  is an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ . Let  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$ , resp.  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}})$ , be the category of finite-dimensional rational  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -, resp.  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -, representations. Then there is a forgetful functor

For : 
$$\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}) \to \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1 \check{\mathbf{T}})$$
.

Here is a brief review of the representation theory of  $\mathbf{G}_1\mathbf{T}$ , following, for instance [Ja, Chap. II.9–11]. For each  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ , there is a baby Verma module  $\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}(\lambda)$  and a baby co-Verma module  $\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}'(\lambda)$ , both with highest weight  $\lambda$ . The socle of  $\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}'(\lambda)$  can be identified with the head of  $\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}(\lambda)$ , and this irreducible module is denoted by  $\widehat{\mathbf{L}}(\lambda)$ . Every simple  $\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}_1\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}$ -module is of this form (for a unique  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ ). The module  $\widehat{\mathbf{L}}(\lambda)$  admits an injective hull  $\widehat{\mathbf{Q}}(\lambda)$  that is also its projective cover. Moreover,  $\widehat{\mathbf{Q}}(\lambda)$  admits filtrations by both baby Verma modules and baby co-Verma modules.

Assume now that  $\ell \geq h$ , where h is the Coxeter number for  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ , and that the quotient of the cocharacter lattice of T by the coroot lattice has no  $\ell$ -torsion.<sup>2</sup> Let  $\mathsf{Rep}_{[0]}(\check{\mathbf{G}}) \subset \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$  and  $\mathsf{Rep}_{[0]}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}) \subset \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}})$  be the extended principal blocks of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  and of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ , respectively, i.e. the Serre subcategories generated by simple modules whose highest weights lie in  $W_{\mathrm{ext}} \cdot_{\ell} 0$ , where  $\cdot_{\ell}$  denotes the " $\ell$ -dilated dot action." The Steinberg tensor product formula implies that the forgetful functor For:  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}) \to \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}})$  restricts to a functor

$$\operatorname{For}_0:\operatorname{\mathsf{Rep}}_{[0]}(\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}) o \operatorname{\mathsf{Rep}}_{[0]}(\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}_1\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}).$$

Recall that the  $Finkelberg-Mirkovi\acute{c}$  conjecture asserts the existence of an equivalence of categories

$$\mathsf{FM}:\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \overset{\sim}{\to} \mathsf{Rep}_{[0]}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$$

together with a natural isomorphism

$$\mathsf{FM}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{G}) \cong \mathrm{Fr}^* \big( \mathsf{Sat}(\mathrm{sw}(\mathcal{G})) \big),$$

where  $\operatorname{Fr}^*$  is pullback along the Frobenius morphism  $\operatorname{Fr}: \check{\mathbf{G}} \to \check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$ ,  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Sat}}$  is the geometric Satake equivalence, and sw is a certain autoequivalence of  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\operatorname{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ . We refer the reader to [AR3, §1.2] for precise definitions of the notation, and further discussion of this statement.

The following statement is a consequence of the results of this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See [AR3, Remark 1.2(2)] for a discussion of this assumption.

**Proposition 1.3.** Assume that that the Finkelberg-Mirković conjecture holds for  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ . Then there exists an equivalence of categories

$$\mathsf{FM}_{\operatorname{Frob}}: \operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \stackrel{\sim}{ o} \mathsf{Rep}_{[0]}(\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}_{1}\widecheck{\mathbf{T}})$$

such that

$$\mathsf{FM}_{\mathrm{Frob}} \circ \Phi \cong \mathsf{FM} \circ \mathrm{For}_0$$

which satisfies

$$\mathsf{FM}_{\mathrm{Frob}}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w) \cong \widehat{\mathsf{L}}(w^{-1} \cdot_{\ell} 0), \quad \mathsf{FM}_{\mathrm{Frob}}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w) \cong \widehat{\mathsf{Q}}(w^{-1} \cdot_{\ell} 0),$$
$$\mathsf{FM}_{\mathrm{Frob}}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w) \cong \widehat{\mathsf{Z}}(w^{-1} \cdot_{\ell} 0), \quad \mathsf{FM}_{\mathrm{Frob}}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w') \cong \widehat{\mathsf{Z}}'(w^{-1} \cdot_{\ell} 0)$$

for any  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , and such that

$$\mathsf{FM}_{\operatorname{Frob}}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{G}) \cong \mathsf{FM}_{\operatorname{Frob}}(\mathcal{F}) \otimes \operatorname{For}_0 \circ \operatorname{Fr}^* \big( \mathsf{Sat}(\operatorname{sw}^* \mathcal{G}) \big)$$

functorially for any  $\mathcal F$  in  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf Y}(\mathcal R)$  and  $\mathcal G$  in  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{\mathcal L^+G}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)$ .

Remark 1.4. For  $\mathbb{k}$  of characteristic 0, the categories  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  and  $\mathsf{mod}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  are not related to representations of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  or  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$ , but rather to their quantum analogues. Specifically, the quantum counterpart of the Finkelberg–Mirković conjecture is a theorem of Arkhipov–Bezrukavnikov–Ginzburg [ABG] relating  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  to the principal block of a quantum group  $\mathsf{U}_{\zeta}(\check{\mathfrak{g}})$  at a root of unity. As observed in [ABBGM], a quantum analogue of Proposition 1.3 holds in this setting: for  $\mathbb{k} = \overline{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ , the category  $\mathsf{mod}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is equivalent to the principal block of graded representations of the small quantum group  $\mathsf{u}_{\zeta}(\check{\mathfrak{g}})$ .

Note that in [ABBGM] the authors provide a third incarnation of the same category, in terms of perverse sheaves on a semi-infinite affine flag variety. It is likely that a similar description can be obtained in our setting of positive-characteristic coefficients; this question will be the subject of future work.

1.5. Tilting  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -modules and projective  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -modules. In view of the discussion in §1.4, the second sentence in Theorem 1.1(2) is a geometric counterpart of the fact that simple  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -modules with restricted highest weight remain simple as  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -modules. There is another class of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -modules whose behaviour upon restriction to  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$  is remarkable, namely the *tilting* modules. The geometric counterpart of tilting modules in the principal block of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  are the tilting perverse sheaves in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_n}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ .

In Propositions 7.11 and 9.26 we determine which indecomposable tilting perverse sheaves are sent to projective/injective  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules by the functor  $\Phi$ , providing a geometric counterpart of [Ja, Lemma E.8]. Another very interesting property of this operation is that (under the assumption that  $p \geq 2h - 2$ , and conjecturally in broader generality) some of these indecomposable tilting modules remain indecomposable as  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -modules. It is one of our motivations for developing this theory to provide new tools to understand this property. We study this question in §8.3, but we must admit that our progress towards solving this question is very modest so far.

1.6. Contents of the paper. In Section 2 we prove a number of combinatorial results on the affine Weyl group attached to a connected reductive algebraic group G. In Section 3 we collect some facts on various categories of perverse sheaves on the affine Grassmannian Gr and the affine flag variety Fl of G. Most of these results

are known to some extent, but many proofs are not available in the literature in the generality we require. In Section 4 we explain some constructions that allow us to describe modules over the Frobenius kernel (or some variants) of a connected reductive algebraic group  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  in terms of representations of the whole group. These constructions will serve as guiding principles for many constructions in the rest of the paper, and justify Proposition 1.3.

In Section 5 we introduce our main object of study, the category  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , together with a variant  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$ . We show that the second of these categories is a finite-length abelian category, in which we classify the simple objects, and define some geometric incarnations of baby co-Verma modules. (We also treat some "Whittaker-type" analogues in parallel.) In Section 6, exploiting results from [BGMRR] we study some perverse sheaves on Gr arising from the "big tilting perverse sheaf" on the flag variety of G, and derive some first applications to the study of (geometric) baby co-Verma modules. In Section 7 we prove that the categories  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$  coincide, that these categories have enough injectives and enough projectives, and also that these classes of objects coincide and are closely related to tilting perverse sheaves on Gr. (Again, all of these results are proved also in the Whittaker setting). In the course of the proof of these results, we show that these categories satisfy some form of "generalized highest weight" formalism recently studied by Brundan–Stroppel [BS].

In Section 8 we study a variant of our formalism that omits part of the structure. Finally, in Section 9 we define a duality functor on  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , and use this functor to define geometric counterparts of baby Verma modules. We also prove a number of results regarding the combinatorics of the category  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  that are analogues of known results on representations of Frobenius kernels.

#### 2. Combinatorics of the affine Weyl group

2.1. The extended affine affine Weyl group. Let  $\mathbb{F}$  be an algebraically closed field, and G be a connected reductive algebraic group over  $\mathbb{F}$ . We fix a Borel subgroup  $B \subset G$  and a maximal torus  $T \subset B$ . We will denote by  $\mathbf{X} := X^*(T)$  the character lattice of T, by  $\mathfrak{R} \subset \mathbf{X}$  the root system of (G,T), by  $\mathbf{Y} := X_*(T)$  the coweight lattice, and by  $\mathfrak{R}^{\vee} \subset \mathbf{Y}$  the coroot system; the natural bijection from  $\mathfrak{R}$  to  $\mathfrak{R}^{\vee}$  will be denoted  $\alpha \mapsto \alpha^{\vee}$  as usual.

We will denote by  $\mathfrak{R}_+ \subset \mathfrak{R}$  the system of positive roots consisting of the T-weights in  $\mathrm{Lie}(G)/\mathrm{Lie}(B)$ , and by  $\mathfrak{R}_s$  the associated basis of  $\mathfrak{R}$ . The corresponding sets of dominant coweights and strictly dominant coweights will be denoted  $\mathbf{Y}_+$  and  $\mathbf{Y}_{++}$  respectively. We will denote by W the Weyl group of (G,T). If we denote by  $S \subset W$  the subset consisting of the reflections  $s_{\alpha^\vee}$  for  $\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_s$ , then it is well known that (W,S) is a Coxeter system. The longest element in this group will be denoted  $w_\circ$ .

We will assume that  $\mathbf{X}/\mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{R}$  has no torsion, or in other words that the restriction morphism

$$\mathbf{Y} \to \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{R}, \mathbb{Z})$$

is surjective. (This is equivalent to requiring that the scheme-theoretic center of G be a torus.) In particular, this condition ensures that there exists  $\varsigma \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $\langle \alpha, \varsigma \rangle = 1$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_s$ ; we fix such an element once and for all.

The affine Weyl group associated with G is the semidirect product

$$W_{\text{aff}} := W \ltimes \mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{R}^{\vee},$$

where  $\mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{R}^{\vee} \subset \mathbf{Y}$  is the lattice generated by  $\mathfrak{R}^{\vee}$ . For  $\lambda \in \mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{R}^{\vee}$ , we will write  $t_{\lambda}$  for the corresponding element of  $W_{\mathrm{aff}}$ . It is a standard fact that if we denote by  $S_{\mathrm{aff}} \subset W_{\mathrm{aff}}$  the subset consisting of S together with the elements  $t_{\beta^{\vee}}s_{\beta^{\vee}}$  where  $\beta^{\vee} \in \mathfrak{R}^{\vee}$  is a maximal short coroot, then the pair  $(W_{\mathrm{aff}}, S_{\mathrm{aff}})$  is a Coxeter system. Moreover, classical results of Iwahori–Matsumoto [IM] show that the associated length function on  $W_{\mathrm{aff}}$  can be described by the following formula for  $w \in W$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{R}^{\vee}$ :

(2.1) 
$$\ell(wt_{\lambda}) = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_{+} \\ w(\alpha) \in \mathfrak{R}_{+}}} |\langle \lambda, \alpha \rangle| + \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_{+} \\ w(\alpha) \in -\mathfrak{R}_{+}}} |1 + \langle \lambda, \alpha \rangle|.$$

The formula on the right-hand side of (2.1) makes sense more generally for  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ , which lets one to extend the function  $\ell$  to the larger group

$$W_{\mathrm{ext}} := W \ltimes \mathbf{Y},$$

in such a way that  $\ell(ww') \leq \ell(w) + \ell(w')$  for any  $w, w' \in W_{\text{ext}}$ . The subgroup  $W_{\text{aff}} \subset W_{\text{ext}}$  is normal, and if we set

$$\Omega := \{ w \in W_{\text{ext}} \mid \ell(w) = 0 \}$$

then  $\Omega$  is a finitely generated abelian group acting on  $W_{\text{aff}}$  (via conjugation) by Coxeter group automorphisms. Multiplication induces a group isomorphism

$$\Omega \ltimes W_{\text{aff}} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_{\text{ext}},$$

and  $\ell(\omega w) = \ell(w\omega) = \ell(w)$  for any  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$ . We can also "extend" the Bruhat order  $\leq$  on  $W_{\text{aff}}$  to  $W_{\text{ext}}$  by declaring that for  $\omega, \omega' \in \Omega$  and  $w, w' \in W_{\text{aff}}$  we have  $\omega w \leq \omega' w'$  iff  $\omega = \omega'$  and  $w \leq w'$ . (The same rule will then also apply when switching the order of  $\omega$  and w.) We define a reduced expression for an element  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$  to be an expression of the form  $w = s_1 \cdots s_r \omega$  or  $w = \omega s_1 \cdots s_r$  with  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $s_i \in S_{\text{aff}}$  for any  $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ , and  $r = \ell(w)$ .

Given a subset  $A \subset S_{\rm aff}$ , we will denote by  $W_A$  the subgroup of  $W_{\rm aff}$  generated by A. We will say that A is finitary if  $W_A$  is finite; in this case we will denote by  $w_A$  the longest element in  $W_A$ . If A is finitary, the theory of Coxeter systems guarantees that for any  $w \in W_{\rm ext}$ , the coset  $W_A w$ , resp.  $wW_A$ , admits a unique maximal, resp. minimal, element with respect to the Bruhat order. In particular, for A = S, we will denote by  $W_{\rm ext}^S \subset W_{\rm ext}$  the subset consisting of elements w which are minimal in wW. The basic properties of minimal coset representatives recalled above guarantee that the composition  $W_{\rm ext}^S \hookrightarrow W_{\rm ext} \to W_{\rm ext}/W$  is a bijection.

2.2. Geometry of alcoves and restricted elements. Consider the vector space  $V := \mathbf{Y} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ , and the action of  $W_{\text{ext}}$  given by

$$(t_{\lambda}w) \cdot v = w(v) + \lambda$$

for  $w \in W$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ , where W acts on V via its natural action on  $\mathbf{Y}$ . In V we have the affine hyperplanes defined by

$$H_{\beta,n} := \{ v \in V \mid \langle \beta, v \rangle = n \}$$

for  $\beta \in \mathfrak{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , which are permuted by the action of  $W_{\text{ext}}$ . The connected components of the complement of the union of these hyperplanes are called alcoves; if we set

$$\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}} := \{ v \in V \mid \forall \beta \in \mathfrak{R}_+, \ 0 < \langle \beta, v \rangle < 1 \},$$

then  $\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}$  is an alcove (called the *fundamental alcove*), and the assignment  $w \mapsto w(\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}})$  induces a bijection from  $W_{\text{ext}}/\Omega$  (where  $\Omega$  is as in §2.1) to the set of alcoves. If

$$\mathcal{C} = \{ v \in V \mid \forall \beta \in \mathfrak{R}_+, \, \langle \beta, v \rangle > 0 \},\,$$

then it is a standard fact that

(2.2) 
$$W_{\text{ext}}^S = \{ w \in W_{\text{ext}} \mid w^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}) \subset \mathcal{C} \}.$$

For  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we set

$$\Pi_{\mu} := \{ v \in V \mid \forall \alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_{s}, \langle \alpha, \mu \rangle - 1 < \langle \alpha, v \rangle < \langle \alpha, \mu \rangle \};$$

our assumption on  $X/\mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{R}$  ensures that each alcove is contained in a subset of this form (sometimes called a box). Of particular importance is the set

$$\Pi_{\varsigma} = \{ v \in V \mid \forall \alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_{s}, \ 0 < \langle \alpha, v \rangle < 1 \}.$$

This set (which is evidently independent of the choice of  $\varsigma$ ) contains  $\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}$  and is sometimes called the *fundamental box*. We define the subset of *restricted elements* in  $W_{\text{ext}}$  by setting

$$W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}} := \{ w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}} \mid w^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{fund}}) \subset \Pi_{\varsigma} \}.$$

Since any alcove belongs to a subset  $\Pi_{\mu}$ , any element w of  $W_{\rm ext}$  can be written as a product  $w=yt_{\lambda}$  with  $y\in W_{\rm ext}^{\rm res}$  and  $\lambda\in \mathbf{Y}$ . It is easy to see that

$$(2.3) W_{\text{ext}}^S = \{xt_{\lambda} : x \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}, \lambda \in -\mathbf{Y}_+\},$$

see [AR3, §2.4] for details.

Let us also record the following property, proved in [AR3, Lemma 2.7], which shows in particular that lengths always add in a decomposition given by (2.3).

**Lemma 2.1.** For any 
$$w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$$
 and  $\lambda \in -\mathbf{Y}_+$  we have  $\ell(wt_{\lambda}) = \ell(w) + \ell(t_{\lambda})$ .

As explained above, given  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$  there exists  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $w^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}) \subset \Pi_{\mu}$ . We then set

$$w^{\triangle} = w t_{\mu} w_{\circ} t_{-\mu}.$$

(Here  $\mu$  is unique only up to addition of a coweight  $\nu$  orthogonal to all roots; however the product  $t_{\mu}w_{\circ}t_{-\mu}$  is independent of the choice of  $\mu$ , so that this definition makes sense.) This definition is chosen in such a way that  $w^{\triangle}(\mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{fund}}) = \widehat{w(\mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{fund}})}$ , where the operation on alcoves  $A \mapsto \widehat{A}$  is as in [So, p. 98] (see also [RW, §2.2]). It is easily seen from the definition that if  $w \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  then  $w^{\triangle} \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , and that for  $w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have

$$(2.4) (wt_{\lambda})^{\triangle} = w^{\triangle}t_{\lambda}.$$

Note that  $(w^{\triangle})^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}) \subset \Pi_{\mu+\varsigma}$ . Using this observation, we can write down the inverse of the map  $w \mapsto w^{\triangle}$ : it is given by

(2.5) 
$$v \mapsto vt_{\nu-\varsigma}w_{\circ}t_{\varsigma-\nu} \quad \text{where } v^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}) \subset \Pi_{\nu}.$$

### 2.3. A length computation.

**Lemma 2.2.** If  $x \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$  and  $y = t_{\varsigma} w_{\circ} x^{-1}$ , then we have

$$\ell(x) + \ell(y) = \ell(t_{\varsigma} w_{\circ}).$$

*Proof.* Using (2.1) we see that  $\ell(t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}) = \langle 2\rho, \varsigma \rangle - \ell(w_{\circ})$ . On the other hand, write  $x = wt_{\lambda}$  with  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  and  $w \in W$ . Then we have

$$\ell(x) = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_+ \\ w(\alpha) \in \mathfrak{R}_+}} |\langle \alpha, \lambda \rangle| + \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_+ \\ w(\alpha) \in -\mathfrak{R}_+}} |1 + \langle \alpha, \lambda \rangle|.$$

By [AR3, Lemma 2.6], on the right-hand side we have  $\langle \alpha, \lambda \rangle \leq 0$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_+$ . Moreover, if  $w(\alpha) \in -\mathfrak{R}_+$ , then at least one simple root  $\gamma$  appearing in the decomposition of  $\alpha$  as a sum of simple roots must satisfy  $w(\gamma) \in -\mathfrak{R}_+$ ; we therefore have  $\langle \alpha, \lambda \rangle \leq -1$  in this case. We deduce that

$$\ell(x) = -\langle 2\rho, \lambda \rangle - \ell(w).$$

Similarly we have  $y = t_{\varsigma} w_{\circ} x^{-1} = t_{\varsigma - w_{\circ}(\lambda)} w_{\circ} w^{-1} = (w w_{\circ} t_{w_{\circ}(\lambda) - \varsigma})^{-1}$ , and hence

$$\ell(y) = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_+ \\ ww_{\circ}(\alpha) \in \mathfrak{R}_+}} |\langle \alpha, w_{\circ}(\lambda) - \varsigma \rangle| + \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}_+ \\ ww_{\circ}(\alpha) \in -\mathfrak{R}_+}} |1 + \langle \alpha, w_{\circ}(\lambda) - \varsigma \rangle|.$$

Setting  $\beta = -w_{\circ}(\alpha)$  we obtain that

$$\ell(y) = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathfrak{R}_+ \\ w(\beta) \in -\mathfrak{R}_+}} |\langle \beta, \lambda - w_{\circ}(\varsigma) \rangle| + \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathfrak{R}_+ \\ w(\beta) \in \mathfrak{R}_+}} |1 - \langle \beta, \lambda - w_{\circ}(\varsigma) \rangle|.$$

For the same reason as before, we have  $\langle \beta, \lambda - w_{\circ}(\varsigma) \rangle \geq 0$  for any  $\beta \in \mathfrak{R}_{+}$ , and  $\langle \beta, \lambda - w_{\circ}(\varsigma) \rangle \geq 1$  if  $w(\beta) \in \mathfrak{R}_{+}$ . It follows that

$$\ell(y) = \langle 2\rho, \varsigma \rangle + \langle 2\rho, \lambda \rangle - \#\{\beta \in \mathfrak{R}_+ \mid w(\beta) \in \mathfrak{R}_+\} = \\ \langle 2\rho, \varsigma \rangle + \langle 2\rho, \lambda \rangle - \ell(w_0 w) = \ell(t_\varsigma w_0) - \ell(x),$$

as stated in the lemma.

- 2.4. Coset representatives. Let  $A \subset S_{\text{aff}}$  be a finitary subset. We will denote by  ${}^AW^S_{\text{ext}} \subset W_{\text{ext}}$  the subset consisting of the elements w such that  $\ell(w_Aww_\circ) = \ell(w_A) + \ell(w) + \ell(w_\circ)$ . Other characterizations of these elements are given in [AR3, Lemma 2.4]; in particular we have
- (2.6)  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}^{S} \Leftrightarrow w \text{ is minimal in } W_{A}w \text{ and } vw \in W_{\text{ext}}^{S} \text{ for any } v \in W_{A}.$

(Of course, this shows that  ${}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}\subset W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}.)$  We set

$${}^AW^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}} := {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}} \cap W^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}}$$

Then as explained in [AR3, §2.5] we have

(2.7) 
$${}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}^{S} = \{wt_{\lambda} : w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}, \lambda \in -\mathbf{Y}_{+}\}.$$

We now set

$${}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}} = \{ wt_{\lambda} : w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}}, \, \lambda \in \mathbf{Y} \}.$$

We emphasize that  ${}^AW_{\text{ext}}$  is *not* the set of elements w which are minimal in their coset  $W_Aw$ . However, this subset is also a set of representatives for the quotient  $W_A \setminus W_{\text{ext}}$ , as stated in the following lemma.

Lemma 2.3. The composition

$$^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}} \rightarrow W_{\mathrm{ext}} \rightarrow W_{A} \backslash W_{\mathrm{ext}}$$

is a bijection.

Proof. We first prove surjectivity. Let  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ . Then there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  such that  $t_{\lambda}w^{-1}v(\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}) \subset \mathcal{C}$  for any  $v \in W_A$ . If we fix such a  $\lambda$ , by definition all the elements  $vwt_{-\lambda}$  ( $v \in W_A$ ) belong to  $W_{\text{ext}}^S$ . If  $v \in W_A$  is such that  $vwt_{-\lambda}$  is minimal in  $W_Awt_{-\lambda}$ , then  $vwt_{-\lambda}$  belongs to  ${}^AW_{\text{ext}}^S$  by (2.6). By (2.7), there exist  $y \in {}^AW_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$  and  $\mu \in -\mathbf{Y}_+$  such that  $vwt_{-\lambda} = yt_{\mu}$ . Then  $w = v^{-1}yt_{\lambda+\mu}$ , proving surjectivity.

As for injectivity, we consider  $y, y' \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$  and  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that

$$W_A y t_{\lambda} = W_A y' t_{\lambda'}$$
.

Multiplying on the right by an antidominant element we can assume that  $\lambda, \lambda' \in -\mathbf{Y}_+$ . Then  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda'}$  belong to  ${}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  by (2.7); in particular these elements are minimal in their respective cosets  $W_Ayt_{\lambda}$  and  $W_Ay't_{\lambda'}$ , see (2.6). Since these cosets coincide, this implies that  $yt_{\lambda} = y't_{\lambda'}$ , as desired.

2.5. The periodic order. In this subsection we introduce an order on  $W_{\rm ext}$  which is different from the Bruhat order, and which will play a crucial role in our constructions. Recall that any  $w \in W_{\rm ext}$  can be written as  $yt_{\mu}$  for some  $y \in W_{\rm ext}^{\rm res}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , see §2.2; in particular, in view of (2.3), there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $wt_{\lambda} \in W_{\rm ext}^{S}$ . More generally, given any finite collection  $w_{1}, \ldots, w_{r}$  of elements of  $W_{\rm ext}$ , there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $wit_{\lambda}$  belongs to  $W_{\rm ext}^{S}$  for any  $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ .

**Lemma 2.4.** Let  $y, y' \in W_{ext}$ . The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda}$  belong to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$  and  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$  in the Bruhat order;
- (2) for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda}$  belong to  $W_{\text{ext}}^{S}$  we have  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$  in the Bruhat order.

Proof. Of course (2) implies (1), since as explained above there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda}$  belong to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$ . Conversely, suppose that (1) holds, and fix some  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  which satisfies this condition. Let  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  be such that  $yt_{\mu}$  and  $y't_{\mu}$  belong to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$ , and choose  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $\nu - \lambda$  and  $\nu - \mu$  are antidominant. Using a standard compatibility property of the Bruhat order with multiplication when lengths add (see [AR3, Lemma 2.1]) and Lemma 2.1, from the fact that  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$ , we deduce that  $yt_{\nu} \leq y't_{\nu}$ , and then that  $yt_{\mu} \leq y't_{\mu}$ , as desired.

We define the periodic order  $\leq$  on  $W_{\rm ext}$  by saying that  $y \leq y'$  iff y and y' satisfy the equivalent conditions of Lemma 2.4. In other words, if  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  is any element such that  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda}$  belong to  $W_{\rm ext}^S$ , we have  $y \leq y'$  iff  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$ .

The following lemma gathers some easy properties of the periodic order.

**Lemma 2.5.** (1) If  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$  and  $s \in S_{\text{aff}}$ , then we have either  $sw \leq w$  or  $w \leq sw$ .

- (2) If  $y, y' \in W_{\text{ext}}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have  $y \leq y'$  iff  $yt_{\mu} \leq y't_{\mu}$ .
- (3) If  $y, y' \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  we have  $y \leq y'$  iff  $y \leq y'$ .
- (4) If  $y, y' \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  satisfy  $y \leq y'$ , and if  $s \in S_{\mathrm{aff}}$  satisfies  $sy \leq y$ , then we have  $sy \leq y'$  and  $sy \leq sy'$ .
- (5) If  $y, y' \in W_{\text{ext}}$  satisfy  $y \leq y'$ , and if  $s \in S_{\text{aff}}$  satisfies  $y' \leq sy'$ , then we have  $y \leq sy'$  and  $sy \leq sy'$ .

*Proof.* (1) Fix  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $syt_{\lambda}$  belong to  $W_{\text{ext}}^{S}$ . Then we have either  $yt_{\lambda} \leq syt_{\lambda}$  or  $syt_{\lambda} \leq yt_{\lambda}$ . In the first case we have  $y \leq sy$ , and in the second case we have  $sy \leq y$ .

- (2) If  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  is such that  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda}$  belong to  $W_{\text{ext}}^{S}$ , then by definition we have  $y \leq y'$  iff  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$ . On the other hand we have  $(yt_{\mu})t_{\lambda-\mu} = yt_{\lambda}$  and similarly for y', so that this condition holds iff  $yt_{\mu} \leq y't_{\mu}$ .
  - (3) This property is obvious from the definition (taking  $\lambda = 0$ ).
- (4) Of course we have  $sy \leq y \leq y'$ , and if  $y' \leq sy'$  then  $sy \leq y \leq y' \leq sy'$ . Now assume  $y' \succeq sy'$ , and choose  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $yt_{\lambda}$ ,  $y't_{\lambda}$ ,  $syt_{\lambda}$  and  $sy't_{\lambda}$  all belong to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$ . Then we have  $syt_{\lambda} \leq yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$  and  $sy't_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$ . By the last inequality, there exists a reduced expression  $y't_{\lambda} = ss_1 \cdots s_r \omega$  with each  $s_i$  in  $S_{\mathrm{aff}}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$ . Then  $yt_{\lambda}$  admits a reduced expression obtained by omitting some of the simple reflections in this expression. If s is not among the omitted simple reflections, then clearly  $syt_{\lambda} \leq s_1 \cdots s_r \omega = sy't_{\lambda}$ . If s is omitted then we also have  $syt_{\lambda} \leq sy't_{\lambda}$  by the exchange condition. Hence  $sy \leq sy'$  in all cases.
- (5) Of course we have  $y \leq y' \leq sy'$ , and if  $sy \leq y$  then  $sy \leq y \leq y' \leq sy'$ . Now assume  $sy \succeq y$ , and choose  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $yt_{\lambda}$ ,  $y't_{\lambda}$ ,  $syt_{\lambda}$  and  $sy't_{\lambda}$  all belong to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$ . Then we have  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$ ,  $yt_{\lambda} \leq syt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda} \leq sy't_{\lambda}$ . Fixing a reduced expression for  $y't_{\lambda}$ , an expression for  $yt_{\lambda}$  can be obtained by omitting some reflections. Adding s on the left we obtain a reduced expression for  $sy't_{\lambda}$ , from which an expression for  $syt_{\lambda}$  can be obtained by omitting the same reflections. This shows that  $syt_{\lambda} \leq sy't_{\lambda}$ , and hence that  $sy \leq sy'$ , as desired.

Remark 2.6. Now that we have introduced the order  $\leq$ , we can reinterpret Lemma 2.3 (and its proof) as saying that  ${}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  consists of the elements  $w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  which are minimal for the order  $\leq$  in the coset  $W_Aw$  (and that each such coset contains a unique minimal element).

**Lemma 2.7.** Let  $y, y' \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ . Then  $y \leq y'$  if and only if  $w_{A}y \leq w_{A}y'$ .

*Proof.* In view of (2.7), there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda}$  belong to  ${}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . Then by definition  $y \leq y'$  if and only if  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$ . By (2.6) the elements  $yt_{\lambda}$  and  $y't_{\lambda}$  are minimal in their respective cosets  $W_A yt_{\lambda}$  and  $W_A y't_{\lambda}$ , which implies that

$$\ell(w_A y t_\lambda) = \ell(w_A) + \ell(y t_\lambda), \qquad \ell(w_A y' t_\lambda) = \ell(w_A) + \ell(y' t_\lambda).$$

By the compatibility property of the Bruhat order with multiplication when lengths add (as used in the proof of Lemma 2.4; cf. [AR3, Lemma 2.1]), this implies that  $yt_{\lambda} \leq y't_{\lambda}$  if and only if  $w_Ayt_{\lambda} \leq w_Ay't_{\lambda}$ . Finally, by (2.6) the elements  $w_Ayt_{\lambda}$  and  $w_Ay't_{\lambda}$  belong to  $W_{\text{ext}}^S$ ; we therefore have  $w_Ayt_{\lambda} \leq w_Ay't_{\lambda}$  if and only if  $w_Ay \leq w_Ay'$ , and the lemma follows.

2.6. The Hecke algebra and the left spherical module. Let v be an indeterminate, and let  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}}$  be the Hecke algebra of  $W_{\text{ext}}$  over  $\mathbb{Z}[v,v^{-1}]$ . Recall that this is a  $\mathbb{Z}[v,v^{-1}]$ -algebra that is free as a  $\mathbb{Z}[v,v^{-1}]$ -module, with a basis (called the *standard basis*)  $(H_w:w\in W_{\text{ext}})$ , and with multiplication determined by the following rules:

$$H_x H_y = H_{xy} \qquad \text{if } \ell(xy) = \ell(x) + \ell(y),$$
  
$$H_s^2 = H_e + (v^{-1} - v)H_s \qquad \text{for all } s \in S_{\text{aff}}.$$

(Here and below we will follow the notational conventions of [So].) The algebra  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}}$  is also equipped with a *canonical basis* [KL1], denoted by

$$(\underline{H}_w: w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}),$$

and uniquely characterized as follows:  $\underline{H}_w$  is fixed by a certain involution of  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}}$  (called the *bar involution*), and

$$\underline{H}_x \in H_x + \sum_{v < x} v \mathbb{Z}[v] H_y.$$

Let us write each of these basis elements in terms of the standard basis:

$$\underline{H}_x = \sum_{y \in W_{\text{ext}}} h_{y,x} H_y;$$

the polynomials  $h_{y,x} \in \mathbb{Z}[v]$  are then known as the *Kazhdan–Lusztig polynomials*. Their geometric interpretation (in terms of perverse sheaves) will be recalled in §3.5 below.

We will denote by  $\mathcal{M}$  the left  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}}$ -module obtained by taking the quotient

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}} / \mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}} \cdot \{ H_s - v^{-1} : s \in S \}.$$

This module is known as the *left spherical module*. (Note that much of the relevant literature, including [So, RW], treats a similarly defined *right*  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}}$ -module instead; however, the left version is better suited to the purposes of this paper. These two modules can e.g. be related using the anti-involution of  $W_{\text{ext}}$  given by  $w \mapsto w^{-1}$ .) This module remains free over  $\mathbb{Z}[v, v^{-1}]$ ; specifically, if for  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  we let  $M_w$  denote the image of  $H_w$  in  $\mathcal{M}$ , then

$$(M_w: w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S)$$

is a basis for  $\mathcal{M}$ . This module also admits a canonical basis

$$(\underline{M}_w : w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S)$$

characterized similarly to the canonical basis of  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}}$ . In fact, the map  $h \mapsto h\underline{H}_{w_{\circ}}$  factors through a morphism of left  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{ext}}$ -modules

$$\zeta: \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{ext}}$$

and this module satisfies

$$\zeta(\underline{M}_w) = \underline{H}_{ww_0}$$

for any  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ , see [So]. Equivalently, if we define the polynomials  $m_{y,w}$  by setting

$$\underline{M}_w = \sum_{y \in W_{\text{ext}}^S} m_{y,w} M_y,$$

then for  $y, w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  we have

(2.8) 
$$m_{y,w} = h_{y',ww_0} \quad \text{for any } y' \in yW.$$

We also introduce notation for the "inverse matrix" of  $(m_{y,w})_{y,w\in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S}$ , again following [So]. Namely, we define the polynomials  $(m^{y,w}:y,w\in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S)$  by the condition that

(2.9) 
$$M_x = \sum_{y \in W_{\text{ext}}^S} (-1)^{\ell(y) + \ell(x)} m^{x,y} \underline{M}_y \quad \text{for any } x \in W_{\text{ext}}^S.$$

The only property of Kazhdan–Lusztig polynomials that will be used below and for which we do not have a geometric proof is the following.

**Lemma 2.8.** For any  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  we have  $m^{w^{\triangle},w} = v^{\ell(w_{\circ})}$ .

*Proof.* This equality can be obtained by translating [So, Theorem 5.1] (in the special case  $B = \widehat{A}$ ) in our present conventions.

#### 3. Perverse sheaves on affine Grassmannians

3.1. The affine Grassmannian and the affine flag variety. We now denote by z an indeterminate, and consider the functor  $\mathcal{L}G$ , resp.  $\mathcal{L}^+G$ , from  $\mathbb{F}$ -algebras to groups, which sends R to G(R((z))), resp. G(R[[z]]). It is well known that  $\mathcal{L}G$  is represented by a group ind-scheme over  $\mathbb{F}$ , and that  $\mathcal{L}^+G$  is represented by a group scheme over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Moreover, the fppf quotient  $(\mathcal{L}G/\mathcal{L}^+G)_{\text{fppf}}$  is represented by an ind-projective ind-scheme, which is denoted Gr and called the *affine Grassmannian* of G.

There is an obvious morphism of group schemes  $\mathcal{L}^+G \to G$  induced by the assignment  $z \mapsto 0$ . Let  $I \subset \mathcal{L}^+G$  and  $I_{\mathrm{u}} \subset I$  be the preimages of the Borel subgroup  $B \subset G$  and its unipotent radical  $U \subset B$ , respectively, under this map. These are both subgroup schemes of  $\mathcal{L}^+G$ . The group I is known as an *Iwahori subgroup*, and  $I_{\mathrm{u}}$  as its pro-unipotent radical.

We will consider also the affine flag variety Fl of G, defined as the fppf quotient  $(\mathcal{L}G/I)_{\mathrm{fppf}}$ . Again Fl is represented by an ind-projective ind-scheme, and the natural morphism  $\pi:\mathrm{Fl}\to\mathrm{Gr}$  is a Zariski locally trivial fibration with fibers isomorphic to G/B.

Let  $N_G(T)$  be the normalizer of the maximal torus  $T \subset G$ , so that  $N_G(T)/T = W$ . For each  $w \in W$ , choose a representative  $\dot{w} \in N_G(T)$ . More generally, if  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , say  $w = vt_{\lambda}$  with  $v \in W$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ , we set

$$\dot{w} = \dot{v}z^{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}G(\mathbb{k}).$$

For  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$  we will denote by  $\text{Fl}_w$  the *I*-orbit of the image of  $\dot{w}$ ; then it is well known that  $\text{Fl}_w$  is also the  $I_{\text{u}}$ -orbit of  $\dot{w}$ , and is isomorphic to an affine space of dimension  $\ell(w)$ . Moreover we have

$$\operatorname{Fl}_{\operatorname{red}} = \bigsqcup_{w \in W_{\operatorname{ext}}} \operatorname{Fl}_w, \quad \operatorname{and} \quad (\overline{\operatorname{Fl}}_w \subset \overline{\operatorname{Fl}}_y \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad w \leq y).$$

Similarly, for  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  we will denote by  $Gr_w$  the *I*-orbit of the image of  $\dot{w}$  in Gr. It is well known that  $Gr_w$  is also the  $I_u$ -orbit of the image of  $\dot{w}$ , that it is isomorphic to an affine space of dimension  $\ell(w)$ , and that we have

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{\operatorname{red}} = \bigsqcup_{w \in W_{\operatorname{ext}}} \operatorname{Gr}_w \quad \text{and} \quad (\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_w} \subset \overline{\operatorname{Gr}_y} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad w \leq y).$$

- 3.2.  $I_u$ -equivariant perverse sheaves. We now consider a prime number  $\ell$  which is invertible in  $\mathbb{F}$ . We will consider fields  $\mathbb{k}$  which fall into one of the following two classes:
  - (1)  $\mathbb{k}$  is either a finite extension or an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ ;
  - (2)  $\mathbb{k}$  is either a finite extension or an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ .

(When we need to distinguish these two cases, we will loosely say that  $\mathbbm{k}$  has characteristic 0 or  $\mathbbm{k}$  has positive characteristic.) In these settings we can consider the  $I_{\rm u}$ -equivariant derived categories  $D_{I_{\rm u}}^{\rm b}({\rm Fl},\mathbbm{k})$  and  $D_{I_{\rm u}}^{\rm b}({\rm Gr},\mathbbm{k})$  of étale  $\mathbbm{k}$ -sheaves on Fl and Gr; see [AR3, §3.2] for details. These categories have natural perverse t-structures, whose hearts will be denoted  ${\sf Perv}_{I_{\rm u}}({\rm Gr},\mathbbm{k})$  and  ${\sf Perv}_{I_{\rm u}}({\rm Fl},\mathbbm{k})$  respectively.

For any  $w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have a "standard perverse sheaf"  $\mathscr{D}_w$  in  $\mathrm{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k})$ , defined as the !-pushforward of the complex  $\underline{\mathbb{k}}_{\mathrm{Fl}_w}[\ell(w)]$  under the embedding  $\mathrm{Fl}_w \to \mathrm{Fl}$ , and a "costandard perverse sheaf"  $\mathscr{N}_w$  in  $\mathrm{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k})$ , defined as the \*-pushforward of the complex  $\underline{\mathbb{k}}_{\mathrm{Fl}_w}[\ell(w)]$  under the embedding  $\mathrm{Fl}_w \to \mathrm{Fl}$ . (These complexes are indeed perverse sheaves since this embedding is affine.) The image of the unique (up to scalar) nonzero morphism  $\mathscr{D}_w \to \mathscr{N}_w$  is simple, and will be denoted  $\mathscr{L}_w$ ; it is the intersection cohomology complex associated with the constant local system on  $\mathrm{Fl}_w$ . Then the objects ( $\mathscr{L}_w : w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ) are representatives for the isomorphism classes of simple objects in the abelian category  $\mathrm{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k})$ .

Similarly, for  $w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$  we have a "standard perverse sheaf"  $\Delta_w$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ , defined as the !-pushforward of the complex  $\underline{\Bbbk}_{\mathsf{Gr}_w}[\ell(w)]$  under the embedding  $\mathsf{Gr}_w \to \mathsf{Gr}$ , and a "costandard perverse sheaf"  $\nabla_w$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ , defined as the \*-pushforward of the complex  $\underline{\Bbbk}_{\mathsf{Gr}_w}[\ell(w)]$  under the embedding  $\mathsf{Gr}_w \to \mathsf{Gr}$ . (Once again these complexes are indeed perverse sheaves since the embedding  $\mathsf{Gr}_w \to \mathsf{Gr}$  is affine.) The image of the unique (up to scalar) nonzero morphism  $\Delta_w \to \nabla_w$  is simple, and will be denoted  $\mathsf{L}_w$ ; it is the intersection cohomology complex associated with the constant local system on  $\mathsf{Gr}_w$ . Then the objects  $(\mathsf{L}_w : w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S)$  are representatives for the isomorphism classes of simple objects in the abelian category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ .

Since the morphism  $\pi: \mathrm{Fl} \to \mathrm{Gr}$  is smooth with connected fibers, the functor

$$\pi^\dagger := \pi^*[\dim(G/B)] \cong \pi^![-\dim(G/B)] : D^{\mathrm{b}}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \Bbbk)$$

is t-exact for the perverse t-structures, its restriction to perverse sheaves is fully faithful, and it sends simple perverse sheaves to simple perverse sheaves, see [BBDG, Proposition 4.2.5]; more explicitly, in this case we have

$$\pi^{\dagger} \mathsf{L}_{w} \cong \mathscr{L}_{ww_{0}}$$

for any  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ .

The results of [BGS, §3.3] show that the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  admits a natural structure of a highest weight category (in the sense of [Ri, §7]) with weight poset  $(W_{\mathsf{ext}}^S, \leq)$ ; the standard objects are the standard perverse sheaves  $(\Delta_w : w \in W_{\mathsf{ext}}^S)$  and the costandard objects are the costandard perverse sheaves  $(\nabla_w : w \in W_{\mathsf{ext}}^S)$ . In particular, it makes sense to consider the *tilting* objects in this category, i.e. the objects which admit both a filtration with standard subquotients and a filtration with costandard subquotients. The indecomposable tilting objects are parametrized by  $W_{\mathsf{ext}}^S$ ; the indecomposable object associated with w will be denoted  $\mathsf{T}_w$ . Similar comments apply to the category the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Fl}, \Bbbk)$  (for the weight poset  $(W_{\mathsf{ext}}, \leq)$ ). The indecomposable tilting object attached to w will be denoted  $\mathscr{T}_w$ .

We will also occasionally consider the I-equivariant derived categories  $D_I^{\rm b}({\rm Fl}, \mathbb{k})$  and  $D_I^{\rm b}({\rm Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ . We have forgetful functors

$$\operatorname{For}_{I_{\mathfrak{p}}}^{I}:D_{I}^{\mathrm{b}}(\operatorname{Fl},\Bbbk)\to D_{I_{\mathfrak{p}}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\operatorname{Fl},\Bbbk),\quad \operatorname{For}_{I_{\mathfrak{p}}}^{I}:D_{I}^{\mathrm{b}}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)\to D_{I_{\mathfrak{p}}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk),$$

and the objects  $\mathcal{D}_w$ ,  $\mathcal{N}_w$  and  $\Delta_w$ ,  $\nabla_w$  naturally "lift" to objects of  $D_I^b(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k})$  and  $D_I^{\rm b}({
m Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  respectively (and will be denoted by the same symbol in the equivariant context). We also have "convolution" bifunctors

$$D_I^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \Bbbk) \times D_I^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \Bbbk) \to D_I^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \Bbbk), \quad D_I^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \Bbbk) \times D_I^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to D_I^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk),$$

$$D_{I_{n}}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k}) \times D_{I}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k}) \to D_{I_{n}}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k}), \quad D_{I_{n}}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Fl}, \mathbb{k}) \times D_{I}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k}) \to D_{I_{n}}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k}),$$

which will all be denoted  $\star^I$ , and are compatible with one another in the expected ways.

The following lemma gathers some standard properties of convolutions of standard and costandard objects (see e.g. [ABG, §8.2]).

(1) For  $w, y \in W_{\text{ext}}$  such that  $\ell(wy) = \ell(w) + \ell(y)$ , there exist canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathscr{D}_w \star^I \mathscr{D}_y \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathscr{D}_{wy}, \qquad \mathscr{N}_w \star^I \mathscr{N}_y \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathscr{N}_{wy}.$$

(2) For  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , there exist canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathscr{D}_w \star^I \mathscr{N}_{w^{-1}} \cong \mathscr{D}_e \cong \mathscr{N}_{w^{-1}} \star^I \mathscr{D}_w.$$

- (3) For  $w, y \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , the objects  $\mathscr{N}_w \star^I \mathscr{D}_y$  and  $\mathscr{D}_w \star^I \mathscr{N}_y$  are perverse.
- (4) For  $w, y \in W_{\text{ext}}$  such that  $\ell(wy) = \ell(w) + \ell(y)$  and both wy and y belong to  $W_{\text{ext}}^{S}$ , there exist canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathscr{D}_w \star^I \Delta_y \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta_{wy}, \qquad \mathscr{N}_w \star^I \nabla_y \xrightarrow{\sim} \nabla_{wy}.$$

- $\mathscr{D}_w \star^I \Delta_y \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta_{wy}, \qquad \mathscr{N}_w \star^I \nabla_y \xrightarrow{\sim} \nabla_{wy}.$ (5) For  $w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $y \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$ , the objects  $\mathscr{N}_w \star^I \Delta_y$  and  $\mathscr{D}_w \star^I \nabla_y$  are perverse.
- 3.3. Relation with the Satake category. Below we will also consider the  $\mathcal{L}^+G$ equivariant derived category  $D_{\mathcal{L}+\mathcal{G}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Gr},\mathbb{k})$ . Once again this category has a natural perverse t-structure, whose heart will be denoted  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ . For  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  we will denote by  $L_{\lambda}$  the image of  $z^{\lambda}$  in Gr, and by  $Gr^{\lambda}$  its  $\mathcal{L}^{+}G$ -orbit; then  $Gr^{\lambda}$  is the union of the  $I_{\rm u}$ -orbits labeled by the minimal representatives of the elements  $(t_{\mu}: \mu \in W(\lambda)), \text{ and }$

$$\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathrm{red}} = \bigsqcup_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+} \mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}.$$

We will consider these orbits in particular when  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{++}$ . It is a classical fact that, in this case, there exists a smooth  $\mathcal{L}^+G$ -equivariant morphism

$$p_{\lambda}: \operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda} \to G/B$$

sending  $L_{\lambda}$  to the base point B/B, where  $\mathcal{L}^+G$  acts on G/B through the natural morphism  $\mathcal{L}^+G \to G$ . Here G/B has the Bruhat stratification by orbits of B, parametrized by W; its pullback to  $Gr^{\lambda}$  identifies with the decomposition into the I-orbits given by

$$\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda} = \bigsqcup_{w \in W} \operatorname{Gr}_{wt_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}.$$

In particular, the unique open *I*-orbit in  $Gr^{\lambda}$  is  $Gr_{t_{w_{\alpha}(\lambda)}}$ .

The simple objects in the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  are in natural bijection with  $\mathbf{Y}_{+}$ , via the operation sending  $\lambda$  to the intersection cohomology complex  $\mathcal{IC}^{\lambda}$  associated with the constant local system on  $Gr^{\lambda}$ . The forgetful functor

$$\operatorname{For}_{I_{\mathfrak{n}}}^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}: D_{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}^{\operatorname{b}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k}) \to D_{I_{\mathfrak{n}}}^{\operatorname{b}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$$

is t-exact, and restricts to a fully faithful functor on perverse sheaves; moreover we have

$$\operatorname{For}_{I_{\mathfrak{u}}}^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}(\mathcal{IC}^{\lambda}) = \mathsf{L}_{t_{w_{\mathfrak{Q}}(\lambda)}}$$

for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ .

To each  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  one can also associate the "standard" and "cost andard" objects defined respectively by

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mu}_{!}={}^{\mathbf{p}}\tau^{\geq 0}(j^{\mu}_{!}\underline{\Bbbk}_{\mathbf{Gr}^{\mu}}[\langle 2\rho,\mu\rangle]),\quad \mathcal{I}^{\mu}_{*}={}^{\mathbf{p}}\tau^{\leq 0}(j^{\mu}_{*}\underline{\Bbbk}_{\mathbf{Gr}^{\mu}}[\langle 2\rho,\mu\rangle]),$$

where  $j^{\mu}: \operatorname{Gr}^{\mu} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}$  is the inclusion and  $p_{\mathcal{T}} \geq 0$ ,  $p_{\mathcal{T}} \leq 0$  are the perverse truncation functors. (Note that  $j^{\mu}$  is not an affine morphism in general, so unlike in the  $I_{\mathbf{u}}$ -equivariant case, if we omit the perverse truncation functors, the resulting objects are not in general perverse.) With this notation there exists (up to scalar) a unique nonzero morphism  $\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\mu} \to \mathcal{I}_{*}^{\mu}$ , and its image is  $\mathcal{IC}^{\mu}$ . Once again the category  $\operatorname{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  has a natural highest weight structure with standard objects the perverse sheaves  $(\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\mu}: \mu \in \mathbf{Y}_{+})$  and costandard objects the perverse sheaves  $(\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\mu}: \mu \in \mathbf{Y}_{+})$ , see [BaR, Proposition 1.12.4]. In particular one can consider the tilting objects in this category, and the indecomposable such objects are parametrized by  $\mathbf{Y}_{+}$ . For any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+}$  we will denote by  $\mathcal{T}^{\lambda}$  the corresponding indecomposable tilting object.

As in the I-equivariant setting (see §3.2), we also have a canonical convolution product

$$\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}: D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k}) \times D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$$

which equips  $D^{\rm b}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  with the structure of a monoidal category. In this case it is known that this product is t-exact (in the sense that a product of perverse sheaves is perverse), and hence induces a monoidal structure on the abelian category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ ; see [BaR, §1.6.3] for details. The geometric Satake equivalence describes the monoidal category  $(\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k}), \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G})$  in representation-theoretic terms: more explicitly, in [MV] the authors construct a canonical affine  $\mathbb{k}$ -group scheme  $G^\vee_{\mathbb{k}}$  equipped with a split maximal torus  $T^\vee_{\mathbb{k}}$  whose group of characters is  $\mathbf{Y}$  and a canonical equivalence of monoidal categories

$$\mathsf{Sat}: (\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk), \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}) \overset{\sim}{\to} (\mathsf{Rep}(G^\vee_\Bbbk), \otimes).$$

They also show that  $G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$  is a split connected reductive group, and that the root datum of  $(G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}, T_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee})$  is dual to that of (G, T). Under this equivalence,  $\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\mu}$  corresponds to the Weyl module of highest weight  $\mu$ , and  $\mathcal{I}_{\mu}^{*}$  to the induced module of highest weight  $\mu$ .

Below we will use the fact that the monoidal category

$$(\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk), \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G})$$

is rigid: every object  $\mathcal{F}$  has a left and right dual  $\mathcal{F}^{\vee}$ . (This fact can either be checked directly or deduced from the geometric Satake equivalence.) We will not need an explicit description of this operation, but only that for  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  we have

$$(3.3) \qquad (\mathcal{I}^{\mu}_!)^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\mu)}_*, \quad (\mathcal{I}^{\mu}_*)^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\mu)}_!, \quad (\mathcal{IC}^{\mu})^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\circ}(\mu)}_*.$$

Using the geometry of spherical orbits we prove the following property of the periodic order, which will be required later.

**Lemma 3.2.** Let  $\mu, \nu \in \mathbf{Y}$  be such that  $\mu - \nu$  is a sum of positive roots, and let  $y \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}}$ . Then  $yt_{w_{\circ}(\nu)} \leq yt_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}$ .

Proof. Choose  $\eta \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $\eta + \nu$  and  $\eta + \mu$  are strictly dominant. Then it is well known that our assumption implies that  $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}^{\eta+\nu}} \subset \overline{\operatorname{Gr}^{\eta+\mu}}$ , i.e. that  $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\nu)}}} \subset \overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\mu)}}}$ , and hence that  $t_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\nu)} \leq t_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\mu)}$  in the Bruhat order. By [AR3, Lemmas 2.1 and 2.7], this implies that  $yt_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\nu)} \leq yt_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\mu)}$ . Since these elements belong to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$ , by Lemma 2.5(3) this implies that  $yt_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\nu)} \leq yt_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\nu)} \leq yt_{w_{\circ}(\eta+\mu)}$ . Using Lemma 2.5(2) we deduce that  $yt_{w_{\circ}(\nu)} \leq yt_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}$ , as desired.

3.4. Whittaker categories. From now on we assume that  $\mathbb{F}$  has characteristic p > 0, and that  $\mathbb{k}$  contains a nontrivial p-th root of unity (which we fix once and for all). Let  $A \subset S_{\text{aff}}$  be a finitary subset, and let  $I_{\mathbf{u}}^A := \dot{w}_A I_{\mathbf{u}} \dot{w}_A^{-1}$ . In [AR3, §3.4] we have explained the construction of a "generic" character  $\psi_A : I_{\mathbf{u}}^A \to \mathbb{G}_{\mathbf{a}}$ ; as in [AR3, §3.5] one can then consider the categories

$$D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Fl},\Bbbk)$$
 and  $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)$ 

of  $(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)$ -equivariant  $\mathbb{k}$ -sheaves on Fl and Gr, where  $\mathcal{X}_A$  is the pullback along  $\psi_A$  of an Artin–Schreier local system on  $\mathbb{G}_a$ . In the case where  $A = \emptyset$ , these categories are just the ordinary  $I_{\mathbf{u}}$ -equivariant derived categories considered in §3.2; in this case we will omit "A" from all notations introduced below.

These categories have natural perverse t-structures, whose hearts are denoted  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathsf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Fl},\Bbbk)$  and  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathsf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  respectively. The isomorphism classes of simple objects in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathsf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Fl},\Bbbk)$  are in canonical bijection with the subset of  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  consisting of elements w minimal in  $W_Aw$ ; for such w the corresponding simple object is denoted by  $\mathscr{L}^A_w$ . For any  $w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  minimal in  $W_Aw$  we have a "standard" perverse sheaf  $\mathscr{D}^A_w$  and a "costandard" perverse sheaf  $\mathscr{N}^A_w$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathsf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Fl},\Bbbk)$ , obtained by !- and \*-pushforward respectively of a local system on the  $I^A_u$ -orbit of the image of w in  $\mathsf{Fl}$ . There exists a unique (up to scalar) nonzero morphism  $\mathscr{D}^A_w \to \mathscr{N}^A_w$ , whose image is  $\mathscr{L}^A_w$ , and these objects equip  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_u,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Fl},\Bbbk)$  with the structure of a highest weight category with weight poset  $\{w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}} \mid w \text{ minimal in } W_Aw\}$ , endowed with the restriction of the Bruhat order.

Similarly, the isomorphism classes of simple objects in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  are in canonical bijection with  ${}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ; for  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  the corresponding simple object is denoted by  $\mathsf{L}^A_w$ . For any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have a "standard" perverse sheaf  $\Delta^A_w$  and a "costandard" perverse sheaf  $\nabla^A_w$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ , obtained by !- and \*-pushforward respectively of a local system on the  $I^A_u$ -orbit of the image of w in  $\mathsf{Gr}$ . There exists a unique (up to scalar) nonzero morphism  $\Delta^A_w \to \nabla^A_w$ , whose image is  $\mathsf{L}^A_w$ , and these objects equip  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  with the structure of a highest weight category with weight poset  ${}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , endowed with the restriction of the Bruhat order. The indecomposable tilting objects in this category are then also parametrized by  ${}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ; the object associated with w will be denoted  $\mathsf{T}^A_w$ . Below we will also use the fact that for  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have

(3.4) 
$$\pi_* \mathscr{D}_w^A \cong \Delta_w^A, \qquad \pi_* \mathscr{N}_w^A \cong \nabla_w^A,$$

see e.g. [ACR, Lemma A.1] for similar considerations.

The same construction as in (3.2) yields a canonical bifunctor

$$\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}: D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(L^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \times D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(L^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)$$

which defines a right action of the monoidal category  $(D_{\mathcal{L}^+G}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk), \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G})$  on  $D_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ . This bifunctor is t-exact in the sense that if  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  and  $\mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  then  $\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{G}$  is perverse; see [AR3, §4.1] for references.

Remark 3.3. In order to use Verdier duality arguments, we will also have to consider the local system  $\mathcal{X}_A^{-1}$  on  $I_{\mathrm{u}}^A$  (i.e. the local system defined by the inverse of the p-th root of unity fixed above); namely, Verdier duality induces anti-equivalences of categories

$$D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Fl},\Bbbk)\overset{\sim}{\to} D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A}^{-1})}(\mathrm{Fl},\Bbbk)\quad\text{and}\quad D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)\overset{\sim}{\to} D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A}^{-1})}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk),$$

which will both be denoted  $\mathbb{D}$ . None of our considerations below will depend on the choice of root of unity; in particular, they are equally valid in both the  $(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)$ - and  $(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A^{-1})$ -equivariant settings. For this reason, we may write  $\Delta_w^A$  to indicate either the  $(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)$ -equivariant standard perverse sheaf, or the  $(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A^{-1})$ -equivariant one: this minor abuse of notation should not lead to any confusion.

With the comments above in mind, the behavior of  $\mathbb{D}$  on the various objects introduced above can be summarized as follows: for any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have

$$\mathbb{D}(\Delta_w^A) \cong \nabla_w^A, \quad \mathbb{D}(\nabla_w^A) \cong \Delta_w^A, \quad \mathbb{D}(\mathsf{L}_w^A) \cong \mathsf{L}_w^A, \quad \mathbb{D}(\mathsf{T}_w^A) \cong \mathsf{T}_w^A,$$

and similarly for the corresponding objects on Fl.

3.5. Combinatorics of perverse sheaves. As explained in §3.4 the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  has a natural structure of a highest weight category. There are two kinds of numerical quantities one can compute in this setting. First, given a perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ , one can consider the multiplicity of a simple object  $\mathsf{L}^A_w$  as a composition factor of  $\mathcal{F}$ ; this number is denoted

$$[\mathcal{F}:\mathsf{L}_w^A].$$

Next, if we assume that  $\mathcal{F}$  admits a standard filtration (i.e. a filtration whose subquotients are standard perverse sheaves), one can consider the number of occurrences of a given standard object  $\Delta_m^A$ , which is denoted

$$(\mathcal{F}:\Delta_w^A).$$

It is a standard fact that this number is well defined (i.e. does not depend on the choice of filtration) and additive with respect to direct sums; in fact we have

$$(\mathcal{F}: \Delta_w^A) = \dim_{\mathbb{K}} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F}, \nabla_w^A).$$

Similar comments apply to the multiplicity of a given cost andard object in a costandard filtration of an object  $\mathcal{F}$  (assumed to admit such a filtration), which will be denoted

$$(\mathcal{F}: \nabla_w^A).$$

Let us now consider a triple  $(\mathbb{K}, \mathbb{O}, \mathbb{k})$  where  $\mathbb{K}$  is a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$  containing a nontrivial p-th root of unity,  $\mathbb{O}$  is its ring of integers, and  $\mathbb{k}$  is the residue field of  $\mathbb{O}$ . In this setting we can consider the categories  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  and  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{K})$ . In both of these categories the indecomposable tilting perverse sheaves are parametrized by  $W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ; to distinguish the two cases the objects associated with w will be denoted  $\mathsf{T}^{A,\mathbb{k}}_w$  and  $\mathsf{T}^{A,\mathbb{K}}_w$  respectively. We will use similar conventions for standard objects.

**Lemma 3.4.** For any  $w, y \in {}^{A}W^{S}_{\text{ext}}$  we have

$$(\mathsf{T}_w^{A,\Bbbk}:\Delta_y^{A,\Bbbk}) \ge (\mathsf{T}_w^{A,\mathbb{K}}:\Delta_y^{A,\mathbb{K}}).$$

*Proof.* In addition to the categories  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  and  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{K})$ , we can also consider the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  of  $(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)$ -equivariant  $\mathbb{O}$ -perverse sheaves on  $\mathsf{Gr}$ . In this category we also have standard and costandard objects, denoted  $\Delta^{A,\mathbb{O}}_y$  and  $\nabla^{A,\mathbb{O}}_y$ , respectively, and we can speak of tilting perverse sheaves. As explained in [AR1, Appendix B], the indecomposable tilting objects are again classified by  ${}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . More specifically, given  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  there exists an indecomposable tilting perverse sheaf  $\mathsf{T}^{A,\mathbb{O}}_w$  such that

$$\Bbbk \overset{L}{\otimes_{\mathbb{O}}} \mathsf{T}_{w}^{A,\mathbb{O}} \cong \mathsf{T}_{w}^{A,\Bbbk}$$

where

$$\Bbbk \overset{L}{\otimes_{\mathbb{O}}}(-): D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathfrak{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathfrak{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)$$

is the "modular reduction" functor. In particular, for any  $y \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  the multiplicity of  $\Delta^{A,\mathbb{O}}_y$  in a standard filtration of  $\mathsf{T}^{A,\mathbb{O}}_w$  is  $(\mathsf{T}^{A,\Bbbk}_w:\Delta^{A,\Bbbk}_y)$ . We can also consider the tensor product functor

$$\mathbb{K} \overset{L}{\otimes_{\mathbb{O}}} (-) : D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I_{n}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})} (\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I_{n}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})} (\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{K});$$

the perverse sheaf  $\mathbb{K} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}}^{L} \mathsf{T}_{w}^{A,\mathbb{O}}$  is tilting, supported on  $\overline{\mathsf{Gr}_{w}}$ , and satisfies  $(\mathbb{K} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}}^{L} \mathsf{T}_{w}^{A,\mathbb{O}}: \Delta_{w}^{A,\mathbb{K}}) = 1$ ; it therefore admits  $\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A,\mathbb{K}}$  as a direct summand. We deduce that  $(\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A,\mathbb{K}}: \Delta_{y}^{A,\mathbb{K}})$  is at most the multiplicity of  $\Delta_{y}^{A,\mathbb{O}}$  in a standard filtration of  $\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A,\mathbb{O}}$ , which proves the desired inequality.

For the rest of this subsection we assume that  $A=\varnothing$  and  $\Bbbk$  has characteristic 0. It is a classical fact going back to [KL2] that the Kazhdan–Lusztig polynomials  $(h_{y,x}:y\in W_{\mathrm{ext}})$  encode the dimensions of stalks of the simple perverse sheaf  $\mathscr{L}_x$ . Explicitly, we have

$$(3.5) h_{y,x} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{rk} \left( \mathscr{H}^{-\ell(y)-i}(\mathscr{L}_{x|\operatorname{Fl}_y}) \right) \cdot v^i = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{L}_x, \mathscr{N}_y[i]) \cdot v^i.$$

Similarly, the spherical Kazhdan–Lusztig polynomials describe stalks of simple perverse sheaves on Gr: we have

$$m_{y,x} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{rk} \left( \mathscr{H}^{-\ell(y)-i}(\mathsf{L}_{x|\operatorname{Gr}_y}) \right) \cdot v^i = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_x, \nabla_y[i]) \cdot v^i.$$

(In fact, this equality easily follows from (3.5), comparing (2.8) and (3.1).)

Let us now work in the Grothendieck group  $[D_{\mathrm{L}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k})]$  of the triangulated category  $D_{\mathrm{L}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ . Since the basis  $([\Delta_w] : w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S)$  is dual to the basis  $([\nabla_w] : w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S)$  for the natural Euler pairing, the preceding equality means that

$$[\mathsf{L}_w] = \sum_{y} m_{y,w|v=-1} [\Delta_w]$$

for any  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ . As a consequence, the polynomials  $(m^{y,w}:y,w\in W_{\text{ext}}^S)$  from (2.9) have the following interpretation:

$$[\Delta_w] = \sum (-1)^{\ell(y) + \ell(w)} m^{w,y}|_{v = -1} [\mathsf{L}_y]$$
 for any  $w \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ;

in other words, for any  $y, w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  we have

$$[\Delta_w : \mathsf{L}_y] = (-1)^{\ell(y) + \ell(w)} m^{w,y}|_{v = -1}.$$

In particular, from Lemma 2.8 we deduce that for any  $w, y \in W_{\text{ext}}$  we have

$$[\Delta_{w^{\triangle}} : \mathsf{L}_w] = 1.$$

(Here we know a priori that the left-hand side is nonnegative; but the fact that  $\ell(w) + \ell(w^{\triangle}) + \ell(w_{\circ})$  is even can also be seen directly from the computations in §6.3 below.)

3.6. Averaging functors. We continue to consider a finitary subset  $A \subset S_{\text{aff}}$ . As explained in [AR3, §3.6–3.8], there is a t-exact "averaging functor"

$$\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}: D_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathbf{b}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k}) \to D_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{b}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$$

with t-exact left and right adjoints, denoted by

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}, \operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}: D_{(I_{n}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\operatorname{b}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k}) \to D_{I_{n}}^{\operatorname{b}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k}),$$

respectively. By [AR3, Lemma 3.3(3)] the functor  $Av_{\psi}^{A}$  sends each standard object either to 0 or to a standard object, and each costandard object either to 0 or to a costandard object. As a consequence, it sends objects admitting a standard filtration, resp. a costandard filtration, to objects admitting a standard filtration, resp. a costandard filtration.

Remark 3.5. The functors  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}$  and  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}$  do not kill any nonzero perverse sheaf. In fact, if  $\mathcal{F}$  is a nonzero object in  $\operatorname{Perv}_{(I_{u}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  and  $w\in{}^{A}W_{\operatorname{ext}}^{S}$  is such that  $\mathsf{L}_{w}^{A}$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{F}$ , then by adjunction and [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)] the object  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\mathcal{F})$  admits a nonzero morphism to  $\mathsf{L}_{w}$ , hence is nonzero. A dual argument applies to  $\operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}$ .

## Lemma 3.6. (1) The functor

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}:\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)\to\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)$$

sends objects admitting a standard filtration to objects admitting a standard filtration. More explicitly, for any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $y \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have

$$(\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\Delta_{w}^{A}):\Delta_{y}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } y \in W_{A}w; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

(2) The functor

$$\operatorname{Av}_*^A:\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)\to\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)$$

sends objects admitting a costandard filtration to objects admitting a costandard filtration. More explicitly, for any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $y \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have

$$(\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\nabla_{w}^{A}):\nabla_{y}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } y \in W_{A}w; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* (1) Recall that an object X in a highest-weight category has a standard filtration if and only if  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(X,-)$  vanishes on all costandard objects, see [Ri, Proposition 7.12]. Let us apply this criterion to the categories  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)$  and  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{I_{\mathfrak{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)$ . Since  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Av}}_{\psi}^A$  is exact and sends costandard objects to objects

admitting a costandard filtration, its exact left adjoint  $\operatorname{Av}_!^A$  preserves the property of having a standard filtration. The description of multiplicities also follows from adjunction, together with the explicit description of images under  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^A$  of the standard objects in [AR3, Lemma 3.3(3)].

(2) The proof is similar to that of 
$$(1)$$
.

Remark 3.7. The functor  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}$  also has \*- and !-versions, which turn out to be canonically isomorphic, see [AR3, Lemma 3.2]. (By definition,  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}$  is identified with these two versions.) Similarly there exists a canonical morphism of functors

$$Av_{!}^{A} \rightarrow Av_{*}^{A}$$

but this map is *not* an isomorphism in general. For instance, when A is a singleton  $\{s\}$ , it is known that both  $\operatorname{Av}_!^A(\mathscr{D}_e^A)$  and  $\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\mathscr{D}_e^A)$  are isomorphic to  $\mathscr{T}_s$ , but one can check by direct calculation that the image of  $\operatorname{Av}_!^A(\mathscr{D}_e^A) \to \operatorname{Av}_*^A(\mathscr{D}_e)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathscr{L}_e$ .

Nevertheless, the philosophy of Koszul duality suggests that there should exist some natural isomorphism  $\operatorname{Av}_!^A \cong \operatorname{Av}_*^A$ . In more detail, the functor  $\operatorname{Av}_\psi^A$  is the counterpart under Koszul duality of push-forward along the projection  $\pi_A : \operatorname{Fl} \to \operatorname{Fl}_A$ , where  $\operatorname{Fl}_A$  is a partial affine flag variety (depending on A). This map is proper and smooth, so the left and right adjoints of  $(\pi_A)_*$ —namely,  $\pi_A^*$  and  $\pi_A^!$ —are isomorphic up to a shift. Similarly,  $\operatorname{Av}_!^A$  and  $\operatorname{Av}_*^A$  should be isomorphic (up to a Tate twist in the setting of mixed sheaves). However, we were unable to find a direct proof of this claim. (See Lemma 3.8 and Remark 3.11 below for related results.)

3.7. Wall-crossing functors. For a finitary subset  $A \subset S_{\mathrm{aff}}$ , we consider the functors

$$\xi_A^!, \xi_A^*: D_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to D_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \qquad \text{defined by} \qquad \begin{cases} \xi_A^! = \mathrm{Av}_!^A \circ \mathrm{Av}_{\psi}^A, \\ \xi_A^* = \mathrm{Av}_*^A \circ \mathrm{Av}_{\psi}^A. \end{cases}$$

The results recalled in  $\S 3.6$  imply that:

- each of these functors is t-exact with respect to the perverse t-structure;
- $\xi_A^!$  sends perverse sheaves admitting a standard filtration to perverse sheaves admitting a standard filtration;
- $\xi_A^*$  sends perverse sheaves admitting a costandard filtration to perverse sheaves admitting a costandard filtration;
- $\xi_A^!$  is left-adjoint to  $\xi_A^*$ .

**Lemma 3.8.** There exists an isomorphism of functors  $\xi_A^! \cong \xi_A^*$ . As a consequence, these functors send objects admitting a standard filtration to objects admitting a standard filtration, and objects admitting a costandard filtration; in particular, they send tilting objects to tilting objects.

Proof sketch. The proof requires a different realization of the functors  $\xi_A^l$  and  $\xi_A^*$ . Namely, following Yun (see [BY, Appendix A]; see also [BR] for a review of this construction, which explicitly allows more general coefficients) one can consider the "free-monodromic completion"  $D^{\wedge}$  of the  $I_{\rm u}$ -equivariant derived category of sheaves on  $\mathcal{L}G/I_{\rm u}$ , constructible with respect to the stratification by I-orbits. In this category we have a perverse t-structure, and a notion of tilting perverse sheaves, see [BY, §A.7] or [BR, §5.4]; the indecomposable tilting objects are parametrized

(in terms of their support) by  $W_{\rm ext}$ . This category also has a monoidal structure, and this monoidal category acts in a natural way on the category  $D_{I_{\rm u}}^{\rm b}({\rm Gr}, \Bbbk)$ . Now it follows from [BR, Lemma 10.1] that both  $\xi_A^{\rm l}$  and  $\xi_A^*$  are both isomorphic to the functor given by convolution with the indecomposable tilting object associated with the element  $w_A$ . These functors are therefore isomorphic.

The second claim of the lemma is a consequence of this isomorphism and the properties of  $\xi_A^!$  and  $\xi_A^*$  listed above.

Remark 3.9. The considerations in the proof of Lemma 3.8 simplify in case we apply the functors  $\xi_A^*$  and  $\xi_A^!$  to an object of the form  $\operatorname{For}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{I}(\mathcal{F})$  for some  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $D_I^b(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ . In this case we have

$$\xi_A^!(\operatorname{For}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^I(\mathcal{F})) \cong \mathscr{T}_{w_A} \star^I \mathcal{F} \cong \xi_A^*(\operatorname{For}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^I(\mathcal{F}))$$

where the convolution bifunctor  $\star^I$  is as in §3.2.

Thanks to Lemma 3.8, we will write  $\xi_A$  for  $\xi_A^! \cong \xi_A^*$  when the choice among these functors does not matter. In case  $A = \{s\}$  for some  $s \in S_{\text{aff}}$ , we will simplify this notation even further and write  $\xi_s$  for  $\xi_{\{s\}}$ .

Corollary 3.10. The functors

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}, \operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A} : \operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{(I_{:}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k}) \to \operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{I_{0}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$$

send objects admitting a standard filtration to objects admitting a standard filtration, and similarly for costandard filtrations. In particular, these functors send tilting objects to tilting objects.

*Proof.* We write the proof for  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}$ ; the other case is similar. What we have to prove is that  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\Delta_{w}^{A})$  admits a standard filtration and  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\nabla_{w}^{A})$  admits a costandard filtration for any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\operatorname{ext}}^{S}$ . The case of standard filtrations has already been proved in Lemma 3.6. For costandard filtrations, we observe that

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\nabla_{w}^{A}) \cong \operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\nabla_{w}) = \xi_{A}^{!}(\nabla_{w}) \cong \xi_{A}^{*}(\nabla_{w}) \cong \operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\nabla_{w}) = \operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}(\nabla_{w}^{A})$$

by [AR3, Lemma 3.3(3)] and Lemma 3.8. The right-hand side admits a costandard filtration by Lemma 3.6, so we are done.  $\Box$ 

Remark 3.11. If we denote by  $[\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathsf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)]$  and  $[\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)]$  the Grothendieck groups of the categories  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathsf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  and  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  respectively, and by  $[\mathsf{Av}_{*}^A]$  and  $[\mathsf{Av}_{*}^A]$  the morphisms induced by  $\mathsf{Av}_{*}^A$  and  $\mathsf{Av}_{*}^A$  on Grothendieck groups, then we have

$$[\mathbf{A}\mathbf{v}_!^A] = [\mathbf{A}\mathbf{v}_*^A].$$

Indeed, this follows from the observation that for any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\mathsf{L}_{w}^{A}) \cong \operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}(\mathsf{L}_{w}^{A}),$$

by the same considerations as in the proof of Corollary 3.10.

We can in fact be more precise regarding the effect of the functors  $Av_{!}^{A}$  and  $Av_{*}^{A}$  on indecomposable tilting perverse sheaves by adapting the proof of a "Koszul dual" statement in [Wi, Proposition 3.5], as follows.

**Proposition 3.12.** For any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\text{ext}}$  we have

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A}) \cong \mathsf{T}_{w_{A}w} \cong \operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A}),$$
$$\operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w_{A}w}) \cong (\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A})^{\oplus \#W_{A}}.$$

*Proof.* We will prove the first isomorphism on the first line above, and the isomorphism on the second line; the second isomorphism on the first line can be obtained by similar arguments, or deduced using Verdier duality.

First, we note that

(3.7) 
$$\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A})) \cong (\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A})^{\oplus \#W_{A}}.$$

Indeed, by the comments in §3.6 and Corollary 3.10 the left-hand side is tilting. A closer look at [AR3, Lemma 3.3(3)] and Lemma 3.6(1) shows that for any  $y \in {}^AW^S_{\text{ext}}$  we have

$$(Av_v^A(Av_1^A(T_w^A)): \Delta_v^A) = (\#W_A) \times (T_w^A: \Delta_v^A) = ((T_w^A)^{\oplus \#W_A}: \Delta_v^A).$$

Since a tilting object is determined (up to isomorphism) by its standard multiplicities, this implies the desired isomorphism.

Now, as justified above  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A})$  is tilting. From the description of multiplicities in Lemma 3.6 one sees that  $w_{A}w$  is maximal among the labels of standard objects appearing in a standard filtration of this object; it follows that  $\mathsf{T}_{w_{A}w}$  is a direct summand in it. Let us write

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A}) = \mathsf{T}_{w_{A}w} \oplus \mathcal{T}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{T}$  is tilting, and the standard objects appearing in a standard filtration of this object are of the form xy with  $x \in W_A$  and  $y \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$  (because this property holds true for  $\mathrm{Av}_!^A(\mathsf{T}_w^A)$ ). We will show that  $\mathrm{Av}_\psi^A(\mathcal{T}) = 0$ , which will imply that  $\mathcal{T} = 0$  (by exactness of  $\mathrm{Av}_\psi^A$  and its effect on standard objects as described in [AR3, Lemma 3.3(3)]), and thereby conclude the proof.

Using (3.7) we obtain that

$$(\mathsf{T}_w^A)^{\oplus \#W_A} \cong \mathrm{Av}_\psi^A(\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw}) \oplus \mathrm{Av}_\psi^A(\mathcal{T}).$$

By the Krull–Schmidt property, this implies that  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w_{A}w})$  and  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathcal{T})$  are both direct sums of copies of  $\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A}$ . To determine the number of copies in  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w_{A}w})$  it suffices to compute  $(\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w_{A}w}):\Delta_{w}^{A})$ ; we will show that this number is at least  $\#W_{A}$ , which will imply that  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathcal{T})=0$ , as desired. For that, using once again the exactness of  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}$  and [AR3, Lemma 3.3(3)], it suffices to prove that for any  $x\in W_{A}$  we have

$$(3.8) (\mathsf{T}_{w_A w} : \Delta_{xw}) \ge 1.$$

However, the union

$$\bigsqcup_{x \in W} \operatorname{Gr}_{xw}$$

is open in  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{w_{A}w}}$ , and is an affine space bundle over  $M_A/B_A$  where  $M_A$  is the reductive group attached to A as in [AR3, §3.4] and  $B_A$  is its natural (negative) Borel subgroup. The restriction of  $\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw}$  to this union is again tilting, and it must admit the indecomposable tilting object with label  $w_Aw$  (i.e the pullback of the indecomposable tilting object on  $M_A/B_A$  attached to  $w_A$ ) as a direct summand. It is a standard fact that the standard object with label xw appears with multiplicity 1 in the latter object for any x (see e.g. [BR]), which implies (3.8) and finishes the proof.

- Remark 3.13. (1) From the philosophy of the Finkelberg–Mirković conjecture and its "singular" variants, Proposition 3.12 can be considered a geometric counterpart to [Ja, Proposition E.11].
  - (2) Alternatively, to prove (3.8) one can reduce the proof to the characteristic-0 setting using Lemma 3.4, and then use the formula for multiplicities of tilting perverse sheaves in terms of Kazhdan–Lusztig polynomials in this case proved in [Yu].

Below we will also consider some easier "wall-crossing functors" associated with elements of  $\Omega$ . Note that if  $\omega \in \Omega$  we have  $\dot{\omega}I_{\rm u}\dot{\omega}^{-1}=I_{\rm u}$ ; as a consequence, left multiplication by  $\dot{\omega}$  induces an autoequivalence

$$\xi_{\omega}: \mathsf{Perv}_{I_n}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk) \overset{\sim}{\to} \mathsf{Perv}_{I_n}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$$

which satisfies

(3.9) 
$$\xi_{\omega}(\Delta_{y}) \cong \Delta_{\omega y}, \qquad \xi_{\omega}(\nabla_{y}) \cong \nabla_{\omega y}$$

for any  $y \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ . From this we deduce that we also have

(3.10) 
$$\xi_{\omega}(\mathsf{L}_{y}) \cong \mathsf{L}_{\omega y}, \qquad \xi_{\omega}(\mathsf{T}_{y}) \cong \mathsf{T}_{\omega y},$$

again for any  $y \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ .

3.8. A support computation. The following two lemmas, which describe the effect of wall-crossing functors on the support of perverse sheaves, will be needed in §6.2 below.

**Lemma 3.14.** Let  $y \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  and  $s \in S_{\text{aff}}$ .

- (1) If sy < y, or if sy > y and  $sy \notin W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$ , then  $\xi_s(\mathsf{L}_y) = 0$ .
- (2) If sy > y and  $sy \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  then  $\xi_s(\mathsf{L}_y)$  is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{sy}}$ , and admits  $\mathsf{L}_{sy}$  as a composition factor with multiplicity 1.
- Proof. (1) According to (2.6), the condition that sy < y implies that  $y \notin {}^{\{s\}}W_{\text{ext}}^S$ . Similarly, if sy > y and  $sy \notin W_{\text{ext}}^S$ , then again we have  $y \notin {}^{\{s\}}W_{\text{ext}}^S$ . In view of [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)], either of these conditions therefore implies that  $\text{Av}_{\psi}^{\{s\}}(\mathsf{L}_y) = 0$ , and hence a fortiori that  $\xi_s(\mathsf{L}_y) = 0$ .
- (2) By Remark 3.9, there exists a perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Fl}, \Bbbk)$ , supported on  $\overline{\mathsf{Fl}}_s$  and satisfying  $\mathcal{F}_{|\mathsf{Fl}_s} \cong \underline{\Bbbk}_{\mathsf{Fl}_s}[1]$ , such that  $\xi_s(\mathsf{L}_y) \cong \mathcal{F} \star^I \mathsf{L}_y$ . It is easily seen that the right-hand side is supported on  $\overline{\mathsf{Gr}_{sy}}$ , and that its restriction to  $\mathsf{Gr}_{sy}$  is  $\underline{\Bbbk}[\ell(sy)]$ ; the multiplicity of  $\mathsf{L}_{sy}$  in this perverse sheaf is therefore 1.

**Lemma 3.15.** Let  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $s_1, \ldots, s_r \in S_{\text{aff}}$  be such that

$$\ell(\omega s_1 \cdots s_r w) = \ell(w) + r$$

and  $\omega s_1 \cdots s_r w$  belongs to  $W_{\text{ext}}^S$ . Then:

- (1) w belongs to  $W_{\text{ext}}^S$ ;
- (2) for any perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_w}$ ,  $\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\mathcal{F})$  is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{\omega s_1\cdots s_r w}}$ ; moreover we have

$$[\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\mathcal{F}):\mathsf{L}_{\omega s_1\cdots s_rw}]=[\mathcal{F}:\mathsf{L}_w].$$

*Proof.* In view of (3.10), and since  $W_{\text{ext}}^S$  is stable under left multiplication by elements of  $\Omega$ , we can assume that  $\omega = e$ . Then we proceed by induction on r, the case r = 0 being obvious. If  $r \geq 1$ , then [AR3, Lemma 2.2] ensures that  $s_2 \cdots s_r w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ , so that by induction  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  (establishing (1)).

Now let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a perverse sheaf supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_w}$ . By induction,  $\xi_{s_2} \cdots \xi_{s_r}(\mathcal{F})$  is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{s_2 \cdots s_r w}}$ , so that its composition factors are of the form  $\mathsf{L}_y$  with  $y \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  satisfying  $y \leq s_2 \cdots s_r w$ , and in case  $y = s_2 \cdots s_r w$  we have

$$[\xi_{s_2}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\mathcal{F}):\mathsf{L}_{s_2\cdots s_rw}]=[\mathcal{F}:\mathsf{L}_w].$$

By exactness of  $\xi_{s_1}$  (see §3.7) the object  $\xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r}(\mathcal{F})$  is then an extension of perverse sheaves  $\xi_{s_1}(\mathsf{L}_y)$  for such y's. If  $s_1y < y$  or if  $s_1y > y$  and  $s_1y \notin W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , then  $\xi_{s_1}(\mathsf{L}_y) = 0$  by Lemma 3.14(1). If  $s_1y > y$  and  $s_1y \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  with  $y \neq s_2 \cdots s_r w$  then by Lemma 3.14(2)  $\xi_{s_1}(\mathsf{L}_y)$  is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{s_1y}}$ ; since  $s_1y < s_1 \cdots s_r w$  this perverse sheaf is therefore supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{s_1 \cdots s_r w}}$  but does not admit  $\mathsf{L}_{s_1 \cdots s_r w}$  as a composition factor. Finally, for  $y = s_2 \cdots s_r w$ , again by Lemma 3.14(2) the perverse sheaf  $\xi_{s_1}(\mathsf{L}_{s_2 \cdots s_r w})$  is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{s_1 \cdots s_r w}}$ , and

$$[\xi_{s_1}(\mathsf{L}_{s_2\cdots s_r w}):\mathsf{L}_{s_1s_2\cdots s_r w}]=1.$$

We deduce statement (2), which finishes the induction.

3.9. The geometric Steinberg formula. To finish this section we state the "geometric Steinberg formula" proved in [AR3, Theorems 4.1 and 4.3]. This statement will be the starting point for all the main constructions of the present paper.

**Theorem 3.16.** Let  $A \subset S_{\text{aff}}$  be a finitary subset.

(1) For any  $w \in {}^AW^{res}_{ext}$  and any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  we have

$$\mathsf{L}_w^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{IC}^\mu \cong \mathsf{L}_{wt_{w_0(\mu)}}^A.$$

(2) For any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\rm ext}^{\rm res}$ , the functor

$$\mathsf{L}^A_w \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}(-) : \mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)$$

is fully faithful.

Later we will also need the following corollary of Theorem 3.16.

Corollary 3.17. Let  $y, y' \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}, \mu \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \text{ and } \nu \in -\mathbf{Y}_{+}.$ 

- (1) If  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_y^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^\mu, \nabla_{y't_\nu}^A) \neq 0$ , then there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  orthogonal to all roots such that  $y = y't_\lambda$ .
- (2) If  $\nu \neq w_{\circ}(\mu)$ , then  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_{y}^{A} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{\mu}, \nabla_{yt_{\nu}}^{A}) = 0$ .
- (3) The space  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}^A_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}^\mu_!, \nabla^A_{yt_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}})$  is 1-dimensional, and spanned by the composition

$$\mathsf{L}_y^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^\mu \twoheadrightarrow \mathsf{L}_y^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I} \mathcal{C}^\mu \cong \mathsf{L}_{yt_{w_0(\mu)}}^A \hookrightarrow \nabla^A_{yt_{w_0(\mu)}},$$

where the surjection is induced by the surjection  $\mathcal{I}^{\mu}_{!} \to \mathcal{IC}^{\mu}$  and the isomorphism is given by Theorem 3.16(1).

*Proof.* (1) By Theorem 3.16 and exactness of the bifunctor  $\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}$ , taking a composition series of  $\mathcal{I}_{\nu}^{\mu}$  we obtain a composition series of  $\mathcal{L}_{\nu}^{A}$   $\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}$   $\mathcal{I}_{\nu}^{\mu}$ , all of whose

subquotients are of the form  $\mathsf{L}^A_{yt_{w_0(\eta)}}$  for  $\eta \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ . If our Hom-space is nonzero, there exists such an  $\eta$  which satisfies

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_{yt_{w_{0}(\eta)}}^{A}, \nabla_{y't_{\nu}}^{A}) \neq 0,$$

i.e. such that  $yt_{w_{\circ}(\eta)} = y't_{\nu}$ . By the definition of  $W_{\rm ext}^{\rm res}$ , this implies that  $\nu - w_{\circ}(\eta)$  is orthogonal to all roots, and then the desired claim.

(2) By [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)] we have  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{L}_{y}) \cong \mathsf{L}_{y}^{A}$ , so

$$\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{L}_{y} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{\mu}) \cong \mathsf{L}_{y}^{A} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{\mu}.$$

Using adjunction, we deduce that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_{u}^{A} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{\mathsf{L}}^{\mu}, \nabla_{ut..}^{A}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_{u} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{\mathsf{L}}^{\mu}, \operatorname{Av}_{\star}^{A}(\nabla_{ut..}^{A})).$$

Now by [AR3, Lemma 3.3(3)] and Remark 3.9 we have

$$\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\nabla_{ut_{\nu}}^A) \cong \mathscr{T}_{w_A} \star^I \nabla_{yt_{\nu}}$$

It is a standard fact that there exists an embedding  $\mathcal{N}_e \hookrightarrow \mathcal{T}_{w_A}$  whose cokernel admits a costandard filtration with subquotients of the form  $\mathcal{N}_x$  with  $x \in W_A \setminus \{e\}$ , each appearing once. Since  $yt_\nu$  is minimal in  $W_Ayt_\nu$  (see §2.4), using Lemma 3.1(4) we deduce an embedding  $\nabla_{yt_\nu} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{T}_{w_A} \star^I \nabla_{yt_\nu}$  whose cokernel admits a costandard filtration with subquotients  $\nabla_{xyt_\nu}$  with  $x \in W_A \setminus \{e\}$ . Since all the composition factors of  $\mathsf{L}_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_+^\mu$  have their label in  ${}^A W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$  (see the proof of (1) and (2.7)), for any such x we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}^{\mu}_!, \nabla_{xyt_{\nu}}) = 0.$$

We deduce that  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\mu}, \nabla_{yt_{\nu}}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\mu}, \mathscr{T}_{w_A} \star^I \nabla_{yt_{\nu}})$ , and hence

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_y^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^\mu, \nabla^A_{yt_\nu}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^\mu, \nabla_{yt_\nu}).$$

Finally we have a surjection  $\Delta_y \to L_y$ , which induces an embedding

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\mu}, \nabla_{yt_{\nu}}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\Delta_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\mu}, \nabla_{yt_{\nu}}).$$

By [AR3, Lemma 4.9] the right-hand side vanishes if  $\nu \neq w_{\circ}(\mu)$ , which implies the desired claim.

(3) As in (2) we have an embedding

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}^{A}_{y} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\mu}_{!}, \nabla^{A}_{yt_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)}}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\Delta_{y} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\mu}_{!}, \nabla_{yt_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)}}).$$

By [AR3, Remark 4.10] the right-hand side is 1-dimensional, so that the left-hand side has dimension 0 or 1. The nonzero morphism exhibited in the statement shows that this space is nonzero; it must therefore be 1-dimensional.  $\Box$ 

#### 4. Background from representation theory

In the next section we will introduce our main object of study, a certain category of ind-perverse sheaves which should be thought of as a geometric counterpart of the category of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -modules for a reductive group  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  (with maximal torus  $\check{\mathbf{T}}$ ) such that  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$  is Langlands dual to G. In order to motivate this construction, and to justify our conventions, we explain in this section the representation-theoretic version of this construction.

For any group scheme H over k, we will denote by  $\mathsf{Rep}(H)$  the category of finite-dimensional H-modules.

4.1. Representations of Frobenius kernels as representations of reductive groups with additional structure. We fix a split connected reductive algebraic group  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  over a perfect field  $\Bbbk$  of characteristic p>0, with a Borel subgroup  $\check{\mathbf{B}}$  and a maximal torus  $\check{\mathbf{T}}\subset \check{\mathbf{B}}$ . (We use this notation because, in practice, we want to use the results below in the case G and  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  are related as in §1.1. But in the present section  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  can be arbitrary.) We will denote by  $\mathbf{Y}$  the lattice of characters of  $\check{\mathbf{T}}$ , and by  $\mathbf{Y}_+\subset \mathbf{Y}$  the subset of dominant weights, with the convention that the  $\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -weights in  $\mathrm{Lie}(\check{\mathbf{B}})$  are the negative roots. (Of course, in general these sets might differ from those denoted in the same way in §2.1, but they will coincide in the case we are interested in.) We have the Frobenius morphism  $\mathrm{Fr}: \check{\mathbf{G}} \to \check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$ , which restricts to the Frobenius morphisms of  $\check{\mathbf{B}}$  and  $\check{\mathbf{T}}$ ; we will identify the character lattice of  $\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}$  with  $\mathbf{Y}$  in such a way that the morphism  $\mathrm{Fr}^*: X^*(\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}) \to \mathbf{Y}$  identifies with  $\lambda \mapsto p\lambda$ .

We will be mostly interested in representations of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1 \check{\mathbf{T}} := \mathrm{Fr}^{-1}(\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)})$ . Following the point of view of [AG], we consider the composition of equivalences

$$(4.1) \qquad \operatorname{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_{1}\check{\mathbf{T}}) \cong \operatorname{Coh}^{\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}_{1}\check{\mathbf{T}}}(\operatorname{pt}) \cong \operatorname{Coh}^{\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}\times\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}\big((\check{\mathbf{G}}\times\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)})/\check{\mathbf{G}}_{1}\check{\mathbf{T}}\big),$$

where  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$  is seen as a subgroup in  $\check{\mathbf{G}}\times\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}$  via  $g\mapsto (g,\operatorname{Fr}(g))$ . Now the map  $(g,t)\mapsto\operatorname{Fr}(g)t^{-1}$  induces an isomorphism

$$(\check{\mathbf{G}} \times \check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)})/\check{\mathbf{G}}_1 \check{\mathbf{T}} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$$

so that the category on the right-hand side of (4.1) identifies with the category of  $\check{\mathbf{G}} \times \check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}$ -equivariant coherent sheaves on  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$ , or in other words with  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -equivariant  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded  $\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$ -modules which are finitely generated over  $\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$ . Here  $\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  is endowed with the left regular representation structure, and considered as  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded with

$$\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})_{\lambda} = \operatorname{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(-\lambda),$$

and the equivalence sends a  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -module M to the  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded module whose degree-  $\lambda$  component is

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{G},\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}}^{\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}}(M\otimes\operatorname{Fr}^*(\Bbbk_{\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}(-\lambda))).$$

In particular, in view of the tensor identity (see [Ja, Proposition I.3.6]), under this equivalence the restriction functor  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}) \to \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}})$  identifies with the functor sending M to the  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded module whose degree- $\lambda$  component is

$$M \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{\check{G}}_{1} \check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\mathbf{\check{G}}} \big( \operatorname{Fr}^{*} \big( \mathbb{k}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}(-\lambda) \big) \big) = M \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{\check{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{\check{G}}}^{(1)}} (-\lambda) = M \otimes \mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})_{\lambda}.$$

The  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -modules considered above are typically infinite-dimensional; however the category of all (possibly infinite-dimensional) algebraic representations of an algebraic group identifies with the category of ind-objects in the category of finite-dimensional representations. (See §5.1 below for some comments and references on ind-objects.) From this point of view, we therefore obtain an equivalence of categories between  $\operatorname{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}})$  and the category of  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded ind-objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$  endowed with a graded action of  $\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  (seen as an algebra object in the category of  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded ind-objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$ ) and which are finitely generated with respect to this action (i.e. isomorphic to a quotient of a finite direct sum of grading shifts of objects  $M \otimes \mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  with  $M \in \operatorname{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$ ).

- Remark 4.1. (1) The same considerations show that the category of **Y**-graded ind-objects in  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  endowed with a graded action of  $\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  identifies with the category of **Y**-graded  $\Bbbk$ -vector spaces (i.e. algebraic—but not necessarily finite dimensional—representations of  $\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}$ ).
  - (2) One can also omit the torus  $\check{\mathbf{T}}$  in this construction, i.e. consider the Frobenius kernel  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$  instead of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ , and deduce an equivalence of categories between  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1)$  and the category of ind-objects in  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$  endowed with an action of  $\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  and which are finitely generated with respect to this action.
- 4.2. The left regular representation as an ind-object. In this subsection we explain how the object  $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{T}^{(1)}}^{\mathbf{G}^{(1)}}(-\lambda)$  can be explicitly represented as an ind-object in  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Rep}}(\mathbf{\check{G}}^{(1)})$ .

For  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , we will denote by  $\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda)$ , resp.  $\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$ , the Weyl module, resp. induced module, for  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$  of highest weight  $\lambda$ ; by definition we have  $\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda) = \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda))^*$ . It is a standard fact that for  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have

(4.2) 
$$\operatorname{Ext}_{\mathsf{Rep}(\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})}^{n}(\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda),\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu)) \cong \begin{cases} \mathbb{k} & \text{if } \lambda = \mu \text{ and } n = 0; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise;} \end{cases}$$

see [Ja, Proposition II.4.13]. Given  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  there exists a unique morphism of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$ -modules

$$(4.3) \qquad \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda') \to \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda + \lambda')$$

sending the tensor product of the highest weight vectors in the left-hand side to the highest weight vector in the right-hand side. By duality, we deduce for any  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  a canonical morphism

(4.4) 
$$\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda + \lambda') \to \mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda) \otimes \mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda').$$

We will assume we are given, for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , a nonzero morphism of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$ modules

$$\varphi_{\lambda}: \mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda) \to \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda),$$

such that for  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  the composition

$$\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda+\lambda') \xrightarrow{(4.4)} \mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda) \otimes \mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda') \xrightarrow{\varphi_{\lambda} \otimes \varphi_{\lambda'}} \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda') \xrightarrow{(4.3)} \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda+\lambda')$$

coincides with  $\varphi_{\lambda+\lambda'}$ . (See Remark 4.4 below for a discussion of this condition.) By adjunction,  $\varphi_{\lambda}$  determines a canonical morphism

(4.5) 
$$\mathbb{k} \to \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda).$$

Below we will consider various (formal) inductive limits parametrized by some subsets of  $\mathbf{Y}_+$ ; in each case, this subset is endowed with the restriction of the partial order on  $\mathbf{Y}_+$  such that  $\lambda$  is smaller than  $\lambda'$  iff  $\lambda' - \lambda$  is dominant. Given a weight  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , we consider the ind-object

$$\varinjlim_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap (w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)} \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$$

where given  $\eta \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  the transition morphism

$$\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \to \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda + \eta)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda + \eta)$$

is the composition

$$\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \to \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\eta)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\eta) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$$
$$\to \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda + \eta)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda + \eta)$$

where the first map is induced by (4.5), and the second one by (4.3) (applied in the first two and last two factors).

**Lemma 4.2.** For any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , the functor represented by the ind-object

$$\varinjlim_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap (w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)} \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$$

is given by  $V \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(V, \operatorname{Ind}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{C}}^{(1)}}(\mu)).$ 

*Proof.* By Frobenius reciprocity [Ja, Proposition II.3.4], for any V in  $Rep(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{C}}^{(1)}}(V,\operatorname{Ind}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\widecheck{\mathbf{C}}^{(1)}}(\mu)) = (V_{\mu})^*,$$

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(V,\operatorname{Ind}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(\mu)) = (V_{\mu})^*,$  where  $V_{\mu}$  is the  $\mu$ -weight space of V. Now we have a canonical morphism of  $\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}$ -modules  $\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \to \mathbb{k}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda))$ , and the morphism  $\varphi_{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$ determines a morphism of  $\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}$ -modules  $\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \to \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda))$ . In turn, this morphism defines a highest weight vector in  $\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda))$ , hence a lowest weight vector in  $N^{(1)}(\lambda)$ , which determines a morphism of  $\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}$ -modules  $N^{(1)}(\lambda) \to$  $\mathbb{k}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}(w_{\circ}(\lambda))$ . Tensoring these morphisms we obtain a morphism of  $\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}$ -modules  $N^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes N^{(1)}(\lambda) \to \mathbb{k}_{\mathbf{T}^{(1)}}(\mu)$ , hence a morphism of  $\mathbf{\check{G}}^{(1)}$ -modules

$$\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \to \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{T}^{(1)}}^{\mathbf{G}^{(1)}}(\mu),$$

and finally a morphism of functors

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(-,\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu-w_{\circ}(\lambda))\otimes\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda))\to\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(-,\operatorname{Ind}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(\mu)).$$

We deduce a morphism of functors

$$\varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(-, \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(-, \operatorname{Ind}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(\mu)),$$

and to conclude it suffices to prove that this morphism is an isomorphism.

On the other hand, for  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \cap (w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_{+})$  we have

$$(4.6) \quad \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(V, \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)) \\ \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{C}}^{(1)}}(\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda)), V^{*} \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda))).$$

Assume now that  $\lambda$  is large enough that  $\nu + \mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)$  is dominant for any weight  $\nu$ of  $V^*$ . Then, by the tensor identity [Ja, Proposition I.3.6] and Kempf's vanishing theorem [Ja, Proposition II.4.5], the module  $V^* \otimes N^{(1)}(\mu - w_o(\lambda))$  admits a finite filtration with associated graded

$$\bigoplus_{\nu} (V^*)_{\nu} \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu + \nu - w_{\diamond}(\lambda)).$$

In this case, in view of (4.2) the space in (4.6) identifies with

$$(V^*)_{-\mu} \otimes \operatorname{Hom}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}} \left( \mathsf{M}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda)), \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \right) \cong (V_{\mu})^*,$$

which concludes the proof.

Remark 4.3. (1) Below we will also require a variant of Lemma 4.2, which follows from similar arguments (using also Frobenius reciprocity for the induction from  $\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}$  to  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$ ). Consider, for a given  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , the ind-object

$$\lim_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \cap (w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_{+})} \mathbb{k}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$$

in  $\text{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)})$ , where for  $\eta \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  the transition morphism

$$\Bbbk_{\widecheck{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \to \Bbbk_{\widecheck{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda + \eta)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda + \eta)$$

is the composition

$$\mathbb{k}_{\mathbf{\check{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \to \mathbb{k}_{\mathbf{\check{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\eta)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\eta) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$$

$$\to \mathbb{k}_{\mathbf{\check{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathbb{k}_{\mathbf{\check{B}}^{(1)}}(-w_{\circ}(\eta)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\eta) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$$

$$\to \mathbb{k}_{\mathbf{\check{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda + \eta)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda + \eta)$$

where the first map is induced by (4.5), the second one by the natural morphism  $N^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\eta)) \to \mathbb{k}_{\mathbf{B}^{(1)}}(-w_{\circ}(\eta))$ , and the third one by (4.3). Then the functor represented by this ind-object is given by

$$V \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(V, \operatorname{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\mu)).$$

(2) Given a property depending on a coweight  $\lambda$  living in a subset  $\Lambda \subset \mathbf{Y}$ , we will say that this property holds when  $\lambda$  is large enough if there exists  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that the property holds for any  $\lambda \in \Lambda \cap (\nu + \mathbf{Y}_+)$ . The proof of Lemma 4.2 shows that given V, V' in  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$ , the vector space

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{C}}^{(1)}}(V, V' \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda))$$

does not depend on  $\lambda$  (up to canonical isomorphism) if  $\lambda$  is large enough.

Since  $\mathscr{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  is an algebra, we have multiplication morphisms

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{\check{T}}^{(1)}}^{\mathbf{\check{G}}^{(1)}}(\mu) \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{\check{T}}^{(1)}}^{\mathbf{\check{G}}^{(1)}}(\nu) \to \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{\check{T}}^{(1)}}^{\mathbf{\check{G}}^{(1)}}(\mu+\nu)$$

for any  $\mu, \nu \in \mathbf{Y}$ . Via the identification of Lemma 4.2, this morphism is induced by the collection of natural morphisms

$$\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\nu - w_{\circ}(\lambda')) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda')$$
$$\rightarrow \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu + \nu - w_{\circ}(\lambda + \lambda')) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda + \lambda')$$

(for  $\lambda, \lambda'$  dominant and sufficiently large) induced by (4.3).

Remark 4.4. The datum of a collection of morphisms  $(\varphi_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+})$  as above is equivalent to the datum of a lift of the longest element  $w_{\circ}$  of the Weyl group of  $(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}, \check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)})$  to  $N_{\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)})$ .

Indeed, assume we are given a collection of morphisms as above. For any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , setting  $\lambda' = \mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)$  we obtain an isomorphism

$$\begin{array}{c}
\overset{\text{"}\lim}{\longrightarrow} \overset{\text{"}}{\longrightarrow} \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda) \\
\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \cap (w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_{+}) \\
&= \underset{\lambda' \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \cap (\mu + \mathbf{Y}_{+})}{\overset{\text{"}\lim}{\longrightarrow}} \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(w_{\circ}(\mu) - w_{\circ}(\lambda')) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda').
\end{array}$$

By Lemma 4.2, this identification provides, for any  $V \in \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$ , an isomorphism  $V_{\mu} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}$ . One can check that these isomorphisms provide a tensor automorphism of the forgetful functor from  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  to finite-dimensional  $\Bbbk$ -vector spaces hence, by Tannakian formalism, an element in  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$ . The behaviour of this element with respect to weight spaces shows that this element is a lift of  $w_{\circ}$  to  $N_{\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}}(\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)})$ .

Conversely, recall that by construction the module  $\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$  comes with a canonical vector of weight  $\lambda$ . Given a lift of  $w_{\circ}$  to  $\mathsf{N}_{\mathbf{G}^{(1)}}(\mathbf{\check{T}}^{(1)})$ , we obtain a canonical vector of weight  $w_{\circ}(\lambda)$  in each  $\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$ , and then a canonical vector of weight  $\lambda$  in each  $\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda)$ . There exists then a unique morphism of  $\mathbf{\check{G}}^{(1)}$ -modules from  $\mathsf{M}^{(1)}(\lambda)$  to  $\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)$  sending the highest weight vector of the former to the highest weight vector of the latter, which provides a construction of a morphism  $\varphi_{\lambda}$  as above.

4.3. Baby co-Verma modules as ind- $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -modules. We now consider the preimage  $\check{\mathbf{B}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$  of  $\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}$  under the Frobenius morphism  $\check{\mathbf{B}} \to \check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}$ . Following the conventions of [Ja, §II.9.1], for  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we consider the baby co-Verma module

$$\widehat{\mathsf{Z}}'(\nu) = \operatorname{Ind}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{B}}_{1}\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}}^{\widecheck{\mathbf{G}}_{1}\widecheck{\mathbf{T}}}(\nu),$$

where on the right-hand side  $\nu$  is seen as a character of  $\check{\mathbf{B}}$ , and hence of  $\check{\mathbf{B}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$  by restriction. In order to describe the image of this  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}$ -module under the equivalence of §4.1, we need to describe, for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ , the representation

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{\widetilde{G}}_{1}\check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\mathbf{\widetilde{G}}}(\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}'(\nu)\otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}(-\lambda))=\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{\widetilde{G}}_{1}\check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\mathbf{\widetilde{G}}}(\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}'(\nu-p\lambda)).$$

For any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , we will denote by  $\mathsf{N}(\mu)$  the induced  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ -module with highest weight  $\mu$ . Note that given  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , there exists a canonical morphism

(4.7) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\mu') \otimes \left( \operatorname{Fr}^* \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu) \right) \to \mathsf{N}(p\mu + \mu')$$

sending the tensor product of the canonical highest weight vectors on the left-hand side to the canonical highest weight vector on the right-hand side. Given  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , we consider the ind-object

$$\lim_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap \frac{1}{p}(w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)} \mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^*(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda))$$

in  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}),$  where the transition morphisms are given by the compositions

$$\mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)) 
\to \mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\eta))) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\eta)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)) 
\to \mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda + \eta)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda + \eta))$$

for  $\eta \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , where the first map is induced by (4.5) and the second one by (4.3) and (4.7).

**Lemma 4.5.** For any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , the functor represented by the ind-object

"
$$\varinjlim_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \cap \frac{1}{p}(w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_{+})} \mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathrm{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda))$$

is given by  $V \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}}(V, \operatorname{Ind}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}_1 \check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}}(\widehat{\mathsf{Z}}'(\mu)))$ .

*Proof.* We will consider the functor  $(-)_{\mathbf{B}_1}$  of "coinvariants" for finite-dimensional representations of the Frobenius kernel  $\mathbf{B}_1$  of  $\mathbf{B}$ , given by

$$V_{\check{\mathbf{B}}_1} := ((V^*)^{\check{\mathbf{B}}_1})^*.$$

It is easily seen that this functor is left adjoint to the inclusion functor from finite-dimensional  $\Bbbk$ -vector spaces to  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{B}}_1)$ ; it also induces a functor  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{B}}) \to \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)})$  which is left adjoint to the functor  $\mathsf{Fr}^* : \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}) \to \mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{B}})$ .

For V in  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}})$ , we observe that by the tensor identity and Frobenius reciprocity we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{C}}}(V, \mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda))) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{B}}}(V, \mathbb{k}_{\widecheck{\mathbf{B}}}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda))).$$

We deduce that this space identifies with

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}((V \otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(-\mu))_{\check{\mathbf{B}}_1}, \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)).$$

Using Remark 4.3(1), we deduce an isomorphism

$$\varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}} (V, \mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda))) \cong$$

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}((V \otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(-\mu))_{\check{\mathbf{B}}_1}, \operatorname{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\Bbbk)).$$

Now we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}\left((V \otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(-\mu))_{\check{\mathbf{B}}_{1}}, \operatorname{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\Bbbk)\right) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}\left(V \otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(-\mu), \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\operatorname{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\Bbbk))\right) \\ \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}\left(V, \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\operatorname{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\Bbbk)) \otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(\mu)\right),$$

and

$$\mathrm{Fr}^*(\mathrm{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{T}}^{(1)}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}^{(1)}}(\Bbbk)) \otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(\mu) \cong \mathrm{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(\Bbbk) \otimes \Bbbk_{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(\mu) \cong \mathrm{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\check{\mathbf{B}}}(\mu)$$

by the tensor identity; using Frobenius reciprocity and transitivity of induction (see [Ja, §II.3.5]) we deduce an isomorphism

$$\varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}} \big( V, \mathsf{N}(\mu - pw_{\circ}(\lambda)) \otimes \operatorname{Fr}^{*}(\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\lambda)) \big) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}}(V, \operatorname{Ind}_{\check{\mathbf{B}}_{1}\check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}}(\mu)).$$

Transitivity of induction also implies that  $\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{G}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\mathbf{G}}(\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}'(\mu)) \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbf{B}_1\check{\mathbf{T}}}^{\mathbf{G}}(\mu)$ , so that this provides the desired isomorphism.

This lemma shows that for  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$  the image of  $\widehat{\mathbf{Z}}'(\nu)$  under the equivalence of §4.1 is the **Y**-graded ind-object with degree- $\lambda$  component given by

"
$$\lim_{\stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\mu}}$$
"  $N(\nu - p\lambda - pw_{\circ}(\mu)) \otimes Fr^{*}(N^{(1)}(\mu)),$ 

where the transition morphisms are as above. In these terms, and using the description of Lemma 4.2, the action of  $\mathcal{O}(\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)})$  is induced by the morphisms

$$\mathsf{N}(\nu - p\lambda - pw_{\circ}(\mu)) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(-\lambda' - w_{\circ}(\mu')) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu') 
\to \mathsf{N}(\nu - p(\lambda + \lambda') - pw_{\circ}(\mu + \mu')) \otimes \mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\mu + \mu')$$

induced by (4.3) and (4.7) for  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbf{Y}$  and  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  large enough (where we omit the functor  $\operatorname{Fr}^*$  to lighten notation).

#### 5. Modules over the regular perverse sheaf

We now come back to the setting of Sections 2–3.

In this section, for any finitary subset  $A \subset S_{\mathrm{aff}}$  we will define and initiate the study of a certain category of ind-objects in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  equipped with additional structures: namely, a grading indexed by  $\mathbf{Y}$ , and the structure of a right module over a certain algebra ind-object  $\mathcal{R}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$ . After some preliminaries in Section 6, in Section 7 we will see that this category is a finite-length abelian category with enough injectives and projectives, and that it satisfies properties similar to those of the category  $\mathsf{Rep}(\check{\mathbf{G}}_1\check{\mathbf{T}})$  where  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$  is a connected reductive algebraic group over  $\Bbbk$  (with maximal torus  $\check{\mathbf{T}}$ ) whose Frobenius twist is  $G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ . One can also omit the  $\mathbf{Y}$ -grading, and obtain a similar theory that is analogous to that of  $\check{\mathbf{G}}_1$ -modules. This theory will be reviewed in Section 8.

5.1. **Ind-objects.** Our constructions will make use of ind-objects in categories; for the generalities on this construction we refer to [KS, Chap. 6].<sup>3</sup> For simplicity, for any category A and ind-objects X and Y in A, we will denote by  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{A}}(X,Y)$  the space of morphisms from X to Y in the category of ind-objects in A. We will repeatedly use the fact that any functor  $F:\mathsf{C}\to\mathsf{D}$  extends in a canonical way to a functor  $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathsf{C})\to\operatorname{Ind}(\mathsf{D})$ , which will be denoted by the same symbol, see [KS, Proposition 6.1.9]. In view of [KS, Proposition 6.1.12], a similar comment applies to bifunctors. Recall also that the category of ind-objects in an abelian category is abelian, see [KS, Theorem 8.6.5], and that the functor on ind-objects induced by an exact functor is exact, see [KS, Corollary 8.6.8].

Given a category A and a set X, by an X-graded object in A we will mean a collection  $A = (A_x : x \in X)$  of objects in A. We will write informally

$$A = \bigoplus_{x \in X} A_x,$$

but the symbol " $\bigoplus$ " has no formal meaning here. In particular, we do *not* assume that only finitely many objects  $A_x$  are nonzero, nor that the (possibly infinite) direct sum exists in A.

5.2. The regular perverse sheaf. Recall the objects  $\mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_!^{\lambda}$  ( $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ ) introduced in §3.3. For any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , the natural morphisms for sheaf functors provide a canonical morphism

$$\mathcal{I}_!^\lambda o \mathcal{I}_*^\lambda.$$

Since  $\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\lambda}$  has rigid dual  $\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$  (see (3.3)), this morphism induces a canonical morphism

(5.1) 
$$\mathcal{IC}^0 \to \mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}.$$

Next, for  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , since the perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{\mu}$  is supported on the closure of  $\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda+\mu}$  and has restriction to  $\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda+\mu}$  equal to  $\underline{\Bbbk}_{\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda+\mu}}[\dim(\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda+\mu})]$ , there exists a canonical morphism

(5.2) 
$$\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{\mu} \to \mathcal{I}_{*}^{\lambda+\mu}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Here, for simplicity, and contrary to the authors of [KS], we will neglect all set-theoretic subtleties involved in this construction, and pretend that all categories are small.

Let us endow  $\mathbf{Y}_+$  (and any of its subsets) with the preorder such that  $\lambda$  is less or equal to  $\lambda'$  iff  $\lambda' - \lambda$  is dominant. For  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we consider the ind-object

(5.3) 
$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu} = \underset{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \cap (-w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_{+})}{\varinjlim} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$$

in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , where the transition maps are given by the morphisms

$$\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} \to \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{\nu} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} \\ \to \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda+\nu} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda+\nu)}$$

for  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ . Here, the first map comes from (5.1), and the second one from (5.2) (applied to the first two and last two factors).

We have an obvious "unit map"

$$\eta: \mathcal{IC}^0 \to \mathcal{R}_0,$$

and for  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have a "multiplication map"

(5.5) 
$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu'} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mu + \mu'}$$

obtained as the limit (over suitable  $\lambda, \lambda'$ ) of the maps

$$\begin{split} \left(\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}\right) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \left(\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu')+\lambda'} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda')}\right) \\ &\rightarrow \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu+\mu')+\lambda+\lambda'} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda+\lambda')} \end{split}$$

provided by (5.2) and the commutativity constraint on the monoidal category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ . The map (5.5) satisfies an obvious associativity property, as well as an appropriate compatibility property with (5.4). Therefore, (5.4) and (5.5) make the **Y**-graded ind-object

$$\mathcal{R} := \bigoplus_{\mu \in \mathbf{Y}} \mathcal{R}_{\mu}$$

into an algebra object in the category of Y-graded ind-perverse sheaves. We call R the regular perverse sheaf.

Recall the autoequivalence sw of the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$  considered in [AR3, §1.2]. Then for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  we have a canonical isomorphism  $\mathsf{sw}(\mathcal{I}_*^\lambda) \cong \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_\circ(\lambda)}$ . These isomorphisms and Lemma 4.2<sup>4</sup> show that  $\mathsf{sw}(\mathcal{R}_\mu)$  corresponds, under (the extension to ind-objects of) the equivalence  $\mathsf{Sat}$ , to  $\mathsf{Ind}_{\mathcal{I}_k^\vee}^{G_k^\vee}(-\mu)$ , seen as an ind-object in  $\mathsf{Rep}(G_k^\vee)$ . (In this case, we choose as morphism  $\varphi_\lambda$  from §4.2 the one induced by the canonical morphism  $\mathcal{I}_!^\lambda \to \mathcal{I}_*^\lambda$ .) This justifies our choice of convention for the definition of  $\mathcal{R}$ , in view of the formulation of the Finkelberg–Mirković conjecture in [AR3, Conjecture 1.1].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In Section 4 we have assumed that k has positive characteristic; however Lemma 4.2 also holds in characteristic 0, if  $\check{\mathbf{G}}^{(1)}$  is interpreted as an abstract reductive group, without reference to another group  $\check{\mathbf{G}}$ .

5.3. Splitting the unit map in characteristic 0. For later use (in §9.6), in this subsection we show that when  $\mathbbm{k}$  has characteristic 0, the unit map (5.4) admits a left inverse, and hence that  $\mathcal{IC}^0$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . Recall that in this case the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbbm{k})$  is semisimple, and that the canonical morphism  $\mathcal{I}_1^\mu \to \mathcal{I}_*^\mu$  is an isomorphism (and both objects can be identified with  $\mathcal{IC}^\mu$ ). We can therefore rewrite the definition of  $\mathcal{R}_0$  from (5.3) as

(5.6) 
$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \lim_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+} \mathcal{I} \mathcal{C}^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I} \mathcal{C}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}.$$

Next, dual to (5.1), we have a "counit map"  $\epsilon_{\lambda} : \mathcal{IC}^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} \to \mathcal{IC}^{0}$ . These maps are *not* compatible with the transition maps in (5.6), so they do not define a map  $\mathcal{R}_{0} \to \mathcal{IC}_{0}$ .

However, in the present setting that  $char(\mathbb{k}) = 0$  we can correct this failure of compatibility by introducing the maps

$$\bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda} = \tfrac{1}{\dim \mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{IC}^{\lambda})} \epsilon_{\lambda} = \tfrac{1}{\dim \mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\diamond}(\lambda)})} \epsilon_{\lambda} : \mathcal{IC}^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\diamond}(\lambda)} \to \mathcal{IC}^{0}.$$

Let  $\eta_{\lambda}: \mathcal{IC}^{0} \to \mathcal{IC}^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$  be the map defined in (5.1). The composition  $\epsilon_{\lambda}\eta_{\lambda}: \mathcal{IC}^{0} \to \mathcal{IC}^{0}$  is given by multiplication by dim  $\mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{IC}^{\lambda})$  (this can easily be seen by consider the analogous unit and counit maps in the category  $\mathsf{Rep}(G_{\mathbb{K}}^{\vee})$ ), so  $\bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda}\eta_{\lambda} = \mathrm{id}$ .

We claim that the maps  $\bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda}$  are compatible with the transition maps in (5.6), i.e., that the bottom square in the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
\mathcal{IC}^{0} & & & \\
\eta_{\lambda} \downarrow & & & \downarrow \\
\mathcal{IC}^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} & \longrightarrow \mathcal{IC}^{\lambda+\nu} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda+\nu)} \\
& \bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda} \downarrow & & \downarrow \bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda+\nu} \\
\mathcal{IC}^{0} & = & & \mathcal{IC}^{0}
\end{array}$$

Since dim Hom $(\mathcal{IC}^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{IC}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}, \mathcal{IC}^{0}) = 1$ , the commutativity of the bottom square can be checked after composition with the unit maps in the top part of the diagram. Commutativity follows from the observation that  $\bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda}\eta_{\lambda} = \bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda+\nu}\eta_{\lambda+\nu} = \mathrm{id}$ . Together, the collection of maps  $\bar{\epsilon}_{\lambda}$  define a map of ind-perverse sheaves

$$\bar{\epsilon}: \mathcal{R}_0 \to \mathcal{IC}^0$$

satisfying  $\bar{\epsilon} \circ \eta = id$ .

5.4. **Graded**  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. A **Y**-graded right  $\mathcal{R}$ -module is, by definition, a **Y**-graded ind-object

$$\mathcal{F} = igoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}} \mathcal{F}_{\lambda}$$

in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$ , along with a collection of maps

$$\mathcal{F}_{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu} \to \mathcal{F}_{\lambda + \mu}$$

for  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , satisfying obvious unit and associativity axioms. Let

$$\mathrm{Mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$$

denote the category of **Y**-graded right  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. This is an abelian category. In the special case where  $A = \emptyset$ , we simplify this notation to  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_n}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .

For any  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , there is a *shift-of-grading* functor on  $\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , denoted by  $\mathcal{F} \mapsto \mathcal{F}\langle \nu \rangle$  and defined by

$$(\mathcal{F}\langle\nu\rangle)_{\mu} = \mathcal{F}_{\mu-\nu},$$

with the  $\mathcal{R}$ -module structure unchanged. Of course we have  $\langle \nu \rangle \circ \langle \nu' \rangle = \langle \nu + \nu' \rangle$ ; in particular,  $\langle \nu \rangle$  is an autoequivalence with inverse  $\langle -\nu \rangle$ .

Given a perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , we can construct a graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -module by the formula

$$\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}) = \bigoplus_{\mu \in \mathbf{Y}} \mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu},$$

called the free R-module on F. This construction defines an exact functor

$$\Phi^A : \mathsf{Perv}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to \mathsf{Mod}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}).$$

In the case where  $A = \emptyset$ , we usually omit it from the notation and write

$$\Phi: \mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to \mathrm{Mod}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}).$$

More generally, a free graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -module of finite type is, by definition, a finite direct sum of objects of the form  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})\langle\nu\rangle$ , where  $\mathcal{F}\in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  and  $\nu\in\mathbf{Y}$ . Note that  $\Phi^A$  is faithful; in fact by exactness this follows from the fact that it kills no nonzero object, which itself follows from the observation that the morphism  $\mathcal{G}\to\Phi^A(\mathcal{G})_0$  induced by the unit morphism  $\eta$  (see (5.4)) is injective, since  $\eta$  is injective and the functor  $\mathcal{G}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}(-)$  is exact.

Morphisms from free modules can be easily computed using the following lemma.

**Lemma 5.1.** For  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  and  $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{Mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ , there is a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}),\mathcal{M}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Perv}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{M}_0).$$

*Proof.* Consider the unit map  $\eta: \mathcal{IC}^0 \to \mathcal{R}_0$ . Composition with

$$id \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \eta : \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_0 = \Phi(\mathcal{F})_0$$

defines a map

$$\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi(\mathcal{F}),\mathcal{M}) \to \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{M}_{0}).$$

On the other hand, given a map  $\phi: \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{M}_0$  of (ind-)perverse sheaves, one can consider for any  $\mu$  the following composition, which defines a map of graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules:

$$(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}))_{\mu} = \mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu} \xrightarrow{\phi \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathrm{id}} \mathcal{M}_{0} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mu}.$$

(Here, the second map comes from the  $\mathcal{R}$ -module structure on  $\mathcal{M}$ .) It is straightforward to check that these two constructions are inverse to each other.

An object of  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is said to be *finitely generated* if it is a quotient of a free graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -module of finite type. Let

$$\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) = \begin{array}{c} \text{the full subcategory of } \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \text{ consisting} \\ \text{of finitely generated modules.} \end{array}$$

At the moment, it is not clear that  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is an abelian category. This will be established later: see Theorem 7.9.

For any  $G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$ -module V and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y} = X^*(T_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee})$ , we will denote by  $V_{\lambda}$  the  $\lambda$ -weight space in V.

**Lemma 5.2.** For any  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  and  $\mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , the object  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{G})$  is isomorphic to a finite direct sum of objects of the form  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})\langle \nu \rangle$ . More specifically, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\Phi^A(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{G}) \cong \bigoplus_{\nu \in \mathbf{Y}} \mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{G})_{w_{\circ}(\nu)} \otimes \Phi^A(\mathcal{F}) \langle -\nu \rangle.$$

*Proof.* To prove the lemma it suffices to provide canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu} \cong \bigoplus_{\nu} \mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{G})_{w_0(\nu)} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{\mu + \nu}$$

for any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ . Now if  $V = \mathsf{Sat}(\mathsf{sw}(\mathcal{G}))$ , we have

$$V \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{T_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}}^{G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}}(-\mu) \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{T_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}}^{G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}}(V \otimes \Bbbk_{T_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}}(-\mu)) \cong \bigoplus_{\nu} V_{\nu} \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{T_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}}^{G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}}(-\mu + \nu),$$

where on the right-hand side the action of  $G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$  is on each  $\operatorname{Ind}_{T_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}}^{G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}}(-\mu+\nu)$ . Applying  $\operatorname{sw} \circ \operatorname{\mathsf{Sat}}^{-1}$ , we deduce an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu} \cong \bigoplus_{\nu} V_{\nu} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{\mu - \nu}.$$

Finally, by [FS, Proposition VI.12.1] we have  $V_{\nu} = \mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{G})_{-w_{\circ}(\nu)}$  for any  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , which finishes the proof.

5.5. **Simple**  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. Recall the subset  ${}^AW^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}} \subset {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  introduced in §2.4, and that (by definition) for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  there exist  $y \in {}^AW^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $w = yt_{\lambda}$ . Choosing such y and  $\lambda$  we define a graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -module  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^A_w \in \mathrm{Mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_w^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  by

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A := \Phi^A(\mathsf{L}_u^A) \langle -\lambda \rangle.$$

Here the elements y and  $\lambda$  are not unique, but if  $yt_{\lambda} = y't_{\lambda'}$ , then the pairs  $(y, \lambda)$  and  $(y', \lambda')$  are related by the relations  $y' = yt_{\nu}$ ,  $\lambda' = \lambda - \nu$ , for some  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$  orthogonal to all roots. Using the "componentwise" description

$$(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A)_{\mu} = \mathsf{L}_u^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_{\lambda + \mu} \quad \text{for any } \mu \in \mathbf{Y},$$

along with the fact that for  $\nu$  as above  $\mathcal{IC}^{\nu}$  is the sky-scraper sheaf at  $L_{\nu}$ , so that we have  $\mathsf{L}^{A}_{yt_{\nu}}\cong \mathsf{L}^{A}_{y}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{IC}^{\nu}$  and  $\mathcal{IC}^{\nu}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{R}_{\mu}\cong \mathcal{R}_{\nu+\mu}$ , we see that  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^{A}_{w}$  is well defined. To remedy this non-uniqueness issue, it is sometimes convenient to choose a subset  $({}^{A}W^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}})'\subset {}^{A}W^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}}$  of representatives for the (free) action of the subgroup of  $\mathbf{Y}$  consisting of elements orthogonal to all roots; then any element of  ${}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  can be written uniquely as a product  $yt_{\lambda}$  with  $y\in ({}^{A}W^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}})'$  and  $\lambda\in\mathbf{Y}$ . It is clear from the definition that for  $w\in{}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $\lambda\in\mathbf{Y}$  we have

(5.7) 
$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{wt_{\lambda}}^{A} = \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A} \langle -\lambda \rangle.$$

We will see in Theorem 5.6 below that these are the simple objects in the abelian category  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . Anticipating this, we define the category of  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules

of finite length to be

$$\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}} := \begin{array}{c} \text{the full subcategory of } \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \\ \text{consisting of objects that admit a finite} \\ \text{filtration with subquotients of the form } \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}. \end{array}$$

**Lemma 5.3.** For any (ordinary) perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , the free module  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})$  lies in  $\mathsf{Mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}}$ .

*Proof.* Any composition series for  $\mathcal{F}$  gives rise to a filtration of  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})$  whose subquotients are of the form  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{L}^A_x)$  with  $x \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . By (2.7), Theorem 3.16(1) and Lemma 5.2, each such  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{L}^A_x)$  is a finite direct sum of objects of the form  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{L}^A_y)\langle\nu\rangle$  with  $y\in{}^AW^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $\nu\in\mathbf{Y}$ .

**Lemma 5.4.** Let  $w, v \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . We have

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A, \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_v^A) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } w = v; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In particular, any nonzero endomorphism of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  is an automorphism.

*Proof.* Let us choose a subset  $({}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext})' \subset {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$  as above. By unwinding the definitions and using Lemma 5.1, we see that this lemma is equivalent to the claim that for  $x, y \in ({}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext})'$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , we have

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{U}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathsf{L}^A_x,\mathsf{L}^A_y\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{R}_{\mu}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = y \text{ and } \mu = 0; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

To compute this Hom-group, we must study

$$\begin{split} \varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_{x}^{A},\mathsf{L}_{y}^{A} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}) \cong \\ & \varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_{x}^{A} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{\lambda},\mathsf{L}_{y}^{A} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda}), \end{split}$$

where the isomorphism uses (3.3). Here, by Theorem 3.16(1) and exactness of  $\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}$ , we can obtain a composition series of  $\mathsf{L}^A_x \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}^\lambda_!$  by choosing a composition series of  $\mathcal{I}^\lambda_!$  and then convolving with  $\mathsf{L}^A_x$ , and likewise for  $\mathsf{L}^A_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}^{w_\circ(\mu)+\lambda}_*$ . From this description we see that if  $x \neq y$ , the objects  $\mathsf{L}^A_x \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}^\lambda_!$  and  $\mathsf{L}^A_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}^{w_\circ(\mu)+\lambda}_*$  have no composition factor in common, so that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_x^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^\lambda, \mathsf{L}_y^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda}) = 0$$

for any  $\lambda$ . Assume now that x = y. Then, by Theorem 3.16(2), the Hom-groups above can be identified with

$$\varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\lambda}, \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda}).$$

It is easily seen that this Hom-group is 1-dimensional if  $\mu = 0$ , and vanishes otherwise.

Corollary 5.5. Suppose  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$ . For any  $w \in {}^AW_{\operatorname{ext}}$ , any nonzero morphism  $\mathcal{M} \to \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  is surjective.

*Proof.* This follows from Lemma 5.4 by induction on the length of the given filtration of  $\mathcal{M}$ .

We can now prove the properties of the objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  announced above.

**Theorem 5.6.** For  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , the object  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$  is a simple object in the abelian category  $\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{v}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . Moreover, the assignment  $w \mapsto \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$  gives a bijection

$${}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}\stackrel{\sim}{
ightarrow} \left\{ egin{array}{ll} isomorphism\ classes\ of\ simple\ objects\ in\ \mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \end{array} 
ight\}.$$

Proof. We begin by showing that any object  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_u^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  admits a nonzero morphism from a free  $\mathcal{R}$ -module. Choose some nonzero graded component  $\mathcal{M}_{\mu}$  in  $\mathcal{M}$ . As an ind-perverse sheaf,  $\mathcal{M}_{\mu}$  is an inductive limit of ordinary perverse sheaves, say  $\mathcal{M}_{\mu} \cong \text{"} \varinjlim_i \ \mathcal{F}_i$ . Choose some term  $\mathcal{F}_i$  in this limit such that the natural map  $\mathcal{F}_i \to \mathcal{M}_{\mu}$  is nonzero. Via Lemma 5.1, we obtain a nonzero map

(5.8) 
$$\phi: \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}_{i})\langle \mu \rangle \to \mathcal{M}.$$

We will now show that each  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  is simple. If not, there is some nonzero proper subobject  $\mathcal{M} \subset \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ . Composing with a nonzero map as in (5.8), we obtain a nonzero, nonsurjective map  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}_i)\langle\mu\rangle \to \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ . In view of Lemma 5.3, this contradicts Corollary 5.5.

Next, we will show that every simple object in  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_u^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is isomorphic to some  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w$ . Let  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_u^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  be simple, and choose a nonzero map as in (5.8); this map is necessarily surjective. But by Lemma 5.3, we already know that  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}_i)\langle\mu\rangle$  has a composition series whose terms are of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  with  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , so  $\mathcal{M}$  must be isomorphic to one of these composition factors, proving the desired claim

Finally, the fact that  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A \ncong \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A$  if  $w \neq y$  is immediate from Lemma 5.4.

As a consequence of Theorem 5.6, we see that  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$  is stable under subquotients in  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . In particular, this category is abelian, and by construction every object in this category has finite length. Using Lemma 5.3 we also see that

(5.9) 
$$\operatorname{mod}_{(I^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \subset \operatorname{Mod}_{(I^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\text{flen}},$$

but we reiterate that for the moment, we do not yet know whether  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is an abelian category, with one exception: when A=S, we have the following result.

**Proposition 5.7.** The category  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^S,\mathcal{X}_S)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is canonically equivalent to the category of (all) algebraic  $T_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -modules; in particular, it is semisimple. The subcategories  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^S,\mathcal{X}_S)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^S,\mathcal{X}_S)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  flen coincide, and are equivalent (via the equivalence for  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^S,\mathcal{X}_S)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ ) to the category of finite-dimensional algebraic  $T_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -modules, i.e. to the category of finite-dimensional  $\mathbf{Y}$ -graded  $\mathbb{k}$ -vector spaces.

*Proof.* By the main result of [BGMRR], the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^S_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_S)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  is equivalent to the Satake category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$ , which is itself equivalent to the category  $\mathsf{Rep}(G^\vee_{\mathbb{k}})$  via the geometric Satake equivalence, see §3.3. Via the latter equivalence,  $\mathcal{R}$  corresponds by definition to (the ind-object represented by) the algebra  $\mathscr{O}(G^\vee_{\mathbb{k}})$ 

(for the left regular representation structure), with the **Y**-grading coming from the action of  $T_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$  induced by multiplication on the right. In view of Remark 4.1(1), the category  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^S, \mathcal{X}_S)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  therefore identifies with the category of (all) algebraic  $T_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$ -modules, and both  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^S, \mathcal{X}_S)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^S, \mathcal{X}_S)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  fien identify with the subcategory of finite-dimensional modules.

We conclude this subsection with a few technical consequences of the results above that will be required later.

**Lemma 5.8.** Let  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . If  $z \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  is such that  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_z^A$  is a composition factor of  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{L}_w^A)$ , then  $z \leq w$ .

Proof. Write w as  $w = xt_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}$  with  $x \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_{+}$ . By Theorem 3.16(1), Lemma 5.2 and (5.7),  $\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{L}_{w}^{A})$  is a direct sum of objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{xt_{\nu}}^{A}$  where  $\nu$  is a weight of  $\mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{IC}^{\mu})$ . These weights are such that  $\mu - w_{\circ}(\nu)$  is a sum of positive roots, so that by Lemma 3.2 we have  $xt_{\nu} \leq xt_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}$ , i.e.  $xt_{\nu} \leq w$ , as desired.

**Lemma 5.9.** For 
$$\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$$
, we have

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{n}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}) < \infty.$$

In particular,  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_u^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}}$  is Krull-Schmidt in the sense of [CYZ, §A.1].

*Proof.* The first claim follows from Lemma 5.4. The second claim follows by [CYZ, Remark A.2].  $\Box$ 

In the following statement we use the terminology introduced in Remark 4.3(2).

**Lemma 5.10.** Let  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , and let  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ . If  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap (-w_\circ(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)$  is large enough, the natural map

$$(5.10) \quad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{w_{\diamond}(\mu)+\lambda}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\diamond}(\lambda)}_{*}) \\ \rightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I^{A}_{\bullet},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F})\langle \mu \rangle, \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G}))$$

is an isomorphism.

The map in this lemma comes from the identification of the right-hand side with  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{R}_{\mu})$  (see Lemma 5.1), which in turn is identified with

$$\lim_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{+} \cap (-w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_{+})} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}).$$

*Proof.* Any element of  $\operatorname{Hom}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})\langle\mu\rangle,\Phi^A(\mathcal{G}))$  lies in the image of (5.10) for sufficiently large  $\lambda$ . Since  $\operatorname{Hom}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})\langle\mu\rangle,\Phi^A(\mathcal{G}))$  is finite-dimensional by Lemma 5.9, we deduce that (5.10) is surjective for sufficiently large  $\lambda$  (depending on  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$ ). Suppose now that  $0 \to \mathcal{F}' \to \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}'' \to 0$  is a short exact sequence in  $\operatorname{Perv}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)$ , and consider the diagram

$$0 \to \frac{\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F}'', \mathcal{G} \star}{\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \star \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)})} \to \frac{\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star}{\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \star \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)})} \to \frac{\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F}', \mathcal{G} \star}{\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \star \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)})} \\ \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \\ 0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}'') \langle \mu \rangle, \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G})) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}) \langle \mu \rangle, \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G})) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}') \langle \mu \rangle, \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G}))$$

If the first and last columns are isomorphisms and the middle column is surjective, then the four lemma implies that the middle column is in fact also an isomorphism. Thus, by induction on the length of  $\mathcal{F}$ , we may reduce to the case where  $\mathcal{F}$  is simple. A similar argument applies to  $\mathcal{G}$ . It therefore suffices to prove the claim in case  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  are simple, which we assume from now on.

Choose a subset  $({}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext})' \subset {}^AW_{\rm ext}$  as in the discussion above (5.7). Then we may assume that

$$\mathcal{F} = \mathsf{L}^A_{x_1 t_{w_0(\nu_1)}} \cong \mathsf{L}^A_{x_1} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I} \mathcal{C}^{\nu_1}, \qquad \mathcal{F} = \mathsf{L}^A_{x_2 t_{w_0(\nu_0)}} \cong \mathsf{L}^A_{x_2} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I} \mathcal{C}^{\nu_2},$$

where  $x_1, x_2 \in ({}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}})'$  and  $\nu_1, \nu_2 \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ . As in the proof of Lemma 5.4, if  $x_1 \neq x_2$ , then Theorem 3.16(1) implies that  $\mathcal{F}$  has no composition factors in common with any  $\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_*^{w_o(\mu)+\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_o(\lambda)}$ , so the left-hand side of (5.10) vanishes for all  $\lambda$ , and hence so does the right-hand side.

On the other hand, if  $x_1 = x_2$ , then Theorem 3.16(2) lets us identify the left-hand side of (5.10) with

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}+G}(\operatorname{Gr}, \Bbbk)}(\mathcal{IC}^{\nu_1}, \mathcal{IC}^{\nu_2} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}^{w_0(\mu)+\lambda}_* \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_0(\lambda)}_*).$$

By the geometric Satake equivalence, this is isomorphic to

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\circ}^{\vee}}(\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{IC}^{\nu_1}),\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{IC}^{\nu_2})\otimes\operatorname{N}^{(1)}(w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda)\otimes\operatorname{N}^{(1)}(-w_{\circ}(\lambda)))$$

where  $\mathsf{N}^{(1)}(\nu)$  is the induced  $G^\vee_{\Bbbk}$ -module of highest weight  $\nu$ . As explained in Remark 4.3(2), this group is independent of  $\lambda$  for  $\lambda$  large enough, as desired.

Remark 5.11. If  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbf{Y}$  are such that  $\lambda' - \lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , the morphism (5.10) factors as a composition

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr}, \Bbbk)} (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{w_{\diamond}(\mu) + \lambda}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\diamond}(\lambda)}_{*}) \\ & \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr}, \Bbbk)} (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{w_{\diamond}(\mu) + \lambda'}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\diamond}(\lambda')}_{*}) \\ & \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I^{A}_{u},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})} (\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}) \langle \mu \rangle, \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G})) \end{split}$$

where the second morphism is the analogue of (5.10) for  $\lambda'$ . If  $\lambda$  is large enough, this composition and its second member are isomorphisms, hence so is its first member.

5.6. Baby co-Verma modules: definition and first properties. We now introduce geometric counterparts of the objects studied in §4.3.

For any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , since  $\operatorname{Gr}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}}$  is open in  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\mu}$ , by adjunction there exists a canonical map

$$\mathcal{I}_*^{\mu} \to \nabla_{t_{w_*}(\mu)}.$$

Now let  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . Then  $\ell(w) + \ell(t_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}) = \ell(wt_{w_{\circ}(\mu)})$  by Lemma 2.1, which by Lemma 3.1(4) implies that we have a canonical isomorphism  $\mathscr{N}_w \star^I \nabla_{t_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}} \cong \nabla_{wt_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}}$ . Applying  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^A$  and using [AR3, Lemma 3.3(1)–(3)] we deduce that

(5.12) 
$$\mathscr{N}_{w}^{A} \star^{I} \nabla_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\mu)}} \cong \nabla_{wt_{w_{\Diamond}(\mu)}}^{A}.$$

Also, for any  $\mathcal{F} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , we have canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathscr{N}_w^A \star^I \mathcal{F} \cong (\pi_* \mathscr{N}_w^A) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{F} \cong \nabla_w^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{F},$$

see [BGMRR, Lemma 2.5] and (3.4). Thus, applying  $\mathcal{N}_w^A \star^I(-)$  to (5.11), we obtain a canonical morphism

(5.13) 
$$\nabla_w^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^\mu \to \nabla_{wt_{w_0(u)}}^A.$$

For  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we set

$$(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})_{\mu} = "\varinjlim_{\lambda} " \nabla^A_{wt_{\mu+w_{\diamond}(\lambda)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\diamond}(\lambda)},$$

where  $\lambda$  runs over the elements of  $\mathbf{Y}_+$  such that  $wt_{\mu+w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$  belongs to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$  (which is automatic if  $\lambda$  is sufficiently large, see §2.5) and where the transition morphisms in the inductive limit are given by the compositions

$$\nabla^{A}_{wt_{\mu+w_{\circ}(\lambda)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}_{*} \to \nabla^{A}_{wt_{\mu+w_{\circ}(\lambda)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\nu}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}_{*}$$
$$\to \nabla^{A}_{wt_{\mu+w_{\circ}(\lambda+\nu)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda+\nu)}_{*}$$

for  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , where the first morphism is induced by (5.1) and the second one is induced by (5.13) (applied to the first two factors) and (5.2) (applied to the last two factors). We endow the **Y**-graded ind-perverse sheaf

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A} := \bigoplus_{\mu \in \mathbf{Y}} (\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})_{\mu}$$

with the structure of a graded R-module by defining the action morphism

$$(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})_{\mu} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_{\nu} \to (\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})_{\mu + \nu}$$

(for  $\mu, \nu \in \mathbf{Y}$ ) as induced by the morphisms

$$\begin{split} \left( \nabla^{A}_{wt_{\mu+w_{\circ}(\lambda)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}_{*} \right) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \left( \mathcal{I}^{w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda'}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda')}_{*} \right) \\ & \to \nabla^{A}_{wt_{\mu+\nu+w_{\circ}(\lambda+\lambda')}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda+\lambda')}_{*} \end{split}$$

induced by (5.13) and (5.2) (after application of the commutativity constraint for  $\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}$  to the second and third factors), for  $\lambda, \lambda'$  sufficiently dominant.

It is clear from definition that for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\text{ext}}$  and  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have

(5.14) 
$$\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{wt_{\nu}}^{\prime A} = \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{\prime A} \langle -\nu \rangle.$$

**Lemma 5.12.** For  $w, y \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ , we have

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}^{A},\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{\prime A}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } w = y; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* Write  $y = zt_{\nu}$ ,  $w = z't_{\nu'}$  with  $z, z' \in {}^{A}W_{\rm ext}^{\rm res}$  and  $\nu, \nu' \in \mathbf{Y}$ . From the definition of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}^{A}$  and Lemma 5.1 we see that

$$\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}^A,\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{\prime A})\cong \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathsf{L}_{z'}^A,(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{z'}^{\prime A})_{\nu'-\nu}).$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{tl}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}) & \cong \varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_z^A, \nabla_{z't_{\nu'-\nu+w_{\Diamond}(\lambda)}}^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\Diamond}(\lambda)}) \\ & \cong \varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_z^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_!^\lambda, \nabla_{z't_{\nu'-\nu+w_{\Diamond}(\lambda)}}^A) \end{split}$$

where the second step uses (3.3). By Corollary 3.17(1) the rightmost term vanishes unless z and z' differ by multiplication by  $t_{\eta}$  for some coweight  $\eta$  orthogonal to all roots. In this case we can assume that z=z'; then by Corollary 3.17(2) the Hom spaces vanish unless  $\nu=\nu'$ . Finally, if z=z' and  $\nu=\nu'$ , by Corollary 3.17(3) each space  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_z^A\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}_!^\lambda, \nabla^A_{zt_{w_0(\lambda)}})$  is 1-dimensional. It is easily seen that all transition morphisms are isomorphisms, so that our inductive limit is isomorphic to  $\Bbbk$ .

## 6. Averaging and wall-crossing functors

6.1. Averaging functors for  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. The averaging and wall-crossing functors defined in §§3.6–3.7 extend to exact functors on ind-perverse sheaves. Moreover, for graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules, these functors respect the  $\mathcal{R}$ -module structure, and the induced functors commute in the obvious way with the functors  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^A$ , and with the shift-of-grading functors. The properties of the functors constructed in this way, which follow directly from the results of §§3.6–3.7, are recorded in the following lemma.

## Lemma 6.1. The functors

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}, \operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A} &: \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \to \operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}), \\ \operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A} &: \operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \to \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}), \\ \xi_{A}^{!}, \xi_{A}^{*} &: \operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \to \operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \end{aligned}$$

are exact, and send finitely generated, resp. finite-length,  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules to finitely generated, resp. finite-length,  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. Moreover, we have adjoint pairs

$$(\mathbf{A}\mathbf{v}_{\psi}^A,\mathbf{A}\mathbf{v}_*^A),\quad (\mathbf{A}\mathbf{v}_!^A,\mathbf{A}\mathbf{v}_{\psi}^A),\quad and\quad (\xi_A^!,\xi_A^*),$$

and an isomorphism  $\xi_A^! \cong \xi_A^*$ .

In view of the last claim in this lemma, we will sometimes write  $\xi_A$  for  $\xi_A^!$  or  $\xi_A^*$ , and will write  $\xi_s$  for  $\xi_{\{s\}}$   $(s \in S_{\text{aff}})$ .

Remark 6.2. As in Remark 3.7, it is likely that the functors  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}$  and  $\operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}$  are isomorphic. At least, as in Remark 3.11, for any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\operatorname{ext}}$  we have

$$\operatorname{Av}^A_!(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^A_w) \cong \operatorname{Av}^A_*(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^A_w).$$

As a consequence, if we denote by  $[\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}]$  and  $[\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}]$  the Grothendieck groups of the (abelian, finite length) categories  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$  and  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$ , and by

$$[\operatorname{Av}^A_!],[\operatorname{Av}^A_*]:[\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}]\to [\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}]$$

the maps induced by  $Av_!^A$  and  $Av_*^A$  on Grothendieck groups, we have  $[Av_!^A] = [Av_*^A]$ .

**Lemma 6.3.** (1) For any  $w \in W_{ext}$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}) \cong \begin{cases} \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A} & \text{if } w \in {}^{A}W_{\operatorname{ext}}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

(2) For any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and any  $v \in W_{A}$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{vw}) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^{A}_{w}.$$

(3) Choose an enumeration  $x_1, \ldots, x_r$  of  $W_A$  which refines the Bruhat order (so that necessarily  $x_1 = e$  and  $x_r = w_A$ ). For  $w \in {}^AW_{\text{ext}}$ , the object  $\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w)$  admits a filtration with successive subquotients  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x_1w}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x_2w}, \ldots, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x_{rw}}$ .

*Proof.* The claims are consequences of the behavior of the functors  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}$  and  $\operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}$  on simple and costandard perverse sheaves (see [AR3, Lemma 3.3] and the proof of Corollary 3.17(2)) and the fact that for any  $\lambda$  large enough,  $wt_{\mu-\lambda}$  is the unique minimal element (for the Bruhat order) in  $W_{A}wt_{\mu-\lambda}$  (see Remark 2.6).

6.2. Some perverse sheaves arising from the big tilting object on the finite-dimensional flag variety. The considerations in this subsection are closely related to those in [BGMRR, §4.1]; however, for the reader's convenience we will repeat the required proofs.

The "big tilting object," denoted by S, is defined to be the unique indecomposable tilting perverse sheaf in  $\mathsf{Perv}_U(G/B)$  with full support. (Here, "S" stands for Soergel, who studied a representation-theoretic incarnation of this object.) We will review one approach to constructing S (following [BY] in a characteristic-0 setting, and [AR1] or [BR, Lemma 10.1] for general coefficients) that shows that this object is both the projective cover and the injective hull of the skyscraper sheaf at  $B/B \in G/B$ . Recall that  $\psi_S$  factors as a composition

$$I_{\mathbf{n}}^S \to U^+ \xrightarrow{\psi_+} \mathbb{G}_{\mathbf{a}},$$

where  $U^+$  is the "positive" unipotent subgroup of G (see [AR3, §3.4]). We can then set  $\mathcal{X}_+ = \psi_+^* AS$ , and consider the equivariant derived category  $D^b_{(U^+, \mathcal{X}_+)}(G/B, \mathbb{k})$ . The \*- and !-pushforwards of the unique  $(U^+, \mathcal{X}_+)$ -equivariant rank-1 local system on the orbit  $U^+B/B \subset G/B$  are canonically isomorphic, and will be denoted  $\Delta^+$ . We then have functors

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Av}^U_! : D^{\operatorname{b}}_{(U^+, \mathcal{X}_+)}(G/B, \Bbbk) &\to D^{\operatorname{b}}_U(G/B, \Bbbk), \\ \operatorname{Av}^U_* : D^{\operatorname{b}}_{(U^+, \mathcal{X}_+)}(G/B, \Bbbk) &\to D^{\operatorname{b}}_U(G/B, \Bbbk) \end{split}$$

defined as for  $Av_{!}^{S}$  and  $Av_{*}^{S}$ , and we have

$$S \cong Av_1^U(\Delta^+) \cong Av_*^U(\Delta^+).$$

Recall from [AR3, Lemma 2.5] that the elements  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$  such that  $ww_{\circ}$  has minimal length in  $Www_{\circ}$  are those of the form  $t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}$  with  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{++}$ . For such  $\lambda$ , we have described the geometry of  $\text{Gr}^{\lambda}$  in §3.3, and in particular considered a morphism  $p_{\lambda}: \text{Gr}^{\lambda} \to G/B$ . We set

$$S_{\lambda} := p_{\lambda}^* S[\dim(\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda}) - \dim(G/B)].$$

This is an  $I_{\rm u}$ -equivariant perverse sheaf on  ${\rm Gr}^{\lambda}$ . The following proposition describes some calculations one can carry out with  $\mathcal{S}_{\lambda}$ .

# Proposition 6.4. Let $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{++}$ .

(1) We have

$$j_!^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong (j_!^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\lambda - \varsigma}.$$

Moreover, this object has a standard filtration and a simple head, isomorphic to  $L_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}$ .

(2) We have

$$j_*^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong (j_*^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda - \varsigma}$$

Moreover, this object has a costandard filtration and a simple socle, isomorphic to  $L_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}$ .

(3) We have

$$j_1^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong j_{1*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong j_{*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}.$$

As a consequence, if  $\mathcal{I}_{1}^{\lambda-\varsigma} \cong \mathcal{I}_{*}^{\lambda-\varsigma}$ , then

$$j_1^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong j_*^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda},$$

and this object is an indecomposable tilting object, isomorphic to  $\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_n(\lambda)}}$ .

In view of (3), the isomorphisms in (1) and (2) can also be written as

$$(6.1) j_!^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong \mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\diamond}(\varsigma)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\lambda - \varsigma} \text{and} j_*^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong \mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\diamond}(\varsigma)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda - \varsigma}.$$

Note that if k has characteristic 0, then the condition in part (3) applies to all  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{++}$  (by semisimplicity of the Satake category in this case).

*Proof.* (1) The functors  $Av_!^U$  and  $Av_!^S$  have a counterpart for sheaves on  $Gr^{\lambda}$ , which will also be denoted  $Av_!^S$ ; then we have

$$\operatorname{Av}_{1}^{S} \circ j_{1}^{\lambda} \cong j_{1}^{\lambda} \circ \operatorname{Av}_{1}^{S}, \quad \operatorname{Av}_{1}^{S} \circ p_{\lambda}^{*} \cong p_{\lambda}^{*} \circ \operatorname{Av}_{1}^{U}.$$

Now consider the object  $\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{S},\mathcal{X}_{S})}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$ . From the definition we see that

$$\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S} = j_{!}^{\lambda}p_{\lambda}^{*}\Delta^{+}[\dim(\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda}) - \dim(G/B)];$$

we deduce that

(6.2) 
$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S}) \cong j_{!}^{\lambda}p_{\lambda}^{*}\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{U}(\Delta^{+})[\dim(\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda}) - \dim(G/B)] \cong j_{!}^{\lambda}\mathcal{S}_{\lambda}.$$

The claim that  $j_!^{\lambda} S_{\lambda}$  admits a standard filtration is immediate from the fact that  $S_{\lambda}$  admits a standard filtration. Alternatively, it is a consequence of the isomorphism above and Lemma 3.6(1).

Next, for any  $\mathcal{F}$  in Perv<sub>L</sub> (Gr,  $\mathbb{k}$ ), by adjunction we have

$$(6.3) \quad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathfrak{U}}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})}(\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S}), \mathcal{F}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{S}, \mathcal{X}_{S})}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S}, \operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{S}(\mathcal{F})).$$

In case  $\mathcal{F}$  is simple, the explicit description of  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{S}(\mathcal{F})$  given in [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)] shows that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\diamond}}^{S}),\mathcal{F})=0$$

unless  $\mathcal{F} \cong \mathsf{L}_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}$ , in which case this space is 1-dimensional. We deduce that  $\mathrm{Av}_{!}^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S}) \cong j_{!}^{\lambda}\mathcal{S}_{\lambda}$  has a simple head, isomorphic to  $\mathsf{L}_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}$ .

Finally, recall from [BGMRR, p. 723] that we have

$$\Delta^{S}_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}} \cong \Delta^{S}_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\lambda-\varsigma}_{!}.$$

Since  $\operatorname{Av}_!^S$  commutes with convolution on the right by objects of  $\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , we see that

$$j_!^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong \operatorname{Av}_!^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}}^{S}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\lambda-\varsigma} \cong j_!^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\lambda-\varsigma},$$

which finishes the proof.

(2) The proof is very similar and will be omitted.

(3) Since  $t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$  is minimal in  ${}^SW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , we have  $\Delta^S_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}}\cong \mathsf{L}^S_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}}$ . Using [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)] again, we deduce that

$$\Delta_{t_\varsigma w_\circ}^S \cong \operatorname{Av}_\psi^S(\mathsf{L}_{t_\varsigma w_\circ}).$$

In view of (6.2), it follows that

$$j_!^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong \operatorname{Av}_!^S(\Delta_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\varsigma}}^S) \cong \xi_S(\mathsf{L}_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\varsigma}}).$$

Similar (dual) considerations show that  $j_*^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong \operatorname{Av}_*^S(\nabla_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\varsigma}}^S) \cong \xi_S(\mathsf{L}_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\varsigma}})$ , and hence

$$j_1^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong j_*^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}.$$

It is then clear that these objects are also isomorphic to  $j_{1}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}$ .

Finally, let us assume that  $\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\lambda-\varsigma}\cong\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\lambda-\varsigma}$ . Then from parts (1) and (2) we deduce that  $j_1^{\lambda} S_{\lambda} \cong j_*^{\lambda} S_{\lambda}$ , and that this object is tilting. Its support is clearly  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda} = \overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{t_{w_0(\lambda)}}}$ , and it is indecomposable because it has a simple head (and a simple socle). It must therefore be isomorphic to  $\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_0(\lambda)}}$ . 

We extract the following observations from the calculations in the preceding proof.

## Proposition 6.5. Let $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_{++}$ .

(1) If  $\mathbb{k}$  has characteristic 0, then in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_n}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , the object

$$j_!^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong j_*^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda} \cong \mathsf{T}_{t_{w_0(\lambda)}}$$

is both projective and injective. (2) In  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , the object  $\Phi(j_{!}^{\lambda}\mathcal{S}_{\lambda})$  is projective, and the object  $\Phi(j_{*}^{\lambda}\mathcal{S}_{\lambda})$  is injective.

*Proof.* (1) Under our assumption the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_s^S,\mathcal{X}_s)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  is semisimple by [BGMRR, Corollary 3.6]. Then, since  $Av_{\psi}^{S}$  is exact, so is the right-hand side of (6.3) (as a functor of  $\mathcal{F}$ ). The left-hand side is therefore also exact, which shows that  $\operatorname{Av}_!^S(\Delta^S_{t_\lambda w_\circ}) \cong j_!^\lambda S_\lambda$  is projective. Dual arguments show that this object is also injective.

(2) The proof is similar to that of (1), using the following  $\mathcal{R}$ -module analogue of (6.3):

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi(\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S})), \mathcal{F}) &\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{S}(\Phi^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S})), \mathcal{F}) \\ &\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{S}^{S},\mathcal{X}_{S})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{S}(\Delta_{t_{\lambda}w_{\circ}}^{S}), \operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{S}(\mathcal{F})). \end{aligned}$$

By Lemma 6.1 and Proposition 5.7 the right-hand side is an exact functor of  $\mathcal{F}$ , so that the object  $\Phi(\operatorname{Av}_!^S(\Delta_{t_\lambda w_\alpha}^S)) \cong \Phi(j_!^\lambda S_\lambda)$  is projective. Dual arguments apply to  $\Phi(j_*^{\lambda}\mathcal{S}_{\lambda}).$ 

6.3. Wall-crossing functors and objects arising from S. In the statement of the following lemma we use the fact that any element in  $W_{\text{ext}}^{S}$  can be written as a product  $xt_{-\mu}$  where  $x \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , see (2.3).

**Lemma 6.6.** Let  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ , and write  $w = xt_{w_{\circ}(\mu-\varsigma)}$  with  $x \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_{++}$ . Let  $y = t_s w_o x^{-1}$ , and choose a reduced expression  $y = \omega s_1 \cdots s_r$  with  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $s_1,\ldots,s_r\in S_{\mathrm{aff}}$ .

(1) We have  $yw = t_{\mu}w_{\circ}$  and  $yw^{\triangle} = t_{w_{\circ}(\mu)}$ , and moreover

$$\ell(yw) = \ell(y) + \ell(w), \qquad \ell(yw^{\triangle}) = \ell(w^{\triangle}) - \ell(y).$$

- (2) The object  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu})$  is supported on  $\overline{Gr_{w^{\triangle}}}$ , and admits  $L_{w^{\triangle}}$ as a composition factor with multiplicity 1. Moreover, this object admits a standard filtration in which  $\Delta_w$  occurs with multiplicity 1, and  $L_w$  is a direct summand of its head with multiplicity 1.
- (3) The object  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (j_*^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu})$  is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{w^{\triangle}}}$ , and admits  $\mathsf{L}_{w^{\triangle}}$  as a composition factor with multiplicity 1. Moreover, this object admits a costandard filtration in which  $\nabla_w$  occurs with multiplicity 1, and  $L_w$  is a direct summand of its socle with multiplicity 1.
- (4) If  $j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu} \cong j_*^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu}$ , then  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu})$  is tilting, and contains  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$  as a direct summand with multiplicity 1.

*Proof.* (1) The fact that  $yw = t_{\mu}w_{0}$  is immediate from the definitions, and then

$$y^{-1}t_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)} = xw_{\diamond}t_{-\varsigma}t_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)} = wt_{w_{\diamond}(\varsigma-\mu)}w_{\diamond}t_{-\varsigma}t_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)} = wt_{-w_{\diamond}(\mu)}w_{\diamond}t_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)} = w^{\triangle}.$$

(Observe that  $w^{-1}(\mathfrak{A}_{\text{fund}}) \subset \Pi_{-w_{\circ}(\mu)}$ .) Using (2.1) for the first two equalities, then Lemma 2.2, and finally [AR3, Lemma 2.7] and the fact that  $\ell(t_{\mu-\varsigma}) = \ell(t_{w_{\varsigma}(\mu-\varsigma)})$ , we see that

$$\ell(yw) = \ell(t_{\mu}) - \ell(w_{\circ}) = \ell(t_{\mu-\varsigma}) + \ell(t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}) = \ell(t_{\mu-\varsigma}) + \ell(x) + \ell(y) = \ell(w) + \ell(y).$$

Finally, we have

$$\ell(w^{\triangle}) = \ell(xw_{\diamond}t_{-\varsigma}t_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)}) = \ell(xw_{\diamond}t_{-\varsigma}) + \ell(t_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)}) = \ell(y) + \ell(t_{w_{\diamond}(\mu)}),$$

where we use [AR3, Lemma 2.7] for the second equality, after noticing that  $xw_{\circ}t_{-\varsigma} \in$ 

 $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}}$  since  $t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}x^{-1}(A_{\mathrm{fund}}) \subset t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}(\Pi_{\varsigma}) = \Pi_{\varsigma}$ . (2) Note that  $yw \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$  (see e.g. [AR3, Lemma 2.5]). By Lemma 3.15, the objects

$$\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\mathsf{L}_w)$$
 and  $\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\nabla_w)$ 

are supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{t_{\mu}w_{\circ}}}$  and have  $\mathsf{L}_{t_{\mu}w_{\circ}}$  as a composition factor with multiplicity 1. Now,  $\mathrm{Gr}_{t_{\mu}w_{\circ}}$  in the unique closed *I*-orbit in  $\mathrm{Gr}^{\mu}$ ; it follows that

$$\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\mathsf{L}_w)_{|\mathrm{Gr}^{\mu}}\cong\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\nabla_w)_{|\mathrm{Gr}^{\mu}}\cong\underline{\Bbbk}_{\mathrm{Gr}_{t_{\mu}w_0}}[\ell(t_{\mu}w_{\circ})].$$

By definition of  $S_{\mu}$  and full faithfulness of  $p_{\mu}^*(-)[\dim(\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda})-\dim(G/B)]$  on perverse sheaves (since  $p_{\mu}$  is smooth with connected fibers), we deduce that

(6.4) 
$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(j_1^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu}, \xi_{\omega} \xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r}(\mathsf{L}_w)) =$$

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(j_1^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu}, \xi_{\omega} \xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r}(\nabla_w)) = 1.$$

By adjunction, it follows that

(6.5) 
$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(j_1^{\mu} S_{\mu}), \mathsf{L}_w) =$$

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu}), \nabla_w) = 1.$$

Thus,  $L_w$  occurs in the head of  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (j_1^{\mu} S_{\mu})$  with multiplicity 1. By Proposition 6.4(1),  $j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu}$  admits a standard filtration; in view of Lemma 3.8 and (3.9) this implies that  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu})$  admits a standard filtration. The dimension calculation above shows that  $\Delta_w$  occurs in this standard filtration with multiplicity 1. Finally, invoke Lemma 3.15 again to conclude that our perverse sheaf is supported on  $Gr_{w^{\triangle}}$  and admits  $L_{w^{\triangle}}$  as a composition factor with multiplicity 1.

- (3) The proof is similar (more specifically, dual) to that of part (2).
- (4) If  $j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu} \cong j_*^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu}$ , then (2) and (3) imply that  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu})$  is tilting, and that this perverse sheaf is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{w^{\triangle}}}$  and admits  $\mathsf{L}_{w^{\triangle}}$  as a composition factor with multiplicity 1. It follows that  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (j_!^{\mu} \mathcal{S}_{\mu})$  admits  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$  as a direct summand, with multiplicity 1.

For later use we note the following corollary of Lemma 6.6.

**Lemma 6.7.** Let  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ , and let  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ . The object  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\mu}$  admits a standard filtration, and the object  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{\mu}$  admits a costandard filtration.

*Proof.* We will prove the claim for  $\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\mu}$ ; the other case is similar. Let  $y=t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}w^{-1}$ , and choose a reduced expression  $y=\omega s_{1}\cdots s_{r}$  as in Lemma 6.6. Let  $\lambda=\mu+\varsigma\in\mathbf{Y}_{++}$ . By Proposition 6.4(3) and Lemma 6.6(4) (applied with  $\mu=\varsigma$ ),  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$  is a direct summand of  $\xi_{s_{r}}\cdots\xi_{s_{1}}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}}(\varsigma)})$ ; hence to prove the claim it is enough to show that the object

$$\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\diamond}(\varsigma)}}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\mu} \cong \xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\diamond}(\varsigma)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_!^{\lambda - \varsigma}) 
\stackrel{(6.1)}{\cong} \xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (j_!^{\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\lambda}).$$

admits a standard filtration. This claim holds by Proposition 6.4(1) together with Lemma 3.8 and (3.9).

6.4. Baby co-Verma modules are finitely generated. Our next task is to prove that each  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}$  is finitely generated, as stated in the following proposition.

**Proposition 6.8.** The object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{iA}$  belongs to  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 6.3(2) and Lemma 6.1, it is enough prove this proposition in the special case where  $A = \emptyset$ . We assume this from now on. Furthermore, in view of (5.14), we may assume that  $w \in W$ . Using the formalism of the free-monodromic completion from [BY, BR] one can construct a canonical triangulated functor

$$\mathscr{D}_w\,\widetilde{\star}\,(-):D^{\mathrm{b}}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)\to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)$$

such that the diagram

$$D_{I}^{b}(Gr, \mathbb{k}) \xrightarrow{\mathscr{D}_{w} \star^{I}(-)} D_{I}^{b}(Gr, \mathbb{k})$$

$$\text{For}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{I} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \text{For}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{I}$$

$$D_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{b}(Gr, \mathbb{k}) \xrightarrow{\mathscr{D}_{w} \, \widetilde{\star} \, (-)} D_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}^{b}(Gr, \mathbb{k})$$

commutes. We consider the complex  $\mathscr{D}_w \,\widetilde{\star} \, j_{!*}^\varsigma \mathcal{S}_\varsigma$ . Here  $j_{!*}^\varsigma \mathcal{S}_\varsigma$  admits a costandard filtration (see Proposition 6.4). By Lemma 3.1 the convolution of a standard and a costandard perverse sheaf is perverse; our complex is therefore a perverse sheaf. We will construct a surjection

(6.6) 
$$\Phi(\mathscr{D}_w \,\widetilde{\star} \, j_{*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}) \langle w_{\circ}(\varsigma) \rangle \to \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w,$$

which will prove the proposition.

By Lemma 5.1 we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{v}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi(\mathscr{D}_{w}\,\widetilde{\star}\,j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})\langle w_{\circ}(\varsigma)\rangle,\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{D}_{w}\,\widetilde{\star}\,j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma},(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w})_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}).$$

Now since  $j_{!*}^{\varsigma} S_{\varsigma}$  is tilting and supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}}$  there is a canonical surjection

$$j_{!*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \to \nabla_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}$$

whose kernel admits a costandard filtration, and which therefore induces a surjection

$$\mathscr{D}_w \, \widetilde{\star} \, j_{!*}^\varsigma \mathcal{S}_\varsigma \to \mathscr{D}_w \, \widetilde{\star} \, \nabla_{t_{w_\diamond(\varsigma)}} \cong \mathscr{D}_w \, \star^I \, \nabla_{t_{w_\diamond(\varsigma)}} \cong \nabla_{wt_{w_\diamond(\varsigma)}}$$

in view of Lemma 3.1. (Note that  $\ell(wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}) = \ell(t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}) - \ell(w)$ .) There is also a canonical morphism

$$\nabla_{wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}} \to \text{``} \varinjlim \text{``} \nabla_{wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)+w_{\circ}(\lambda)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} = (\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w})_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)},$$

which provides the desired map (6.6).

Now for any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have

$$\begin{split} \left( \Phi(\mathscr{D}_{w} \,\widetilde{\star} \, j_{!*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}) \langle w_{\circ}(\varsigma) \rangle \right)_{\mu} &= \left( \mathscr{D}_{w} \,\widetilde{\star} \, j_{!*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \right) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu - w_{\circ}(\varsigma)} \\ &= \text{``} \varinjlim_{\lambda} \text{'`} \mathscr{D}_{w} \,\widetilde{\star} \left( j_{!*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \, \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda - \varsigma} \right) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} \\ &\cong \text{``} \varinjlim_{\lambda} \text{'`} \mathscr{D}_{w} \,\widetilde{\star} \, j_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \mathcal{S}_{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} \end{split}$$

by Proposition 6.4. As in the case of  $j_{!*}^{\varsigma} S_{\varsigma}$ , for any  $\lambda \in -w_{\circ}(\mu) + \mathbf{Y}_{++}$  we have a canonical surjection

(6.7) 
$$\mathscr{D}_{w} \, \widetilde{\star} \, j_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \, \mathcal{S}_{w_{\circ}(\mu) + \lambda} \, \twoheadrightarrow \, \mathscr{D}_{w} \, \widetilde{\star} \, \nabla_{t_{\mu + w_{\circ}(\lambda)}} \cong \nabla_{wt_{\mu + w_{\circ}(\lambda)}},$$

and these morphisms induce (6.6). It follows that this morphism is surjective, as desired.

Corollary 6.9. For any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  the object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}^{A}$  has finite length and a simple socle, isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$ . In particular,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}^{A}$  is indecomposable.

*Proof.* The finite-length property is immediate from Proposition 6.8 and (5.9). The description of its socle follows from Lemma 5.12.

6.5. Baby co-Verma filtrations. We will say that an object  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration if it admits a finite filtration whose subquotients are isomorphic to baby co-Verma modules.

**Lemma 6.10.** The object  $\Phi(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration with  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}$  at the bottom,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}$  at the top, and other subquotients of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}$  with  $w \in W \setminus \{e, w_{\circ}\}$ , each appearing once.

*Proof.* As in the proof of Proposition 6.8, for any  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have

$$\begin{split} \Phi(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})_{\mu} &= \lim_{\stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\lambda}} j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)} \\ &\cong \lim_{\stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\lambda}} j_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda+\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda+\varsigma} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}. \end{split}$$

Now the perverse sheaf  $j_*^{w_\circ(\mu)+\lambda+\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{w_\circ(\mu)+\lambda+\varsigma}$  admits a filtration with subquotients of the form  $\nabla_{wt_{\mu+w_\circ(\lambda)+w_\circ(\varsigma)}}$  with  $w \in W$ , each appearing once, with the case  $w=w_\circ$  (corresponding to the closed stratum on G/B) at the bottom and the case w=e (corresponding to the open stratum on G/B) at the top. These filtrations are

compatible in a natural way with the transition morphisms in the inductive system, and therefore provide a filtration of  $\Phi(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})_{\mu}$  whose subquotients are isomorphic to

$$\text{``} \varinjlim_{\lambda} \text{``} \nabla_{wt_{\mu+w_{\circ}(\lambda)+w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}_{*} = (\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}})_{\mu}$$

(for  $w \in W$ ). One can check that this collection of filtrations is also compatible with the  $\mathcal{R}$ -actions, and therefore provides a filtration of  $\Phi(j_{!*}^\varsigma \mathcal{S}_\varsigma)$  with subquotients  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{wt_{w,\varsigma(\varsigma)}}$  for  $w \in W$ ; in particular, this object admits a baby co-Verma filtration.  $\square$ 

**Lemma 6.11.** For any  $w \in W_{ext}$ , we have

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}),\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } w = yt_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \text{ for some } y \in W; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 5.1 we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}),\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}) \cong \varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}, \nabla_{wt_{w_{\circ}(\lambda)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}).$$

Now by (3.3) and Proposition 6.4, for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$  such that  $wt_{w_0(\lambda)} \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \Bbbk)}(j_{!*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}, \nabla_{wt_{w_{\diamond}(\lambda)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\diamond}(\lambda)}) \\ & \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \Bbbk)}((j_{!*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{\lambda}, \nabla_{wt_{w_{\diamond}(\lambda)}}) \\ & \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}(\operatorname{Gr}, \Bbbk)}(j_{!}^{\varsigma+\lambda} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma+\lambda}, \nabla_{wt_{w_{\diamond}(\lambda)}}). \end{aligned}$$

Here  $j_!^{\varsigma+\lambda}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma+\lambda}$  admits a standard filtration, with subquotients  $\Delta_{yt_{\varsigma+\lambda}w_{\circ}}$  for  $y \in W$  (each appearing once). Hence our space is 1-dimensional if w is of the form  $yt_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$  for some  $y \in W$ , and vanishes otherwise. All the transition morphisms in our inductive limit are isomorphisms. The lemma follows.

We now study the behavior of wall-crossing functors with respect to baby co-Verma filtrations.

**Lemma 6.12.** (1) For any  $s \in S_{aff}$ , the functor

$$\xi_s: \operatorname{mod}_{I_n}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \to \operatorname{mod}_{I_n}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$$

sends objects admitting baby co-Verma filtrations to objects admitting baby co-Verma filtrations. More specifically, if  $w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , then if  $sw \leq w$  we have an exact sequence

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{sw} \hookrightarrow \xi_s(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w) \twoheadrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w,$$

and if  $w \leq sw$  we have an exact sequence

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w \hookrightarrow \xi_s(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w) \twoheadrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{sw}.$$

(2) For any  $\omega \in \Omega$ , the functor

$$\xi_{\omega}: \operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathfrak{n}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \to \operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathfrak{n}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$$

sends objects admitting baby co-Verma filtrations to objects admitting baby co-Verma filtrations. More specifically, if  $w \in W_{\rm ext}$ , then

$$\xi_{\omega}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{\omega w}.$$

*Proof.* (1) By Lemma 2.5(1) and exactness of  $\xi_s$  (see Lemma 6.1) it suffices to prove the second claim, which follows from Lemma 6.3(2)–(3).

(2) The proof is similar to that of (1), using (3.9).

#### 7. Projectives and injectives

In this section, we will prove that  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is an abelian category with enough projectives and injectives, that the projective and injective objects coincide and arise as direct summands of free  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules associated with certain tilting perverse sheaves, and finally that the embedding  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \subset \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$  is an equality.

In the special case where k has characteristic 0, we will see (by nearly identical arguments) that  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathsf{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},k)$  also has enough projectives and injectives, and that these coincide with certain tilting objects.

7.1. Projective and injective perverse sheaves. We start with the case of  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  (for characteristic-0 coefficients).

**Theorem 7.1.** Assume that  $\mathbb{k}$  has characteristic 0. The category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  has enough projectives and enough injectives. Specifically, for any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , we have  $w_A w^{\triangle} \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , and the projective cover and the injective hull of  $\mathsf{L}^A_w$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  are both isomorphic to the tilting object  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_A w^{\triangle}}$ .

Note that this statement implies that *all* projective objects in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  are also injective and tilting. Dually, all injective objects are projective and tilting. (However, there may be tilting objects that are not projective nor injective.)

*Proof.* We break the proof up into two cases as follows.

Case 1.  $A=\varnothing$ . We wish to show that for  $w\in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , the object  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$  is both the projective cover and the injective envelope of  $\mathsf{L}_w$ . Write  $w=xt_{w_{\Diamond}(\mu-\varsigma)}$  as in Lemma 6.6. By Proposition 6.5(1),  $\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\mu)}}$  is both projective and injective. Since they have exact left and right adjoints, the functors  $\xi_{s_1},\ldots,\xi_{s_r},\xi_{\omega}$  send projectives to projectives, and injectives to injectives. Thus, the perverse sheaf  $\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\mu)}})$  is both projective and injective. Lemma 6.6 then implies that  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_n}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  has enough projectives and injectives.

More specifically, let  $\mathsf{P}_w$  be the projective cover of  $\mathsf{L}_w$ . By the construction described above, this object is a direct summand of  $\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_\circ(\mu)}})$ . The latter object is tilting by Lemma 3.8 and (3.10), and its support is contained in  $\overline{\mathsf{Gr}_{w^\triangle}}$  by Lemma 6.6. Hence  $\mathsf{P}_w$  is isomorphic to  $\mathsf{T}_y$  for some  $y\in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  such that  $y\leq w^\triangle$ , and to show that  $\mathsf{P}_w\cong \mathsf{T}_{w^\triangle}$  it is enough to show that  $(\mathsf{P}_w)_{|\mathsf{Gr}_{w^\triangle}}\neq 0$ , which in turn is equivalent to the claim that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{P}_w, \nabla_{w^{\triangle}}) \neq 0.$$

However the left-hand side has dimension  $[\nabla_{w^{\triangle}}:\mathsf{L}_w]=[\Delta_{w^{\triangle}}:\mathsf{L}_w]$ , which is equal to 1 by (3.6); this proves that  $\mathsf{P}_w\cong\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$ .

Finally, the injective hull of  $L_w$  is the Verdier dual of  $P_w$ , which is isomorphic to  $T_{w^{\triangle}}$  since every tilting object is Verdier self-dual.

Case 2.  $A \neq \varnothing$ . For any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have  $\mathrm{Av}_{\psi}^A(\mathsf{L}_w) \cong \mathsf{L}_w^A$  by [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)], and the functor  $\mathrm{Av}_{\psi}^A$  is exact (see §3.6). Hence from the surjection  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}} \to \mathsf{L}_w$  and the embedding  $\mathsf{L}_w \hookrightarrow \mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$  obtained in Case 1 we deduce a

surjection and an embedding

$$\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}) \twoheadrightarrow \mathsf{L}_{w}^{A}, \qquad \mathsf{L}_{w}^{A} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}).$$

Since  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^A$  has exact left and right adjoints (see §3.6), it sends projective, resp. injective, objects to projective, resp. injective, objects. This already implies that  $\operatorname{Perv}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)$  has enough projectives and enough injectives, and that an object is projective if and only if it is injective; these objects are therefore tilting. Using Verdier duality (see Remark 3.3) we see that for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$  the projective cover of  $\mathsf{L}_w^A$  is also its injective envelope. We now need to determine the label of this object (as an indecomposable tilting object). Fix  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$ , and denote this label by y.

By adjunction and [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)], the object  $\operatorname{Av}_!^A(\mathsf{T}_y^A)$  is the projective cover of  $\mathsf{L}_w$ , so that we have

$$\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{u}^{A}) \cong \mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$$

by Case 1. Now, by Proposition 3.12 the left-hand side is isomorphic to  $\mathsf{T}_{w_A y}$ , so that  $w_A y = w^{\triangle}$ , which finishes the proof.

- Remark 7.2. (1) In the course of the proof of Theorem 7.1 we have proved that for any  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\rm ext}$ , we have  $w_Aw^{\triangle} \in {}^AW^S_{\rm ext}$ . By definition of  ${}^AW_{\rm ext}$  (see §2.4) and (2.4), it then follows that for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\rm ext}$  we have  $w_Aw^{\triangle} \in {}^AW_{\rm ext}$ .
  - (2) In case char( $\mathbb{k}$ ) > 0, and if G is not a torus, the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  does not have any nonzero projective or injective object. In fact, using Verdier duality it suffices to prove this claim for projective objects, and using Remark 3.5 one can assume  $A = \emptyset$ . In this case, if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a nonzero projective object and if  $\mathsf{L}_w$  is a simple quotient of  $\mathcal{P}$ , if  $\omega, s_1, \ldots, s_r$  are as in Lemma 6.6, then  $\mathcal{P}' := \xi_\omega \xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r}(\mathcal{P})$  is a projective object surjecting to  $\xi_\omega \xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r}(\mathsf{L}_w)$ . Then  $\mathsf{Av}_\psi^S(\mathcal{P}')$  is a projective object in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^S_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_S)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  surjecting to the object  $\mathsf{Av}_\psi^S(\xi_\omega \xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r}(\mathsf{L}_w))$ , which is nonzero by Lemmas 6.6(1) and 3.15 combined with [AR3, Lemmas 2.5 and 3.3(4)]. Now as explained in the proof of Proposition 5.7 we have  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^S_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_S)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k}) \cong \mathsf{Rep}(G^\vee_\mathbb{k})$ ; the category  $\mathsf{Rep}(G^\vee_\mathbb{k})$  therefore possesses a nonzero projective object. Using [Ja, Lemma I.4.17] one sees that this object is projective in the category of all algebraic  $G^\vee_\mathbb{k}$ -modules, which is impossible by the main result of [D3].

We now drop the assumption that k has characteristic 0, and come back to the setting of arbitrary coefficients.

Corollary 7.3. For any  $w \in {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$ , the object  $\mathsf{L}^A_w$  occurs in both the head and socle of  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$  with multiplicity 1.

*Proof.* When k has characteristic 0, this claim is already part of Theorem 7.1. We must now treat the case when k is finite. (This case will imply the case when k is an algebraic closure of a finite field.)

First, assume that  $A = \emptyset$ , and continue with the notation from the proof of Lemma 6.6 (for  $\mu = \zeta$ , so that w = x). Recall that  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$  is a direct summand of  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\zeta)}})$ . The dimension calculation in (6.5) shows that  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\zeta)}})$  admits exactly one direct summand admitting a nonzero map to  $\nabla_w$ , and that this map is unique up to scalar and factors through the socle

 $\mathsf{L}_w$  of  $\nabla_w$ . Hence to prove that  $\mathsf{L}_w$  occurs in the head of  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$  it suffices to prove that

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}, \nabla_w) \geq 1;$$

then we will know that the multiplicity of  $\mathsf{L}_w$  in the head of  $\mathsf{T}_{w^\triangle}$  is exactly one, and since  $\mathsf{T}_{w^\triangle}$  is Verdier self-dual the claim about its socle will also follow. Of course,  $\dim \mathrm{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{w^\triangle}, \mathsf{\nabla}_w)$  is the multiplicity of  $\Delta_w$  in any standard filtration of  $\mathsf{T}_{w^\triangle}$ , denoted by  $(\mathsf{T}_{w^\triangle}:\Delta_w)$ ; the statement we wish to prove is therefore equivalent to the claim that

$$(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}:\Delta_w)\geq 1.$$

Let us consider a finite extension  $\mathbb{K}$  of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$  whose ring of integers admits  $\mathbb{k}$  as residue field, and adopt the notation of Lemma 3.4. By that lemma we have

$$(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}^{\Bbbk}:\Delta_{w}^{\Bbbk}) \geq (\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}^{\mathbb{K}}:\Delta_{w}^{\mathbb{K}}).$$

By the characteristic-0 version of the corollary (which, as explained above, is already known) the right-hand side is at least 1, which proves the desired inequality.

For a general A, one observes that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle},\mathsf{L}^A_w)\cong\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle},\operatorname{Av}^A_\psi(\mathsf{L}_w))\cong\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Av}^A_!(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}),\mathsf{L}_w)$$

by [AR3, Lemma 3.3(4)] and adjunction. Using Proposition 3.12 we deduce that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}^{A}_{w^{\Delta}w^{\triangle}},\mathsf{L}^{A}_{w}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}},\mathsf{L}_{w}),$$

and the right-hand side is of dimension 1 by the case  $A = \emptyset$ . (Note that  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ .) One shows similarly that  $\text{Hom}(\mathsf{L}_w^A,\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw^\triangle}^A)$  is 1-dimensional, which finishes the proof.

7.2. **Projective and injective**  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. We now study projective and injective objects in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . In this setting, the replacement of the property of admitting a costandard filtration will be the existence of a baby co-Verma filtration. (The replacement for standard filtrations will be introduced later, in Section 9.) We start by constructing an "explicit" family of projective and injective objects, in the special case  $A = \emptyset$ , based on Proposition 6.5(2).

**Proposition 7.4.** For any  $x \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , there exists an object in  $\text{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  with the following properties:

- (1) It is both projective and injective as an object of  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_n}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$ .
- (2) It admits  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x$  as both a subobject and a quotient.
- (3) It admits a baby co-Verma filtration with  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_x$  at the bottom,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x^{\triangle}}$  at the top, and all other subquotients of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_z$  with  $x \prec z \prec x^{\triangle}$ .

*Proof.* By periodicity (see in particular (5.7) and (5.14)), it suffices to prove this proposition in the case where  $x \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ . We assume this from now on. As in Lemma 6.6, set  $y = t_{\varsigma} w_{\circ} x^{-1}$ , and choose a reduced expression  $y = \omega s_1 \cdots s_r$  (with each  $s_i$  in  $S_{\text{aff}}$ , and  $\omega \in \Omega$ ). Lemma 6.6(1) implies that

$$(7.1) x \le s_r x \le s_{r-1} s_r x \le \dots \le s_1 \dots s_r x = \omega^{-1} t_{\varsigma} w_{\varsigma}$$

and

$$(7.2) x^{\triangle} \ge s_r x^{\triangle} \ge s_{r-1} s_r x^{\triangle} \ge \dots \ge s_1 \dots s_r x^{\triangle} = \omega^{-1} t_{w_0(\varsigma)}.$$

All elements in these chains of inequalities belong to  $W_{\text{ext}}^S$  by [AR3, Lemma 2.2], so by Lemma 2.5(3) we also have the same chains of inequalities when the symbols  $\leq$  and  $\geq$  are replaced by  $\leq$  and  $\succeq$ , respectively.

Since the functors  $\xi_{s_1}, \ldots, \xi_{s_r}, \xi_{\omega^{-1}}$  are exact and have exact left and right adjoints (see Lemma 6.1), they send projectives to projectives and injectives to injectives. Applying Proposition 6.5(2) to

$$j_{!*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong \mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\mathfrak{a}}(\varsigma)}},$$

we see that the object

$$\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\alpha}(\varsigma)}}))\cong\Phi(\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\alpha}(\varsigma)}}))$$

is both projective and injective. Referring to Lemma 6.6 once again, we see that the perverse sheaf  $\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_0(\varsigma)}})$  contains  $\mathsf{L}_x$  in its head and socle, so applying the (faithful) functor  $\Phi$  (see §5.4) yields nonzero maps

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x \to \Phi(\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_0(\varsigma)}})), \qquad \Phi(\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_0(\varsigma)}})) \to \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x,$$

which must be injective and surjective respectively by simplicity of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x$ .

Finally, by Lemma 6.10, the object  $\Phi(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration with  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}}$  at the bottom,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}} = \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{(t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ})^{\triangle}}$  at the top, and the other subquotients of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}}$  with  $w \in W \setminus \{e, w_{\circ}\}$ . All the elements  $wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}$  belong to  $W^{S}_{\text{ext}}$ , and they satisfy  $t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \leq wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)} \leq (t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ})^{\triangle}$ , and hence

$$t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \leq wt_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)} \leq (t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ})^{\triangle}$$

by Lemma 2.5(3). Combining these observations with Lemma 6.12 and the chains of inequalities (7.1) and (7.2), we see that  $\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_o(\varsigma)}}))$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration with  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_x$  at the bottom,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x^\triangle}$  at the top, and with the other subquotients of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{y'wt_{w_o(\varsigma)}}$  with  $w\in W$  and  $y'\in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  such that  $y'\leq y^{-1}$  and  $y'wt_{w_o(\varsigma)}\notin\{x,x^\triangle\}$ . All these elements satisfy  $x\preceq y'wt_{w_o(\varsigma)}$  by Lemma 2.5(4), and  $y'wt_{w_o(\varsigma)}\preceq x^\triangle$  by Lemma 2.5(5), as desired.

Corollary 7.5. If  $w, x \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  satisfy  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] \neq 0$ , we have  $x \leq w \leq w_A x^{\triangle}$ . Moreover, we have  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_x'^A : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] = 1$  and  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A x^{\triangle}}'^A : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x] \leq 1$ .

*Proof.* We first treat the special case where  $A = \emptyset$ . In this case, we assume (by periodicity) that  $x \in W^{\text{res}}_{\text{ext}}$ , and we retain the notation from the proof of Proposition 7.4. Since  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_x$  is a quotient of the projective object  $\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\Phi(j_{!*}^\varsigma \mathcal{S}_\varsigma))$ , we have

$$[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x] \leq \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}}(\Phi(j_*^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})), \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w).$$

By adjunction we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}\Phi(j_{!*}^\varsigma\mathcal{S}_\varsigma),\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w')\cong\operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(j_{!*}^\varsigma\mathcal{S}_\varsigma),\xi_\omega\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w')).$$

By Lemma 6.12, the object  $\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\widehat{Z}'_w)$  has a baby co-Verma filtration, whose subquotients have the form  $\widehat{Z}'_{y'w}$  with  $y' \leq y$ ; moreover  $\widehat{Z}'_{yw}$  appears once in this filtration. By projectivity of  $\Phi(j_{1*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})$  and Lemma 6.11, we deduce that the space  $\operatorname{Hom}(\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}\Phi(j_{1*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}),\widehat{Z}'_w)$  vanishes unless

(7.3) 
$$y'w = zt_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$$
 for some  $z \in W$  and  $y' \in W_{\text{ext}}$  such that  $y' \leq y$ .

Here, we have  $t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \leq zt_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \leq t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}$ , and as in the proof of Proposition 7.4 we obtain using Lemma 2.5(4) that  $w = (y')^{-1}zt_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$  satisfies

$$x = y^{-1}t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \leq w = (y')^{-1}zt_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \leq y^{-1}t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)} = x^{\triangle}.$$

We have shown that  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x] \neq 0$  implies that  $x \leq w \leq x^{\triangle}$ .

Now let us take w=x. Lemma 6.6(1) implies that  $y'x \leq yx = t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$  for any  $y' \leq y$ , so condition (7.3) is satisfied only for y'=y and z=e. It follows that  $\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}\Phi(j_{!*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}),\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_x')=1$ , and hence that  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_x':\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x]\leq 1$ . Since we know that  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x$  is the socle of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_x'$  (see Corollary 6.9) this multiplicity is then equal to 1.

Finally, take  $w = x^{\triangle}$ . In this case, Lemma 6.6(1) implies that  $y'w \geq yx^{\triangle} = t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)} = w_{\circ}t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$  for any  $y' \leq y$ , so condition (7.3) is satisfied only for y' = y and  $z = w_{\circ}$ . As in the previous paragraph, we conclude that  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x^{\triangle}} : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x] \leq 1$ . This concludes the proof in the case where  $A = \varnothing$ .

Now suppose  $A \neq \emptyset$ , and let  $w, x \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ . By Lemma 6.3(1)-(2), we have

$$[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] = [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w' : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x] = [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w \, \Delta \, w}' : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x].$$

Using the  $A \neq \emptyset$  case of the corollary, we see that  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] \neq 0$  implies that  $x \preceq w$  and  $w_A w \preceq x^\triangle$ . Since  $w_A x^\triangle$  lies in  ${}^A W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  (see Remark 7.2(1)), Lemma 2.7 tells us that the latter condition is equivalent to  $w \preceq w_A x^\triangle$ . The claims that  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_x'^A:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] = 1$  and  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A x^\triangle}'^A:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] \leq 1$  likewise follow from the  $A = \emptyset$  case.

Remark 7.6. (1) We will see in Proposition 9.24 below that, in fact, in the setting of Corollary 7.5 we always have  $[\widehat{Z}'_{w_Ax^{\triangle}}^{A}:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x]=1$ .

(2) The information on composition factors in Corollary 7.5 implies that the family  $([\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^A_w])$ :  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  in the Grothendieck group  $[\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}}]$  is linearly independent. (This family is *not* a basis, however.) This implies that if  $\mathcal{M} \in \mathrm{Mod}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}}$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration, then the number  $(\mathcal{M}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^A_w)$  of occurrences of a given baby co-Verma module  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w$  in such a filtration is independent of the choice of filtration; in fact these numbers are determined by the equality

$$[\mathcal{M}] = \sum_{w \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}} (\mathcal{M} : \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w') \cdot [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w']$$

in  $\mathsf{K}^0(\mathrm{Mod}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}})$ . (Later, after we prove Theorem 7.9, we will be able to apply these comments to  $[\mathrm{mod}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})]$  instead.)

**Proposition 7.7.** For any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w}{}^{A}$  is the injective hull of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$  in the Serre subcategory of  $\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{u}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}}$  generated by the simple objects of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}^{A}$  with  $y \not\succ w$ .

*Proof.* Recall from Corollary 6.9 and Corollary 7.5 that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}$  is indecomposable; its socle is  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ ; and it belongs to the Serre subcategory described in the statement of the proposition. It remains to show that it is injective as an object of this subcategory. In other words, we must show that

$$\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A) = 0 \qquad \text{if } y \not\succ w.$$

Let us first treat the special case  $A = \emptyset$ . In this case, we can invoke Proposition 7.4 to find an injective object  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\text{flen}}$  such that there is an inclusion  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}$  whose cokernel  $\mathcal{M}'$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration by various  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_u$  with  $u \succ w$ . Since  $y \not\succ w$  by assumption, Lemma 5.12 tells us that  $\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_u) = 0$  for any  $u \succ w$ . It follows that  $\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y, \mathcal{M}') = 0$ . The exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y, \mathcal{M}') \to \operatorname{Ext}^1(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w') \to \operatorname{Ext}^1(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y, \mathcal{M}) \to \cdots$$

then shows that  $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\operatorname{Mod}_{I_u}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y,\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_w)=0.$ 

Now suppose that  $A \neq \emptyset$ . By Lemma 6.3(1) and adjunction we have

$$\operatorname{Ext}^1(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A,\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1(\operatorname{Av}_\psi^A(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y),\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y,\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A)).$$

On the right-hand side, by Lemma 6.3(3) the object  $\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})$  admits a filtration with successive subquotients the objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{vw}^{\prime}$  with  $v \in W_A$ . Using the  $A = \emptyset$  case proved above, we conclude that  $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\operatorname{Mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y,\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}))$  vanishes unless  $y \succ vw$  for such a v. Now we have  $w \preceq vw$  (see Remark 2.6), so that this condition implies that  $y \succ w$ .

Remark 7.8. Combining the information in Corollary 7.5 and Proposition 7.7, we obtain that  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y'^A, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A) = 0$  unless  $w \prec y$ . This implies that if an object  $\mathcal{M}$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration, and if we choose a numbering  $w_1, \ldots, w_n$  of the elements z such that  $(\mathcal{M}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_z') \neq 0$  (counted with multiplicities) such that  $w_i \prec w_j \Rightarrow i < j$ , then there exists a chain of embeddings

$$0 = \mathcal{M}_0 \subset \mathcal{M}_1 \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{M}_{n-1} \subset \mathcal{M}_n = \mathcal{M}$$

such that  $\mathcal{M}_i/\mathcal{M}_{i-1} \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_i}^{\prime A}$  for any  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

We can finally state and prove the main result of this section.

- **Theorem 7.9.** (1) The categories  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$  coincide, and this abelian category has enough projectives and enough injectives; moreover, an object is injective iff it is projective.
  - (2) For  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , let  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}^{A}$  denote the injective hull of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$ . Then  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}^{A}$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration with subquotients of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{y}^{\prime A}$  with  $y \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  which satisfies  $w \preceq y$ .
  - (3) For  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ , we have  $\operatorname{Av}_{\star}^{A}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}^{A}) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}$ .

Proof. (1) When  $A=\varnothing$ , Proposition 7.4 tells us that every simple object in  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\text{flen}}$  embeds in a finitely generated injective  $\mathcal{R}$ -module that is also projective, and is a quotient of a finitely generated projective  $\mathcal{R}$ -module that is also injective. For general A, because  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^A$  is exact and has exact left and right adjoints, it sends projectives to projectives and injectives to injectives. Given  $w \in {}^A W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , apply  $\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^A$  to a nonzero map  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}$  or  $\mathcal{M} \twoheadrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w$ , where  $\mathcal{M}$  is finitely generated, projective, and injective; we conclude that every  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  embeds in a finitely generated injective  $\mathcal{R}$ -module that is also projective, and is a quotient of a finitely generated projective  $\mathcal{R}$ -module that is also injective.

As a consequence,  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\text{flen}}$  has enough projectives and injectives, and these classes coincide and consist of finitely generated  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. In particular, every object of  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\text{flen}}$  is a quotient of a finitely generated module, which implies that  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) = \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})^{\text{flen}}$ .

(2) We will apply a kind of "highest weight" formalism developed in [BS]. (Note that  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is *not* a highest weight category in the sense considered in, for instance, [ACR, AR1, AR2], because the poset that governs it has no minimal element.)

All objects in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  have finite length, and by Lemma 5.9 all morphism spaces in this category are finite-dimensional; by [BS, Lemma 2.1], this category is therefore a "locally finite abelian category" in their terminology. By part (1), this category has enough injective and projective objects; hence by [BS, Corollary 2.20] it is an "essentially finite abelian category." Next, we define a "stratification" on this category in the sense of [BS, §3.1] with underlying poset ( ${}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}, \preceq$ ), and with the labeling of simple objects given by  $w \mapsto \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ . (The function " $\rho$ " of [BS, Definition 3.1] is therefore the identity map for this stratification.) This stratification is "essentially finite." Comparing Corollary 7.5 and Proposition 7.7 with [BS, Lemma 3.1] we see that for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  the baby co-Verma module  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{IA}$  is isomorphic to the objects denoted  $\nabla(w)$  and  $\overline{\nabla}(w)$  in [BS]. In view of [BS, Lemma 3.4], this implies that all the strata are "simple" in the terminology of [BS].

Next, we claim that condition  $(\widehat{IV})$  of [BS, Remark 3.6] holds. Translated into the language of the present paper, this condition says that for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , there exists an injective object admitting a baby co-Verma filtration with  $\widehat{Z}_w^{\prime A}$  at the bottom, and all other subquotients of the form  $\widehat{Z}_z^{\prime A}$  with  $z \succeq w$ . For  $A = \emptyset$ , this claim is part of Proposition 7.4. For general A, it follows from Proposition 7.4 by applying  $\mathrm{Av}_{\psi}^A$  and using Lemma 6.3(2).

Applying [BS, Theorem 3.5], we see that  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is an essentially finite highest weight category in the sense of [BS, Definition 3.7]. In more concrete terms, this means that the injective envelope  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A$  of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration whose subquotients  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^{\prime A}$  satisfy  $y \succeq w$ .

(3) Since  $\operatorname{Av}_*^A$  has an exact left adjoint, it sends injectives to injectives, so  $\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A)$  is injective. To show that it is isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w$ , it is enough to show that its socle is isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w$ , or in other words that

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y, \operatorname{Av}^A_*(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A)) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } y = w, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This claim holds by adjunction and Lemma 6.3(1).

It is clear that for any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have

(7.4) 
$$\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{wt_{\lambda}}^{A} = \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}^{A} \langle -\lambda \rangle;$$

in particular, in order to understand all these objects it is enough to understand those whose label belongs to  $^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$ .

Remark 7.10. (1) The proof of Theorem 7.9 provides a slightly more precise statement than the mere existence of enough projective and injective objects: it implies that any object of  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is a quotient (resp. a subobject) of a direct sum of objects of the form  $\Phi^A(\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^A(\mathsf{T}_x))\langle\mu\rangle$  with  $x \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , these objects being both projective and injective.

- (2) The proof of Theorem 7.9 also shows that each  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A$  (hence each projective object in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ ) remains projective in the larger category  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .
- (3) Theorem 7.9 implies that the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  is also an indecomposable injective object. Define a map

$$(7.5) \iota_A: {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}} \xrightarrow{\sim} {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$$

by requiring that  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\iota_A(w)}^A$  be the socle of the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  (equivalently,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota_A(w)}^A$  is the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ ). We will see later (see Proposition 9.21(1)) that in fact  $\iota_A$  is the identity map; in other words, the projective cover and injective envelope of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  coincide.

7.3. Injective  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules and tilting perverse sheaves. In this subsection we study the relation between injective objects in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and tilting objects in  $\operatorname{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\mathbb{k})$ .

**Proposition 7.11.** (1) For any  $x \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  the object  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Ax^\triangle})$  is both injective and projective.

(2) If  $x \in {}^{A}W^{res}_{ext}$ , then  $\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{T}^{A}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}})$  contains  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}^{A}_{x}$ , resp.  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}^{A}_{\iota_{A}(x)}$ , as a direct summand with multiplicity 1, and does not admit any direct summand of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}^{A}_{xt_{u}}$ , resp.  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}^{A}_{\iota_{A}(xt_{u})}$ , with  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y} \setminus \{0\}$ .

A converse to part (1) will be proved in Proposition 9.26.

*Proof.* (1) First, assume that  $A = \emptyset$  and  $x \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ . In the proof of Proposition 7.4 we have constructed a projective and injective object admitting  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x$  both as a subobject and as a quotient. By Lemma 6.6(4) this object contains  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{x^{\triangle}})$  as a direct summand; the latter object is therefore also projective and injective.

Now we continue to assume that  $A = \emptyset$ , but take a general  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^S$ . We can write  $w = yt_{\lambda}$  for some  $y \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$  and  $\lambda \in -\mathbf{Y}_+$ , see (2.3), and then we have  $w^{\triangle} = y^{\triangle}t_{\lambda}$ , see (2.4). By Lemma 6.7 the object  $\mathsf{T}_{y^{\triangle}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{T}^{w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$  is tilting, and support considerations show that it contains  $\mathsf{T}_{y^{\triangle}t_{\lambda}}$  as a direct summand. On the other hand, using the formula in Lemma 5.2 and the fact that  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{y^{\triangle}})$  is projective and injective we see that  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{y^{\triangle}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{T}^{w_{\circ}(\lambda)})$  is also injective and projective. Hence so is  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}})$ .

Finally we consider a general subset A, and  $x \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$ . By Theorem 7.1 we have  $w_{A}x^{\triangle} \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$ , and by Proposition 3.12 we know that  $\mathrm{Av}_{!}^{A}(\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}}^{A})) \cong \Phi(\mathsf{T}_{x^{\triangle}})$ . Since the functor  $\mathrm{Av}_{!}^{A}$  has an exact right adjoint, and since  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{x^{\triangle}})$  is projective (by the case already treated, and since  $x \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$ ), this shows that  $\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}}^{A})$  is projective. A similar argument using  $\mathrm{Av}_{*}^{A}$  instead of  $\mathrm{Av}_{!}^{A}$  shows that this object is also injective. (Alternatively, one can use the fact that projective objects are automatically injective, see Theorem 7.9.)

(2) First, assume that  $A = \emptyset$ . Corollary 7.3 implies that  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{x^{\triangle}})$  admits  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x$  as both a subobject and a quotient. It follows that both  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota(x)}$  are direct summands in  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{x^{\triangle}})$ .

To conclude the proof in this case, we will prove that the object constructed in the proof of Proposition 7.4 admits  $\widehat{Q}_{\iota(x)}$  as a direct summand with multiplicity 1, and no other direct summand of the form  $\widehat{Q}_{\iota(xt_{\mu})}$ . (A similar argument will apply for

the injective hulls; alternatively this case can be deduced using the Verdier duality constructed in §9.1 below.) Set  $y = t_{\varsigma} w_{\circ} x^{-1}$ , and consider a reduced expression  $y = \omega s_1 \cdots s_r$ . Using adjunction, our claim will follow if we prove that

$$(7.6) \quad \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{w_{\diamond}(\varsigma)}), \Phi(\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x}))\langle\mu\rangle) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \mu = 0; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

As a preparation, let us first prove that for  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \setminus \{0\}$  we have

(7.7) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_0(\varsigma)}}, \xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_1}\cdots\xi_{s_r}(\mathsf{L}_x)\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}_*^{\nu}) = 0,$$

or equivalently (by adjunction and (3.3))

(7.8) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{0}(\varsigma)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{-w_{0}(\nu)}, \xi_{\omega} \xi_{s_{1}} \cdots \xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})) = 0.$$

Proposition 6.4(1) tells us that  $\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)}$  has a unique simple quotient, isomorphic to  $\mathsf{L}_{t_{\varsigma-w_{\circ}(\nu)}w_{\circ}}$ . Now we have  $yx = t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$ , and  $\ell(yx) = \ell(x) + r$  by Lemma 2.2. By Lemma 3.15, it follows that  $\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})$  is supported on  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}}}$ . Now  $t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}$  belongs to  $W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{S}$ , so that by [AR3, Lemma 2.7] we have

$$\ell(t_{\varsigma-w_{\circ}(\nu)}w_{\circ}) = \ell(t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}t_{-\nu}) = \ell(t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}) + \ell(t_{-\nu});$$

if  $\nu \neq 0$  the orbit  $\operatorname{Gr}_{t_{\varsigma-w_{\circ}(\nu)}w_{\circ}}$  is therefore not contained in  $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}}}$ , which implies that  $\mathsf{L}_{t_{\varsigma-w_{\circ}(\nu)}w_{\circ}}$  is not a composition factor of  $\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})$ . This proves (7.8).

Now, let us prove (7.6) in case  $\mu \neq 0$ . By Lemma 5.1, the space under consideration equals

(7.9) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}, \xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{R}_{-\mu}) = \underset{\longrightarrow}{\varinjlim}\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}, \xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}).$$

For any  $\lambda$  the perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{I}_*^{-w_o(\mu)+\lambda}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}_*^{-w_o(\lambda)}$  admits a costandard filtration, see [AR3, Proposition 4.8]; moreover, the object  $\mathcal{IC}^0 = \mathcal{I}_*^0$  does not occur in such a filtration since

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{I}_{!}^{0},\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)})=\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\lambda},\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda})=0.$$

In view of (7.7) this implies that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}, \xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)})=0$$

for any  $\lambda$ , which proves (7.6) in this case.

Finally, assume  $\mu = 0$ . In this case the space we have to consider is

(7.10) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}, \xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{R}_{0}) = \underset{\longrightarrow}{\lim}\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}, \xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\lambda}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}).$$

Here again  $\mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$  admits a costandard filtration, and in this case we have an embedding  $\mathcal{IC}^0 \to \mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}$  whose cokernel is an extension of objects of the form  $\mathcal{I}_*^{\nu}$  with  $\nu \neq 0$ . We have obtained in the course of the proof of Lemma 6.6 that

$$(7.11) \qquad \qquad \dim\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathbf{u}}}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\varsigma)}},\xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})) = 1,$$

see (6.4). By the same considerations as above this implies that for any  $\lambda$  we have

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{0}(\varsigma)}}, \xi_{\omega}\xi_{s_{1}}\cdots\xi_{s_{r}}(\mathsf{L}_{x})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\lambda}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{0}(\lambda)})=1.$$

One can easily check that the transition morphisms in our inductive system are nonzero, which finishes the proof of (7.6), and hence of the statement in case  $A = \emptyset$ .

To treat the case of a general subset A, one simply observes that for  $x \in {}^AW^{\text{res}}_{\text{ext}}$  and  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{T}^{A}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}}), \widehat{\mathcal{L}}^{A}_{xt_{\mu}}) &\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{T}^{A}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}}), \operatorname{Av}^{A}_{\psi}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{xt_{\mu}})) \\ &\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Av}^{A}_{!}(\Phi(\mathsf{T}^{A}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}})), \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{xt_{\mu}}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{x^{\triangle}}), \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{xt_{\mu}}) \end{split}$$

by Lemma 6.3(1), adjunction and then Proposition 3.12. Then the claim follows from the case  $A = \emptyset$  since  $x \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ .

## 8. Ungraded $\mathcal{R}$ -modules

In this section we present a variant of the theory developed so far, which omits the Y-grading. (From the representation-theoretic point of view, and using the notation of Section 1, this means that we study a geometric model for blocks of  $\mathbf{G}_1$ -modules rather than  $\mathbf{G}_1\mathbf{T}$ -modules.) The only part of this section that will be used later in the paper is the statement given in Remark 8.11(1). This statement does not involve ungraded modules, so a reader who is willing to accept this claim can skip this section.

8.1. **Definitions.** We fix a finitary subset  $A \subset S_{\text{aff}}$ . Up to now we have worked with **Y**-graded ind-objects in the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$ ; in particular, in §5.2 we have defined  $\mathcal{R}$  as a *formal* direct sum of ind-objects  $\mathcal{R}_{\mu}$ . But in view of [KS, Theorem 8.6.5(v)] the category of ind-objects in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  admits arbitrary direct sums; in particular, the "true" direct sum (i.e. coproduct)  $\bigoplus_{\mu} \mathcal{R}_{\mu}$  in this category makes sense. For simplicity we will also denote this object  $\mathcal{R}$ .

An ungraded  $\mathcal{R}$ -module is, by definition, an ind-object  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$ , together with a map

$$\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{F}$$

equipping it with the structure of a module over the algebra object  $\mathcal{R}$ . Let

$$\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{n}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})$$

denote the abelian category of ungraded  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. The theory of ungraded  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules is very similar to that of graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. In this subsection, we summarize the main facts about them. Most proofs are essentially identical to those in the graded case, and will be omitted.

In a minor abuse of notation, we define the functor

$$\Phi^A : \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_n, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk) \to \mathsf{Mod}_{(I^A_n, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$$

by  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}) = \mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}$ , where  $\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}$  is equipped with the obvious module structure. As in the graded case,  $\Phi^A$  is exact and faithful. Objects in the image of this functor are called *free (ungraded)*  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules of finite type. There is an ungraded analogue of Lemma 5.1 that says that

$$(8.1) \qquad \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{3}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{4})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}),\mathcal{M}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{3}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{4})}(\operatorname{Gr},\mathbb{k})}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{M})$$

for any  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  and  $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{Mod}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ . There is also an ungraded analogue of Lemma 5.2 that says that for any  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  and  $\mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+\mathcal{G}}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  we have

(8.2) 
$$\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{G}) \cong \mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{G}) \otimes \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}).$$

The classification of simple objects in  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  is given in Proposition 8.1. In this statement, we denote by  $\sim$  the equivalence relation on  ${}^AW^{\operatorname{res}}_{\operatorname{ext}}$  given by

$$w \sim w'$$
 if there is a  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  such that  $w = w't_{\lambda}$ .

(In this case,  $\lambda$  is necessarily orthogonal to all roots; in particular, if G is semisimple this equivalence relation is trivial.) For  $w \in {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$  we will denote by [w] its equivalence class.

**Proposition 8.1.** For  $w \in {}^{A}W^{\mathrm{res}}_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , the object  $\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{L}^{A}_{w})$  is a simple object in the abelian category  $\mathrm{Mod}_{(I^{A}_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})$ . Moreover, the assignment  $w \mapsto \Phi^{A}(\mathsf{L}^{A}_{w})$  induces a bijection

$${}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}}/\sim \stackrel{\sim}{
ightarrow} \left\{ egin{array}{l} isomorphism\ classes\ of\ simple\ objects\ in\ \mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{n}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R}) \end{array} 
ight\}.$$

For  $c \in {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}/\sim$  we will denote by  $\mathcal{L}^A_c \in {\rm Mod}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  the corresponding simple object; for any  $w \in {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$  we therefore have  $\mathcal{L}^A_{[w]} \cong \Phi^A(\mathsf{L}^A_w)$ .

The definitions of the categories

$$\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{n}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R}) \subset \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{n}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}} \subset \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{n}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})$$

are analogous to their graded counterparts. As in Lemma 5.9 we have

(8.3) 
$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}) < \infty$$

for all  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \in \mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}}$ , and  $\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})^{\mathrm{flen}}$  is a Krull–Schmidt category.

**Theorem 8.2.** The category  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  coincides with  $\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})^{\operatorname{flen}}$ , and this abelian category has enough projectives and enough injectives, and these classes of objects coincide.

For  $c \in {}^AW^{\text{res}}_{\text{ext}}/\sim$  we will denote by  $\mathcal{Q}_c^A$  the injective hull of  $\mathcal{L}_c^A$  in the category  $\text{mod}_{(L^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ .

The following property is more specific to the ungraded setting.

**Lemma 8.3.** For any  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$ , the finite-dimensional vector space

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^A(\mathcal{G}))$$

carries a canonical structure of an algebraic  $G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -module, which is functorial in  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  and compatible (in the natural way) with composition, and such that the map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^A(\mathcal{G}))$$

identifies the left-hand side with the  $G^{\vee}_{\Bbbk}$ -invariants in the right-hand side.

*Proof.* Recall that if k is a field and C is a k-linear additive category which admits arbitrary coproducts, then given a k-vector space V and an object X in C one defines the tensor product  $V \otimes_k X$  as the object representing the functor

$$Y \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_k(V, \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{C}}(X, Y));$$

any choice of basis  $(e_i:i\in I)$  in V provides an isomorphism  $V\otimes_k X\cong X^{\oplus I}$ . This construction is functorial, in the sense that if  $\mathsf{D}$  is another k-linear additive category which admits arbitrary coproducts and  $F:\mathsf{C}\to\mathsf{D}$  is a k-linear additive functor commuting with coproducts, then for any V and X as above there exists a canonical isomorphism  $F(V\otimes_k X)\cong V\otimes_k F(X)$ .

We apply this construction first in the case where C is the category of all  $G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -modules, i.e. the category of ind-objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee})$ . Here the comultiplication in the Hopf algebra  $\mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee})$  composed with switching the factors provides a canonical morphism

$$\mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \to \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}),$$

where the domain and the right-hand copy of  $\mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee})$  in the codomain are equipped with the left regular  $G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -module structure, while the left-hand copy of  $\mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee})$  in the codomain is regarded just as a vector space. Next we apply the functor induced by Sat on ind-objects; the properties recalled above imply that we have  $\mathsf{Sat}(\mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee})) \cong \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathscr{R}$ , so that we obtain a canonical morphism

$$(8.5) \mathcal{R} \to \mathscr{O}(G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\mathbb{k}} \mathcal{R}.$$

(Here the functor on ind-objects induced by  $\mathsf{Sat}$  commutes with coproducts by the description of coproducts in [KS, Theorem 8.6.5(v)].) Note that we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{k} \to \mathscr{O}(G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}) \to \mathscr{O}(G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\mathbb{k}} \mathscr{O}(G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}),$$

where the rightmost arrow is the difference of (8.4) and the map  $f \mapsto 1 \otimes f$ . We deduce an exact sequence

$$(8.6) 0 \to \mathcal{IC}^0 \to \mathcal{R} \to \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathcal{R},$$

where the rightmost arrow is the difference of (8.5) and the map corresponding to  $1 \otimes id_{\mathcal{R}}$  under the canonical identification

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{R}, \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathcal{R}) \cong \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{R}).$$

We can at last use these constructions in the setting of the lemma. For  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}$  as in the statement, by (8.1) we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{\mathsf{Perv}}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{R}).$$

Applying the considerations above to the functor  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}(-))$  (where here  $\mathcal{G}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}(-)$  means the canonical extension of the functor  $\mathcal{H}\mapsto \mathcal{G}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{H}$  to ind-objects, and we consider morphisms of ind-perverse sheaves; the compatibility with coproducts is guaranteed by [KS, Comments in Notation 8.6.1]) we obtain a canonical isomorphism

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)} \big( \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \big( \mathscr{O}(G^\vee_{\Bbbk}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathcal{R} \big) \big) \\ & \cong \mathscr{O}(G^\vee_{\Bbbk}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)} (\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}). \end{split}$$

Hence, applying this functor to (8.5) we obtain a canonical morphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\ast}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G})) \to \mathscr{O}(G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\ast}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G}))$$

which defines a structure of a (right)  $\mathscr{O}(G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee})$ -comodule, i.e. of a  $G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$ -module, on the  $\mathbb{k}$ -vector space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G}))$ . Moreover, from the exact sequence (8.6) we deduce an exact sequence

$$\begin{split} 0 &\to \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}) \to \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{mod}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^A(\mathcal{G})) \\ & \to \mathscr{O}(G^\vee_{\Bbbk}) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{mod}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^A(\mathcal{G})) \end{split}$$

which shows that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(Gr,\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G})$  identifies the  $G^{\vee}_{\Bbbk}$ -invariants in the  $G^{\vee}_{\Bbbk}$ -module  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^A(\mathcal{G}))$ .

8.2. Forgetting the grading. We continue with the setting of  $\S 8.1$ . There is an obvious exact forget-the-grading functor

(8.7) For: 
$$\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{n}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \to \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{n}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R}),$$

which sends the "formal" direct sum  $\bigoplus_{\mu} \mathcal{F}_{\mu}$  to the "true" direct sum  $\bigoplus_{\mu} \mathcal{F}_{\mu}$  in the category of ind-objects in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$ . This functor is exact; and it satisfies  $\mathsf{For} \circ \langle \lambda \rangle \cong \mathsf{For}$  for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ , commutes with the functors  $\Phi^A$ , and sends simple modules to simple modules. (In particular, it sends finitely generated modules to finitely generated modules.) More specifically, for any  $w \in {}^A W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , we have

(8.8) 
$$\operatorname{For}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}) \cong \mathcal{L}_{[x]}^{A} \quad \text{if } w = xt_{\lambda} \text{ with } x \in {}^{A}W_{\operatorname{ext}}^{\operatorname{res}} \text{ and } \lambda \in \mathbf{Y}.$$

**Lemma 8.4.** For  $\mathcal{F} \in \operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\mathcal{G} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , the functor For induces an isomorphism

$$\bigoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}} \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{Mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}\langle \lambda \rangle) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathrm{For}(\mathcal{F}), \mathrm{For}(\mathcal{G})).$$

*Proof.* By definition, every finitely generated graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -module is a quotient of a free graded  $\mathcal{R}$ -module of finite type; using this, a routine five-lemma argument shows that it is enough to prove the lemma in the case that  $\mathcal{F}$  is free. In fact, we may even assume that  $\mathcal{F} = \Phi^A(\mathcal{F}')$  for some  $\mathcal{F}' \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \Bbbk)$ . In this case, using Lemma 5.1 and its ungraded analogue (8.1), we see that the left-hand side is given by

$$\bigoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}} \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F}', \mathcal{G}_{\lambda}),$$

while the right-hand side is

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}\left(\mathcal{F}',\bigoplus_{\lambda\in\mathbf{Y}}\mathcal{G}_\lambda\right).$$

The fact that these spaces coincide follows from [KS, Theorem 8.6.5(v)] and the comments in [KS, Notation 8.6.1].

Remark 8.5. In case  $\mathcal{G}$  belongs to  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , in view of (8.3) the direct sum appearing in Lemma 8.4 only has finitely many nonzero terms.

The following statement follows from the construction of projective and injective objects in the proof of Theorem 7.9, and the parallel construction that proves Theorem 8.2.

**Proposition 8.6.** The functor (8.7) sends projective (i.e. injective) objects in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  to projective (i.e. injective) objects in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})$ .

Using (8.8) one can make the statement of Proposition 8.6 more precise: for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\rm ext}$ , writing  $w = xt_{\lambda}$  with  $x \in {}^AW_{\rm ext}^{\rm res}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have

$$\operatorname{For}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A) \cong \mathcal{Q}_{[x]}^A.$$

In particular the functor For sends these indecomposable objects to indecomposable objects. In fact this property holds for general indecomposable objects, as shown in the next statement.

Corollary 8.7. Let  $\mathcal{F} \in \operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}$  is indecomposable (in the category  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ ) iff  $\operatorname{For}(\mathcal{F})$  is indecomposable (in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ ).

*Proof.* Since the categories  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  are Krull–Schmidt (see Lemma 5.9 and the comments after (8.3)),  $\mathcal{F}$ , resp.  $\operatorname{For}(\mathcal{F})$ , is indecomposable iff the ring

$$\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{F}), \quad \operatorname{resp.} \quad \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\operatorname{For}(\mathcal{F})),$$

is local. Then the claim follows from Lemma 8.4 and the standard fact that a finite-dimensional Y-graded k-algebra is local (as a nongraded ring) iff its degree-0 component is local, see e.g. [GG].

We conclude this subsection with a lemma relating indecomposable objects in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathsf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{k})$  to indecomposable ungraded  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. The proof is based on arguments found in [D1, §2].

**Lemma 8.8.** Assume that  $\mathbb{k}$  is algebraically closed. Let  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  be an indecomposable perverse sheaf such that  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})$  remains indecomposable in  $\mathsf{mod}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ . If  $\mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+\mathcal{G}}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  is also indecomposable, then  $\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+\mathcal{G}} \mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{k})$  is indecomposable.

*Proof.* By assumption, the object  $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})$  is indecomposable in the Krull–Schmidt category  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ ; the algebra  $\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}))$  is therefore local. Since this algebra is also finite-dimensional (see (8.3)), its unique maximal ideal consists of nilpotent elements. Moreover, since  $\mathbb{k}$  is algebraically closed, the quotient of  $\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}))$  by its unique maximal ideal is identified with  $\mathbb{k}$ . We will denote by

$$q: \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})) \to \mathbb{k}$$

the quotient map. By Lemma 8.3 there exists a canonical (algebraic) action of  $G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$  on  $\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F}))$  by algebra automorphisms; the unique maximal ideal is necessarily stable under this action, so that q is  $G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$ -equivariant (for the trivial action on  $\mathbb{k}$ ).

Next, let  $V = \mathsf{Sat}(\mathcal{G})$ . Then V is a finite-dimensional algebraic  $G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -module, and using (8.2) we see that

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{G})) & \cong \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})) \otimes \operatorname{End}_{\Bbbk}(V), \\ & \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{G})) \cong \operatorname{End}_{\Bbbk}(V), \\ & \operatorname{End}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{G}) \cong \operatorname{End}_{G_{\Bbbk}^\vee}(V). \end{split}$$

Here the first two isomorphisms are  $G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -equivariant for the actions provided by Lemma 8.3 and the action on V.

Define a ring homomorphism

$$\tilde{a}: \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{n}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{G})) \to \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{n}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G}))$$

to be the map which corresponds to

$$q \otimes \mathrm{id} : \mathrm{End}_{\mathrm{mod}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})) \otimes \mathrm{End}_{\Bbbk}(V) \to \mathrm{End}_{\Bbbk}(V)$$

under the isomorphisms above. Since the kernel of q is finite-dimensional and consists of nilpotent elements, the kernel of  $\tilde{a}$  does as well. Since q is  $G_{\mathbb{k}}^{\vee}$ -equivariant,  $\tilde{a}$  is also equivariant.

We claim that there is a unique ring homomorphism a that makes the following diagram (of ring homomorphisms) commute:

(8.9) 
$$\operatorname{End}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{G}) \xrightarrow{a} \operatorname{End}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{G})$$

$$\downarrow^{\Phi^{A}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\Phi^{A}}$$

$$\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{G})) \xrightarrow{\tilde{a}} \operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G})).$$

In fact, this follows from the fact that  $\tilde{a}$  is  $G_{\Bbbk}^{\vee}$ -equivariant, and that in each column the domain of the map identifies with the space of  $G^{\vee}_{\Bbbk}$ -invariants in its target (see Lemma 8.3). Since the kernel of  $\tilde{a}$  consists of nilpotent elements, the same holds for the kernel of a. In view of Lemma 8.9 below and the indecomposability of  $\mathcal{G}$ , this implies that the algebra  $\mathrm{End}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_n,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{G})$  is local, and hence that the object  $\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{G}$  is indecomposable.

**Lemma 8.9.** Let k be an algebraically closed field, let A, A' be finite-dimensional k-algebras, and let  $a: A \to A'$  be an algebra homomorphism. Assume that

- (1) ker(a) consists of nilpotent elements;
- (2) A' is local.

Then A is local.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathfrak{m}' \subset A'$  be the unique maximal ideal in A', and set  $\mathfrak{m} = a^{-1}(\mathfrak{m}')$ . Since  $\ker(a)$  and  $\mathfrak{m}'$  consist of nilpotent elements (in A and A' respectively), so does  $\mathfrak{m}$ . On the other hand,  $A/\mathfrak{m}$  is a k-algebra which embeds in  $A'/\mathfrak{m}'$ , which is isomorphic to k since this field is algebraically closed; it follows that  $\mathfrak{m}$  is a maximal ideal and that  $A = \mathbb{k} \cdot 1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}$ . Since  $\mathfrak{m}$  consists of nilpotent elements this shows that any element in  $A \setminus \mathfrak{m}$  is invertible, and hence that any ideal of A is contained in  $\mathfrak{m}$ , which finishes the proof.

8.3. A geometric version of Donkin's conjecture. A celebrated conjecture of Donkin [D2] asserts that certain indecomposable tilting modules for reductive groups should remain indecomposable upon restriction to the Frobenius kernel. (For recent developments on this question, see [BNPS].) In this subsection we study the analogue of this property in our geometric setting. We show in particular that the geometric variant of this conjecture implies a "Steinberg-type" formula for tilting perverse sheaves (as in the representation-theoretic context, see [Ja, §II.E.9]).

**Theorem 8.10.** Let  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ . The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) The head of  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$  is simple. (2) The socle of  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$  is simple.

- (3) The object  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle})$  is indecomposable (in the category  $\mathrm{mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  or in  $\mathrm{mod}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ ).
- (4) For all  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ , the object  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}})\langle -\lambda \rangle$  is both the projective cover and injective hull of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{wt_{\lambda}}^A$  in  $\mathsf{mod}_{(I_u,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .

If the conditions above hold, then we also have the following:

(5) (Donkin formula for tilting sheaves) For all  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , we have

$$\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{T}^\mu \cong \mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle t_{w_\Diamond(\mu)}}.$$

Note that if the head or socle of  $\mathsf{T}_{w_A w^\triangle}^A$  is simple, they must be isomorphic to  $\mathsf{L}_w^A$  by Corollary 7.3. In (3), indecomposability in  $\mathsf{mod}_{I_\mathrm{u}}^\mathbf{Y}(\mathcal{R})$  or in  $\mathsf{mod}_{I_\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{R})$  are equivalent in view of Corollary 8.7.

*Proof.* The equivalence of (1) and (2) follows from Verdier self-duality of  $\mathsf{T}_{w_A w^\triangle}^A$ , see Remark 3.3.

Let us now prove that  $(1) \Rightarrow (3)$ . Suppose that  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$  has a simple head, but that  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle})$  is decomposable. Proposition 7.11(2) and Lemma 8.4 imply that

$$\dim\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw^\triangle}^A),\Phi^A(\mathsf{L}_w^A))=1,$$

so there must be some element  $y \in {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$  with  $y \not\sim w$  (under the equivalence relation considered in Proposition 8.1) such that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}_{w_A w^{\triangle}}^A), \Phi^A(\mathsf{L}_y^A)) \neq 0.$$

By (8.1), both sides of the following isomorphism are then nonzero:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathbf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw^\triangle}^A,\mathsf{L}_y^A\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{R}) \\ &\cong \bigoplus_{\mu\in\mathbf{Y}} \varinjlim_{\lambda} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw^\triangle}^A,\mathsf{L}_y^A\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}_*^{w_\circ(\mu)+\lambda}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}_*^{-w_\circ(\lambda)}). \end{split}$$

However, by Theorem 3.16 every composition factor of  $\mathsf{L}^A_y \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}^{w_\circ(\mu) + \lambda}_* \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_\circ(\lambda)}_*$  is of the form  $\mathsf{L}^A_{yt_\nu}$  for some  $\nu \in -\mathbf{Y}_+$ . The unique simple quotient of  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$ , namely  $\mathsf{L}^A_w$  (see Corollary 7.3), is not of this form, so

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle},\mathsf{L}^A_y\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}^{w_\circ(\mu)+\lambda}_*\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}^{-w_\circ(\lambda)}_*)=0$$

for any  $\lambda, \mu$ , a contradiction.

We now show that (3)  $\Rightarrow$  (4). If  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle})$  is indecomposable, then Proposition 7.11(2) shows that

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A \cong \Phi^A(\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw^\triangle}^A) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota_A(w)}^A.$$

The claim in (4) follows using (7.4).

We next show that  $(4) \Rightarrow (1)$ . Assume that (4) holds, and that the head of  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$  has more than one summand. By Corollary 7.3, there exists  $y \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  with  $y \neq x$  such that  $\mathsf{L}^A_y$  is a quotient of  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$ . Applying  $\Phi^A$  we deduce a surjection  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}) \twoheadrightarrow \Phi^A(\mathsf{L}^A_y)$ . Theorem 3.16, Lemma 5.2 and (5.7) show that  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{L}^A_y)$  surjects to  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^A_y$ , so that  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle})$  has two different simple quotients. This contradicts the fact that this object is a projective cover.

Finally we show that (4)  $\Rightarrow$  (5). First, note that the perverse sheaf  $\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}$   $\mathcal{T}^{\mu}$  is tilting. In fact  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{T}^{\mu}$  is tilting by Lemma 6.7, hence

$$\operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{T}^{\mu}) \cong \operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{T}^{\mu}$$

is tilting too, see §3.6. By Proposition 3.12 this object is a direct sum of copies of  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{T}^\mu$ , so that the latter object is tilting. Now that we know that this object is tilting, support considerations show that

Now that we know that this object is tilting, support considerations show that  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{T}^\mu$  admits  $\mathsf{T}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle t_{w_o(\mu)}}$  as a direct summand; we therefore only need to show that this object is indecomposable. A routine argument (cf. [AR1, Proposition B.3]) shows that this tilting perverse sheaf is indecomposable if and only if the object obtained by extension of scalars to the algebraic closure of  $\Bbbk$  is indecomposable. Thus, we may assume without loss of generality that  $\Bbbk$  is algebraically closed. Then the claim follows from Lemma 8.8.

Remark 8.11. (1) In case  $\mathbbm{k}$  has characteristic 0, Theorem 7.1 says in particular that condition (1) in Theorem 8.10 holds for any  $w \in {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$ . Hence in this case the injective hulls  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}^A_y$  ( $y \in {}^AW_{\rm ext}$ ) can be described explicitly: if  $y = xt_\lambda$  with  $x \in {}^AW^{\rm res}_{\rm ext}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  then

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y^A \cong \Phi^A(\mathsf{T}_{w_Ax^\triangle}^A)\langle -\lambda \rangle.$$

(2) When  $\mathbb{k}$  has positive characteristic, one instance in which the conditions of Theorem 8.10 hold is for the element  $w = t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ} \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^{\mathrm{res}}$  in case  $A = \varnothing$ . Indeed, by Proposition 6.4, the object  $j_!^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong j_*^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} \cong \mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}$  has a simple head and socle. (Note that  $w^{\triangle} = t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}$ .) Thus, by Theorem 8.10, for any  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  the object  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}})\langle -\lambda \rangle$  is both the injective hull and the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{t_{\varsigma}w_{\circ}t_{\lambda}}$ ; we thus have

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{t_\varsigma w_\diamond t_\lambda} = \Phi(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_\diamond(\varsigma)}}) \langle -\lambda \rangle.$$

## 9. Baby Verma and Co-Verma modules

In this section we introduce objects of  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  which are geometric analogues of baby Verma modules (i.e. the objects denoted  $\widehat{Z}(\lambda)$  in [Ja, Chap. II.9]). These objects will be obtained from the baby co-Verma modules of §5.6 using a "Verdier duality" autoequivalence. (In the representation-theoretic context, such a relation is well known, see [Ja, Equation (5) in §9.3].)

9.1. **Verdier duality.** We now explain how to define Verdier duality in the categories  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .

Recall the Verdier duality functor

$$\mathbb{D}: D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A}^{-1})}(\mathrm{Gr})$$

considered in Remark 3.3. What we now want to do is to "extend" this functor to the category  $\operatorname{mod}_{(L^A_i, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , i.e. to define an exact anti-equivalence

$$\mathbb{D}: \operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A^{-1})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$$

which satisfies

$$(9.1) \mathbb{D}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F})\langle\lambda\rangle) \cong \Phi^{A}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F}))\langle\lambda\rangle$$

for any  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr})$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$ . (Here we are making an abuse of notation similar to that of Remark 3.3, in the sense that the notation  $\Phi^A$  on either side of this equation is used for two different functors: on the left-hand side the functor is defined using the local system  $\mathcal{X}_A$ , while on the right-hand side it is defined using  $\mathcal{X}_A^{-1}$ .) Note that a "naive" extension of  $\mathbb D$  to ind-objects would send ind-objects to pro-objects, and thus not give an endofunctor of  $\mathcal R$ -modules. Instead, we will use the fact that (9.1) prescribes the definition of  $\mathbb D$  on free  $\mathcal R$ -modules of finite type, and that the category  $\mathsf{mod}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf Y}(\mathcal R)$  can be described in terms of these free modules.

We start by making formal sense of this latter idea. For this, we define the additive  $\Bbbk$ -linear category  $\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  whose objects are formal direct sums

$$\bigoplus_{j\in J}(\mathcal{F}_j,\lambda_j)$$

where J is a finite set, each  $\mathcal{F}_j$  is in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$ , and each  $\lambda_j$  is in  $\mathbf{Y}$ , and such that the space of morphisms from  $\bigoplus_{j\in J}(\mathcal{F}_j,\lambda_j)$  to  $\bigoplus_{k\in K}(\mathcal{G}_k,\mu_k)$  is

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^{A}, x_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})} \left( \bigoplus_{j \in J} \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}_{j}) \langle \lambda_{j} \rangle, \bigoplus_{k \in K} \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G}_{k}) \langle \mu_{k} \rangle \right)$$

$$= \bigoplus_{\substack{j \in J \\ k \in K}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^{A}, x_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})} (\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}_{j}), \Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G}_{k}) \langle \mu_{k} - \lambda_{j} \rangle).$$

By definition  $\Phi^A$  factors as a composition of additive k-linear functor

$$\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_1^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk) \xrightarrow{\Phi_1^A} \mathsf{Free}_{(I_1^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \xrightarrow{\Phi_2^A} \mathsf{mod}_{(I_1^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}),$$

where  $\Phi_2^A$  is fully faithful. Moreover, the objects in the essential image of  $\Phi_2^A$  are exactly the free  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules of finite type.

We now consider the homotopy category  $K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathsf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))$ , and the triangulated subcategory  $K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathsf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathsf{b}}$  of complexes whose image under  $K(\Phi_2^A)$  has bounded cohomology. (This subcategory is *not* the bounded homotopy category of  $\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathsf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .) Since  $D^{\mathsf{b}} \mathsf{mod}_{(I_{\mathsf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  identifies with the full subcategory of the unbounded derived category  $D(\mathsf{mod}_{(I_{\mathsf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))$  whose objects have bounded cohomology, the composition of  $K(\Phi_2^A)$  with the canonical functor  $K(\mathsf{mod}_{(I_{\mathsf{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})) \to D(\mathsf{mod}_{(I_A^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))$  restricts to a functor

$$(9.2) K(\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_{\mathbf{n}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathbf{b}} \to D^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathsf{mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_{\mathbf{n}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})).$$

Next, let  $D(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}}$  be the Verdier quotient of  $K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}}$  by the kernel of (9.2). Then, by the universal property of the Verdier quotient, the functor (9.2) factors through a triangulated functor

$$(9.3) D(\Phi_2^A): D(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{-}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}} \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{mod}_{(I_{-}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})).$$

**Lemma 9.1.** The functor (9.3) is an equivalence of categories.

*Proof.* Essential surjectivity follows from Remark 7.10(1). More precisely, any object in  $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))$  is isomorphic to a bounded complex of objects in  $\mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . Given such a complex  $\mathcal{F}$ , this remark implies that there exists a

bounded above complex  $\mathcal G$  of free  $\mathcal R$ -modules of finite type which are projective and a quasi-isomorphism  $\mathcal G \to \mathcal F$ . Then  $\mathcal G$  belongs to the essential image of our functor, and is isomorphic to  $\mathcal F$  in  $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{mod}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal X_A)}^{\mathbf Y}(\mathcal R))$ .

Next we prove that the functor is full. Fix objects  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}$  in  $D(\mathsf{Free}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}}, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^b$ . A morphism  $f: D(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{F}) \to D(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{G})$  is represented by a diagram

$$K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{F}) \stackrel{g}{\leftarrow} \mathcal{H} \stackrel{h}{\rightarrow} K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{G})$$

where  $\mathcal{H}$  is a complex of objects in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ , and g,h are morphisms of complexes with g a quasi-isomorphism (which implies that  $\mathcal{H}$  has bounded cohomology). Using a truncation functor we can assume that  $\mathcal{H}$  is bounded above. Then, as above there exists a complex  $\mathcal{K}$  of objects of  $\operatorname{Free}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and a quasi-isomorphism  $k:K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{K})\to\mathcal{H}$ . The object  $\mathcal{K}$  belongs to  $K(\operatorname{Free}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\operatorname{b}}$ , and f is also represented by the diagram

$$K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{F}) \xleftarrow{g \circ k} K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{K}) \xrightarrow{h \circ k} K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{G})$$

where  $g \circ k$  is a quasi-isomorphism, and thus is the image of a morphism from  $\mathcal{F}$  to  $\mathcal{G}$  in  $D(\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^A_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}}$ .

Finally we prove faithfulness. Fix again objects  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}$  in  $D(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathfrak{b}}$ , and consider a morphism  $f: \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{G}$  such that  $D(\Phi_2^A)(f) = 0$ . Here f is represented by a diagram

$$\mathcal{F} \stackrel{g}{\leftarrow} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{h} \mathcal{G}$$

where  $\mathcal{H}$  is in  $K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}}$ , g and h are morphisms of complexes, and  $K(\Phi_2^A)(g)$  is a quasi-isomorphism. Once again there exists a bounded above complex  $\mathcal{K}$  of projective free  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules of finite type and a quasi-isomorphism  $\mathcal{K} \to K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{H})$ . Then there exists  $\mathcal{L}$  in  $K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}}$  and an isomorphism of complexes  $K(\Phi_2^A)(\mathcal{L}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{K}$ , and f is represented by a diagram

$$\mathcal{F} \stackrel{g'}{\longleftarrow} \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{h'} \mathcal{G}$$

where  $K(\Phi_2^A)(g')$  is a quasi-isomorphism, i.e.  $D(\Phi_2^A)(g')$  is an isomorphism. Then  $D(\Phi_2^A)(h') = 0$ . Since  $\mathcal{K}$  is a bounded above complex of projective objects, this implies that  $K(\Phi_2^A)(h') = 0$ , and hence that h' is homotopic to 0, and finally that f = 0.

Now we address the question of defining  $\mathbb{D}$  on free  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules of finite type. More precisely, we define an additive contravariant equivalence

$$\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}: \mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R}) \overset{\sim}{\to} \mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A}^{-1})}(\mathcal{R})$$

as follows. On objects, this functors sends  $\bigoplus_{j\in J}(\mathcal{F}_j,\lambda_j)$  to  $\bigoplus_{j\in J}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F}_j),\lambda_j)$ . By additivity, to define this functor on morphisms it suffices to consider the case of objects of the form  $(\mathcal{F},\lambda)$ . We therefore consider  $\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$ , and  $\lambda,\mu\in\mathbf{Y}$ . Then by definition

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_{n}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}((\mathcal{F},\lambda),(\mathcal{G},\mu)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_{n}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{F}),\Phi^{A}(\mathcal{G})\langle \mu-\lambda\rangle).$$

By Lemma 5.1 and the definition of  $\Phi^A$ , the right-hand side identifies with

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{R}_{\lambda-\mu}) \\ &= \varinjlim_{\nu} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{w_{\circ}(\lambda-\mu)+\nu}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)}_{*}). \end{split}$$

By (3.3), for any  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap (-w_{\circ}(\lambda - \mu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)$  we have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{w_{\diamond}(\lambda-\mu)+\nu}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{-w_{\diamond}(\nu)}_{*}) \\ & \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{v}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\mu-\lambda-w_{\diamond}(\nu)}_{!} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\nu}_{!},\mathcal{G}). \end{split}$$

We next use the fact that  $\mathbb{D}$  commutes with convolution and sends  $\mathcal{I}_{!}^{\eta}$  to  $\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\eta}$  for any  $\eta \in \mathbf{Y}_{+}$  to identify this space with

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{X}^{-1}_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{G}),\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\mu-\lambda-w_{\diamond}(\nu)}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{\nu}).$$

Following this series of identifications we have constructed a natural isomorphism from  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}((\mathcal{F},\lambda),(\mathcal{G},\mu))$  to

$$\varinjlim_{\nu} \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}^{-1}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{G}),\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\mu-\lambda-w_{\diamond}(\nu)}_{*} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}^{\nu}_{*}).$$

Setting  $\nu' = -w_{\circ}(\mu - \lambda) + \nu$  we see that this inductive limit identifies with

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{u}},\mathcal{K}_{A}^{-1})}(\operatorname{Gr},\Bbbk)}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{G}),\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu-\lambda}) &\cong \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathbf{v}},\mathcal{K}_{A}^{-1})}(\mathcal{R})}((\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{G}),\mu),(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F}),\lambda)); \end{split}$$

we have therefore completed the definition of the functor  $\mathbb{D}_{fr}$ .

In order to "extend" this functor to the appropriate derived categories we will use the following lemma.

## Lemma 9.2. Let

$$\mathcal{M}_1 \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{M}_2 \xrightarrow{g} \mathcal{M}_3$$

be a sequence of objects and morphisms of  $\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_{n}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R})$  such that the sequence

$$\Phi_2^A(\mathcal{M}_1) \xrightarrow{\Phi_2^A(f)} \Phi_2^A(\mathcal{M}_2) \xrightarrow{\Phi_2^A(g)} \Phi_2^A(\mathcal{M}_3)$$

is exact at  $\Phi_2^A(\mathcal{M}_2)$ . Then the sequence

$$\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_3)) \xrightarrow{\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(g))} \Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_2)) \xrightarrow{\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(f))} \Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_1))$$

is exact at  $\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_2))$ .

*Proof.* Suppose the latter sequence is not exact, or in other words that

$$\operatorname{im}(\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\operatorname{fr}}(q))) \subseteq \ker(\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\operatorname{fr}}(f))).$$

By Remark 7.10(1), there exists an object  $\mathcal{P}$  in  $\mathsf{Free}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  which is a direct sum of objects of the form  $(\mathcal{F},\lambda)$  with  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  and  $\mathcal{F}$  such that  $\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F}) \cong \mathcal{F}$  and

 $\Phi^A(\mathcal{F})$  projective and injective, and a morphism  $q: \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_2)$  such that the image of  $\Phi_2^A(q)$  is  $\ker(\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(f)))$ . Then q does not factor through  $\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(g)$ :

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{does not exist} & \mathcal{P} \\ \downarrow^{q} & \stackrel{\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(f) \circ q = 0}{\longrightarrow} \\ \mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_{3}) & \stackrel{\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(g)}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_{2}) & \stackrel{\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(f)}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{M}_{1}). \end{array}$$

The object  $\Phi_2^A(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{P}))$  is injective. Applying  $\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}$  to the diagram above we obtain a diagram

$$\mathcal{M}_1 \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{M}_2 \xrightarrow{g} \mathcal{M}_3$$

$$\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}(q) \circ f = 0} \downarrow \mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}(p)} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{does \ not \ exist}} \mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}(\mathcal{P}).$$

This diagram implies that the image under  $\Phi_2^A$  of the top row is not exact at  $\mathcal{M}_2$ , a contradiction.

Lemma 9.2 implies that the functor

$$K(\mathbb{D}_{\mathrm{fr}}):K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{n}},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))\to K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{n}},\mathcal{X}_{A}^{-1})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))$$

restricts to an endofunctor of  $K(\mathsf{Free}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}}$  that preserves the kernel of (9.2) (in the sense that it sends the kernel of the version for  $\mathcal{X}_A$  to the kernel of the version for  $\mathcal{X}_A^{-1}$ ). It therefore induces a contravariant triangulated functor

$$D(\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}} \to D(\mathsf{Free}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_{-}^{-1})}(\mathcal{R}))^{\mathrm{b}}.$$

Conjugating this functor with the equivalence (9.3) (more precisely, the version for  $\mathcal{X}_A$  and that for  $\mathcal{X}_A^{-1}$ ) we obtain a contravariant triangulated functor

$$\mathbb{D}: D^{\mathrm{b}} \mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}} \mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A}^{-1})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}).$$

It is clear from this construction that  $\mathbb D$  is involutive, in the sense that the composition of the version for  $\mathcal X_A$  and that for  $\mathcal X_A^{-1}$  is the identity and vice versa (in particular,  $\mathbb D$  is an equivalence of categories), and that (9.1) holds for any  $\mathcal F$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak u}^A,\mathcal X_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\Bbbk)$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf Y$ . In particular, for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  we have

$$\mathbb{D}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A.$$

Since any simple object in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is of this form (see Theorem 5.6), we deduce that  $\mathbb{D}$  is exact for the natural t-structures on the categories  $D^{\operatorname{b}}\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $D^{\operatorname{b}}\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A^{-1})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . The restriction of this functor to  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules therefore possesses all the required properties.

- Remark 9.3. (1) The construction of the anti-autoequivalence  $\mathbb{D}$  given here follows the one suggested in [ABBGM, Top of p. 297]. Note however that in loc. cit. the authors do not justify that this construction does not depend on the choices one has to make, and defines a functor. Our study of projective objects exactly fills this gap.
  - (2) Note that the isomorphisms (9.4) show that for any  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  and  $w \in {}^AW_{\operatorname{ext}}$  we have

$$[\mathcal{F}:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A] = [\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F}):\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A].$$

In particular, the endomorphism induced by  $\mathbb{D}$  on the Grothendieck group  $[\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{-}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})]$  is trivial.

Recall the map  $\iota_A$  from (7.5), which is defined so that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota_A(w)}^A$  is the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ . The properties of  $\mathbb D$  stated above imply that  $\mathbb D(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A)$  is also the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$ ; it follows that

(9.5) 
$$\mathbb{D}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}^{A}) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota_{A}(w)}^{A} \quad \text{for any } w \in W_{\text{ext}}.$$

9.2. Baby Verma modules. Given  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , we define the baby Verma module with label w to be the  $\mathcal{R}$ -module  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A$  given by

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A := \mathbb{D}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}) \qquad \in \operatorname{mod}_{(I_v^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}).$$

We will say that an object  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  admits a baby Verma filtration if it admits a finite filtration whose subquotients are isomorphic to baby Verma modules. It is clear from the definition that  $\mathcal{F}$  admits a baby Verma filtration iff  $\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{F})$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration.

The following properties of baby Verma modules are immediate consequences of the corresponding facts for baby co-Verma modules (see §5.6 and §7.2), together with the properties of Verdier duality stated in §9.1.

(1) For  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}$  we have Lemma 9.4.

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{wt_{\lambda}}^{A} \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{A} \langle -\lambda \rangle.$$

- (2) For  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A$  has a simple head, isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ . (3) For  $w, y \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , we have  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^A : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A] = [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^{\prime A} : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A]$ .

**Proposition 9.5.** (1) If  $w, x \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  satisfy  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{A} : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{x}^{A}] \neq 0$ , we have  $x \leq w \leq w \leq w$ . Moreover, we have  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{x}^{A} : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{x}^{A}] = 1$  and  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}}^{A} : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{x}] \leq 1$ .

(2) For any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{A}$  is the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$  in the Serre subcategory of  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{n}^{N},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  generated by the simple objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}^{A}$  with  $y \not\succ w$ .

Remark 9.6. As in Remark 7.6, Proposition 9.5 implies that if  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ admits a baby Verma filtration, then the number  $(\mathcal{M}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A)$  of occurrences of a given baby Verma module  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{A}$  in such a filtration is independent of the choice of filtration; in fact these numbers are determined by the equality

$$[\mathcal{M}] = \sum_{w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{out}}} (\mathcal{M} : \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A) \cdot [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A]$$

in  $[\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\cdot A}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})].$ 

Suppose now that  $\mathcal{M}$  admits both a baby Verma filtration and baby co-Verma filtration. By Remark 9.3(2), we have  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A] = [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A]$  for all  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , so comparing the equation above with that in Remark 7.6, we deduce that

(9.6) 
$$(\mathcal{M}: \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A) = (\mathcal{M}: \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}) \quad \text{for all } w \in {}^AW_{\text{ext}}.$$

Recall that in the proof of Theorem 7.9, we showed that  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is an "essentially finite highest weight category" in the sense of [BS, Definition 3.7]. In that setting, comparing Proposition 9.5 with [BS, Lemma 3.1], we see that for any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  the baby Verma module  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{A}$  is isomorphic to the objects denoted  $\Delta(w)$ 

and  $\bar{\Delta}(w)$  in [BS]. Now that these objects are identified, we can state property " $(P\Delta_{\varepsilon})$ " from [BS] in our setting, which does hold by [BS, Theorem 3.5].

**Proposition 9.7.** For any  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ , the object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}^{A}$  admits a baby Verma filtration

The following lemma is a restatment of [BS, Theorems 3.11 and 3.14] in our context.

Lemma 9.8. Let  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{mod}_{(I_{+}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ .

(1) The object  $\mathcal{M}$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration if and only if it satisfies  $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A,\mathcal{M}) = 0$  for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\operatorname{ext}}$ . Moreover, in this case, for any  $w \in {}^AW_{\operatorname{ext}}$  we have

$$\operatorname{Ext}^n_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A, \mathcal{M}) = 0 \quad \text{for any } n \ge 1$$

and

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{u}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{A},\mathcal{M}) = (\mathcal{M}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{\prime A}).$$

(2) The object  $\mathcal{M}$  admits a baby Verma filtration if and only if it satisfies  $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{M},\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})=0$  for any  $w\in {}^AW_{\operatorname{ext}}$ . Moreover, in this case, for any  $w\in {}^AW_{\operatorname{ext}}$  we have

$$\operatorname{Ext}^n_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A)$$
 for any  $n \geq 1$ 

and

$$\dim\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{M},\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{\prime A})=(\mathcal{M}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w}^{A}).$$

Lemma 9.8 implies in particular that the property of admitting a baby Verma filtration is stable under direct summands, and similarly for baby co-Verma filtrations. It also implies that we have a "reciprocity formula" (see [BS, Corollaries 3.12 and 3.15]): for  $w, y \in {}^{A}W_{\rm ext}$  we have

$$(9.7) \qquad (\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^{\prime A}) = [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^A:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A], \qquad (\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota_A(w)}^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^A) = [\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^{\prime A}:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A],$$

where  $\iota_A(w)$  is defined in (7.5). (Here, the numbers on both sides of the first equation are equal to  $\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y^A, \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A)$ , and those in the second equation are equal to  $\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota_A(w)}^A, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y'^A)$ .)

Remark 9.9. The first equality in (9.7) and Proposition 9.5 show that  $(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_y'^A)$  vanishes unless  $w \leq y$ , and is equal to 1 if y=w. In particular, given an indecomposable injective object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}$  in  $\mathrm{mod}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$ , to determine the socle of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}$  (i.e. its label) it suffices to determine the smallest element w (for the order  $\leq$ ) such that  $(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A) \neq 0$ . Since the classes  $([\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A]: w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}})$  in  $[\mathrm{mod}_{(I_u^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})]$  are linearly independent (see Remark 7.6), this also implies that the classes  $([\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A]: w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}})$  are linearly independent.

Corollary 9.10. Let  $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N} \in \operatorname{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$ . If  $\mathcal{M}$  admits a baby Verma filtration and  $\mathcal{N}$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration, then

$$\dim\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{N}) = \sum_{y\in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}} (\mathcal{M}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{y}^{A})(\mathcal{N}:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{y}^{\prime A}).$$

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on the number of steps in a baby co-Verma filtration of  $\mathcal{N}$ . If  $\mathcal{N}$  is itself a baby co-Verma module, say  $\mathcal{N} = \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}$ , then the lemma reduces to the claim that  $\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}) = (\mathcal{M} : \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A)$ , which is part of Lemma 9.8. Otherwise, choose a short exact sequence  $0 \to \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A} \to \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{N}' \to 0$ , where  $\mathcal{N}'$  has a baby co-Verma filtration with fewer steps. Since  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}) = 0$  by Lemma 9.8, we get a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w'^A) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}') \to 0,$$

and hence

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) = (\mathcal{M} : \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{m}^{A}) + \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}').$$

The lemma follows by induction.

Corollary 9.11. Let  $\omega \in \Omega$ , and let  $s_1, \ldots, s_r \in S_{\text{aff}}$ . The integer

$$\dim \operatorname{End}(\Phi(\xi_{s_r}\cdots \xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(j_{1*}^{\varsigma}\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma})))$$

is independent of the field k.

Proof. As in the proof of Proposition 7.4 the object  $\Phi(\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(j_{!*}^\varsigma\mathcal{S}_\varsigma))$  is both injective and projective, so it admits both a baby Verma filtration and a baby co-Verma filtration (see Theorem 7.9(2) and Proposition 9.7). By Corollary 9.10, it is therefore enough to show that the baby (co-)Verma multiplicities are independent of the field of coefficients  $\mathbb{k}$ . The baby co-Verma multiplicities in  $\Phi(j_{!*}^\varsigma\mathcal{S}_\varsigma)$  are given explicitly in Lemma 6.10 (and are manifestly independent of  $\mathbb{k}$ ). Then, the baby co-Verma multiplicities in  $\Phi(\xi_{s_r}\cdots\xi_{s_1}\xi_{\omega^{-1}}(j_{!*}^\varsigma\mathcal{S}_\varsigma))$  can be computed by the combinatorial rules from Lemma 6.12, from which we see that these multiplicities are again independent of  $\mathbb{k}$ . We deduce the same property for baby Verma multiplicities using (9.6).

9.3. Integral  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules. In order to prove some further properties of baby Verma and co-Verma modules, we need to make a detour through a version of our categories over the ring of integers  $\mathbb{O}$  of a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ . (Our understanding of this theory is quite limited, and the results obtained below are clearly not fully satisfactory. They will still be sufficient for the applications we have in mind.) For clarity, in this subsection we will sometimes add the coefficients in parentheses to various notations introduced above.

Let  $\mathbb O$  be the ring of integers in a finite extension  $\mathbb K$  of  $\mathbb Q_\ell$  containing a nontrivial p-th root of unity, and let  $\mathbb F$  be its residue field. Then we can consider the categories  $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^A_u,\mathcal X_A)}(\mathrm{Gr},\mathbb E)$  and  $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal L^+G}(\mathrm{Gr},\mathbb E)$  for any  $\mathbb E\in\{\mathbb K,\mathbb O,\mathbb F\}$ , and we have change-of-scalars functors

$$\mathbb{K} := \mathbb{K} \overset{L}{\otimes_{\mathbb{O}}} (-) : D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{K}),$$

$$\mathbb{F} := \mathbb{F} \overset{L}{\otimes_{\mathbb{O}}} (-) : D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathrm{u}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{F}),$$

and similarly for the  $\mathcal{L}^+G$ -equivariant categories. (Here the symbol  $(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)$  refers to the Whittaker condition over  $\mathbb{O}$ ,  $\mathbb{F}$  or  $\mathbb{K}$  depending on the coefficients appearing elsewhere in the notation.)

The definition of the ind-perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{R}$  with coefficients in  $\mathbb{O}$  (denoted  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$  below) can be copied verbatim from §5.2. Note that the geometric Satake equivalence is also known over  $\mathbb{O}$ ; however, in that setting the definition of the convolution product on  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  involves a perverse truncation, see [MV, Equation (4.2)]. Here we continue to define the bifunctors

$$\begin{split} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} : D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) \times D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) &\to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}), \\ \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} : D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) \times D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) &\to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{(I^A_u, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathrm{Gr}, \mathbb{O}) \end{split}$$

as in (3.2) or §3.4, i.e. without incorporating the perverse truncation; with this notation, the convolution product on  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  used in the construction of the geometric Satake equivalence is therefore given by

$$(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}) \mapsto {}^{p}\mathcal{H}^{0}(\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{G}).$$

**Lemma 9.12.** For any  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  and any  $\mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  such that  $\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{G})$  is perverse, the complex  $\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+\mathcal{G}} \mathcal{G}$  is perverse. In particular, for any  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , the complex  $\mathcal{F} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+\mathcal{G}} \mathcal{I}^\lambda_*$  is perverse.

Proof. To prove this lemma we will use the description of the product  $\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}$  in terms of nearby cycles first made explicit by Gaitsgory [Ga]; see [AR4, Proposition 3.3.1] for more details. By t-exactness of nearby cycles, this description shows that to prove the first statement in the lemma it suffices to prove that the complex  $\mathcal{F} \boxtimes_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathbb{Q}} \mathcal{G}$  on  $Gr \times Gr$  is perverse. By right exactness of the derived tensor product, this complex belongs to the nonpositive part of the perverse t-structure. To check that it belongs to the nonnegative part, we have to check that for any  $I_{\mathbf{u}}^A$ -orbit  $X \subset Gr$  and any  $\mathcal{L}^+G$ -orbit  $Y \subset Gr$ , the corestriction of our complex  $\mathcal{F} \boxtimes_{\mathbb{Q}}^L \mathcal{G}$  to  $X \times Y$  is concentrated in nonnegative perverse degrees. Now the embedding of  $X \times Y$  in  $Gr \times Gr$  can be written as a composition

$$X \times Y \hookrightarrow X \times Gr \xrightarrow{i \times id} Gr \times Gr$$
,

where  $i: X \to Gr$  is the embedding. It therefore suffices to show that the complex

$$(i \times \mathrm{id})^! (\mathcal{F} \overset{L}{\boxtimes}_{\mathbb{O}} \mathcal{G}) = (i^! \mathcal{F}) \overset{L}{\boxtimes}_{\mathbb{O}} \mathcal{G}$$

is concentrated in nonnegative perverse degrees. Now  $i^!\mathcal{F}$  is an extension of constant sheaves  $\underline{M}_X[n]$  with M a finitely generated  $\mathbb{O}$ -module and  $n \leq \dim(X)$ . Our assumption on  $\mathcal{G}$  ensures that each  $\underline{M}_X[n] \boxtimes_{\mathbb{O}}^L \mathcal{G}$  is in nonnegative perverse degrees, which implies our claim.

The second assertion of the lemma follows from the first one, since  $\mathcal{I}_*^{\lambda}$  satisfies the required assumption by [MV, Proposition 8.1].

Lemma 9.12 shows that for any  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  and any  $\lambda,\mu\in\mathbf{Y}$  appearing in (5.3) the convolution  $\mathcal{F}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}^{w_\circ(\mu)+\lambda}_*\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{I}^{-w_\circ(\lambda)}_*$  is perverse. For any ind-object  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  and any  $\mu\in\mathbf{Y}$  we can therefore consider the ind-object  $\mathcal{F}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{R}_\mu$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$ , and then make sense of the abelian category  $\mathsf{Mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$  as in §5.4. The functor

$$\Phi^A:\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})\to \mathrm{Mod}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})),$$

and the notions of free  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$ -module of finite type and finitely generated  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$ module can also be copied. Lemma 5.1 holds unchanged. The definitions of the

various averaging functors from §6.1 carry over to this setting, and one can show that these functors are still exact; in particular, there is an exact functor

$$\xi_A : \operatorname{Mod}_{I_n}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})) \to \operatorname{Mod}_{I_n}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$$

that sends finitely generated  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$ -modules to finitely generated  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$ -modules.

Remark 9.13. As with field coefficients, it is not immediately obvious that the category of finitely generated  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$ -modules, which one may denote  $\mathrm{mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$ , is abelian. We will not address this question in this paper, as working in the category  $\mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$  will be sufficient for our purposes.

The change-of-scalars functor  $\mathbb{F}$  induces a right-exact functor

$$\mathbb{F}^0: \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})) \to \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{F}))$$

defined as follows. If  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$ , the underlying graded ind-perverse sheaf of  $\mathbb{F}^0(\mathcal{M})$  is  ${}^p\mathcal{H}^0(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{M}))$ , with the obvious grading. The morphisms

$${}^{p}\mathcal{H}^{0}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}))\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{R}_{\mu}(\mathbb{F})\to{}^{p}\mathcal{H}^{0}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{M}_{\lambda+\mu}))$$

are obtained from the morphisms  $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{R}_{\mu}(\mathbb{O}) \to \mathcal{M}_{\lambda + \mu}$  by application of the functor  ${}^p\mathcal{H}^0(\mathbb{F}(-))$ , using the fact that for any  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(L^A_{\cdot}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{O})$  we have

$${}^{p}\mathcal{H}^{0}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{O})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{O})))\cong$$

$${}^{p}\mathcal{H}^{0}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F}))\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\mu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{F})\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{F})$$

by commutation of  $\mathbb{F}$  with convolution, the fact that  $\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{I}_*^{\nu}(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathcal{I}_*^{\nu}(\mathbb{F})$  for any  $\nu$  (see the proof of Lemma 9.12), and exactness of convolution over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Similar considerations show that the functor  $\mathbb{K}$  induces in the natural way an exact functor

$$\mathbb{K}: \mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})) \to \mathrm{Mod}_{(I_{\mathrm{u}}^{A}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{K})).$$

(Here there is no perverse cohomology involved in the construction since  $\mathbb{K}$  is t-exact; we therefore do not add any superscript in the notation.) It is clear from this definition that for  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  we have canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathbb{F}^0 \circ \Phi^A(\mathcal{F}) \cong \Phi^A({}^p\mathcal{H}^0(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F}))), \quad \mathbb{K} \circ \Phi^A(\mathcal{F}) \cong \Phi^A(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{F})).$$

The functors  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\mathbb{F}^0$  also commute in the natural way with the averaging functors. We will now analyze the effect of the functors  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\mathbb{F}^0$  on morphisms. We start with the much easier case of  $\mathbb{K}$ .

**Lemma 9.14.** Let  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_\mathfrak{u}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{O})$ . For any  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$ , the functor  $\mathbb{K}$  induces an isomorphism

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{K} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{Mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathfrak{U}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))}(\Phi(\mathcal{F}), \Phi(\mathcal{G}) \langle \nu \rangle) &\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \\ \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I^{A}_{\mathfrak{O}}, \mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{K}))}(\Phi(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{F})), \Phi(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{G})) \langle \nu \rangle). \end{split}$$

*Proof.* By (the analogue of) Lemma 5.1 we have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^{A}, \varkappa_{A})}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))}(\Phi(\mathcal{F}), \Phi(\mathcal{G})\langle \nu \rangle) &\cong \\ & \qquad \lim_{\longrightarrow \longrightarrow} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\operatorname{u}}^{A}, \varkappa_{A})}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbb{O})}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{w_{\circ}(\nu) + \lambda}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{O})), \end{split}$$

and similarly over  $\mathbb{K}$ . The claim follows, using the fact that inductive limits commute with tensor product, and that for  $\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_n^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{O})$  the morphism

(9.8) 
$$\mathbb{K} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\mathbb{O})}(\mathcal{H}_{1},\mathcal{H}_{2}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{U}}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\mathbb{K})}(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{H}_{1}),\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{H}_{2}))$$
 induced by  $\mathbb{K}$  is an isomorphism.

We now consider the more delicate case of  $\mathbb{F}^0$ . Recall that a perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  or  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  is called *torsion-free* if multiplication by a uniformizer of  $\mathbb{O}$  is injective on  $\mathcal{F}$ , or equivalently if  $\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F})$  is perverse. Using this characterization and t-exactness of convolution over  $\mathbb{F}$ , one easily sees that if  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_{\mathfrak{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  or  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+G}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$  are torsion-free, then  $\mathcal{F}\star^{\mathcal{L}^+G}\mathcal{G}$  is torsion-free. Recall also that the  $\mathbb{O}$ -module of morphisms between two torsion-free perverse sheaves is finitely generated and torsion-free, hence free of finite rank. The following lemma comprises an analogue of Lemma 5.10 over  $\mathbb{O}$ .

**Lemma 9.15.** Let  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{(I^A_n, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{O})$  be torsion-free, and let  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$ .

(1) If 
$$\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap (w_{\circ}(\nu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)$$
 is sufficiently large, the natural map

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{O})) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathcal{F}), \Phi(\mathcal{G})\langle \nu \rangle)$$
is an isomorphism. In particular,  $\operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathcal{F}), \Phi(\mathcal{G})\langle \nu \rangle)$  is a free  $\mathbb{O}$ -module of finite rank.

(2) The functor  $\mathbb{F}^0$  induces an injection

$$\mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))}(\Phi(\mathcal{F}), \Phi(\mathcal{G})\langle \nu \rangle) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathrm{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{F}))}(\Phi(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F})), \Phi(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{G}))\langle \nu \rangle),$$
which is an isomorphism if and only if

$$\begin{split} \dim_{\mathbb{K}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{K}))}(\Phi(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{F})), \Phi(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{G})) \langle \nu \rangle) = \\ \dim_{\mathbb{F}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\operatorname{u}}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{F}))}(\Phi(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F})), \Phi(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{G})) \langle \nu \rangle). \end{split}$$

*Proof.* (1) Recall that if  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  are torsion-free perverse sheaves, then there is a natural injective map

$$(9.9) \mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}_{1}, \mathcal{H}_{2}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{F} \overset{L}{\otimes_{\mathbb{O}}} \mathcal{H}_{1}, \mathbb{F} \overset{L}{\otimes_{\mathbb{O}}} \mathcal{H}_{2}),$$

whose cokernel identifies with  $\operatorname{Tor}_1^{\mathbb{O}}(\mathbb{F},\operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathcal{H}_1,\mathcal{H}_2)).$ 

Let  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap (w_{\circ}(\nu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)$ , let  $\mu \in \mathbf{Y}_+$ , and set  $\lambda' := \lambda + \mu$ . In the following diagram, the vertical maps come from the morphisms (9.8) and (9.9), and the horizontal maps are defined by the considerations in §5.2. Note that the second row consists of free  $\mathbb{O}$ -modules, while the top and bottom rows consist of  $\mathbb{K}$ - and  $\mathbb{F}$ -vector spaces, respectively.

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{F}), \mathbb{K}(\mathcal{G}) \star \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda} \star \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}) \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{i})} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{F}), \mathbb{K}(\mathcal{G}) \star \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda'} \star \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda')})$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad$$

Our goal is to prove that when  $\lambda$  is large enough, arrow (ii) is an isomorphism. Lemma 5.10 and Remark 5.11 show that when  $\lambda$  is large enough, arrows (i) and (iv) are both isomorphisms. The topmost and bottommost commutative squares then show that arrows (ii) and (iii) are both injective.

The free  $\mathbb{O}$ -modules in the second row must have equal (finite) ranks, because the  $\mathbb{K}$ -vector spaces they give rise to in the first row have equal dimensions. It then follows that the  $\mathbb{F}$ -vector spaces in the third row also have equal dimensions. Since arrow (iii) is an injective map between  $\mathbb{F}$ -vector spaces of equal dimension, it is actually an isomorphism. In view of this, Nakayama's lemma implies that the middle one is surjective, which finishes the proof.

(2) If  $\lambda$  is large enough, by (1) and Lemma 5.10 we have identifications

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{O})) \overset{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathcal{F}),\Phi(\mathcal{G})\langle \nu \rangle)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{E}(\mathcal{F}), \mathbb{E}(\mathcal{G}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{E}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{E})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathbb{E}(\mathcal{F})), \Phi(\mathbb{E}(\mathcal{G}))\langle \nu \rangle)$$

for  $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{K}$  or  $\mathbb{F}$ . Via these identifications, the morphism under consideration identifies with the morphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{O})) \to \\ \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F}), \mathbb{F}(\mathcal{G}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{F}))$$

induced by  $\mathbb{F}$ . The latter morphism is injective, as noted in (9.9). It is an isomorphism if and only if these vector spaces have equal dimension, which in view of the identifications above and the isomorphism (9.8) is equivalent to the condition in the statement.

Remark 9.16. For later use, let us record a special case in which the condition in Lemma 9.15(2) is satisfied. We assume that  $A=\varnothing$ , and fix some simple reflections  $s_1,\ldots,s_r\in S_{\mathrm{aff}}$  and some  $\omega\in\Omega$ . For  $\mathbb{E}\in\{\mathbb{K},\mathbb{O},\mathbb{F}\}$  we set

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}) := \xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r} \xi_{\omega} (\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_0(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{E})).$$

(See §3.5 for generalities on tilting  $\mathbb{O}$ -perverse sheaves.) Here we have  $\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{O}) \cong j_{*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}(\mathbb{O}) \cong j_{*}^{\varsigma} \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}(\mathbb{O})$ . In particular we have

$$\mathbb{F}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{F}), \quad \mathbb{K}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\Diamond}(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{K}),$$

which implies that

$$\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{K})$$
 and  $\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F})$ .

In particular, this shows that  $\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))$  is tilting, which by standard arguments implies that  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O})$  is tilting.

If  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{O})$  is tilting, then the condition in Lemma 9.15(2) is satisfied for the pairs of objects  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))$  and  $(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}), \mathcal{F})$  and any  $\nu \in \mathbf{Y}$ . Indeed, for  $\lambda \in \mathbf{Y}_+ \cap (w_o(\nu) + \mathbf{Y}_+)$  the object  $\mathcal{I}_*^{-w_o(\nu) + \lambda}(\mathbb{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_o(\lambda)}(\mathbb{F})$  has a costandard filtration (in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{\mathcal{L}^+ G}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{F})$ ) by [AR3, Proposition 4.8], hence

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{F}) &\cong \\ & \mathbb{F}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{O})) \end{split}$$

admits a costandard filtration (in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{F})$ ) by Lemma 6.7 and the considerations in §3.7. By standard arguments, this implies that the perverse sheaf  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\circ}(\nu) + \lambda}(\mathbb{O}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^+ G} \mathcal{I}_*^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{O})$  admits a costandard filtration in the category  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_{\mathsf{u}}}(\mathsf{Gr},\mathbb{O})$ . We deduce the equality

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{F}), \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{F})) = \\ \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{F}), \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{K}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu)+\lambda}(\mathbb{K}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{K}))$$

by the usual formula calculating dimensions of morphism spaces from a standardly-filtered object to a costandardly-filtered object in terms of multiplicities. Similar arguments apply in the second setting, using the isomorphism

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}), \mathbb{E}(\mathcal{F}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\nu) + \lambda}(\mathbb{E}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{E})) &\cong \\ \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{\nu - w_{\circ}(\lambda)}(\mathbb{E}) \star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G} \mathcal{I}_{!}^{\lambda}(\mathbb{E}), \mathbb{E}(\mathcal{F})) \end{split}$$

for  $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{K}$  or  $\mathbb{F}$ .

We finally come to the main result of this subsection.

**Theorem 9.17.** For each  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , there exists an indecomposable finitely generated  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$ -module  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O})$  with the following properties:

- (1) it is a direct summand of an object  $\Phi(\xi_{s_1} \cdots \xi_{s_r} \xi_{\omega}(\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_{\circ}(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{O}))) \langle \nu \rangle$  for some  $s_1, \cdots, s_r \in S_{\mathrm{aff}}, \ \omega \in \Omega, \ \nu \in \mathbf{Y};$
- $s_1, \dots, s_r \in S_{\text{aff}}, \ \omega \in \Omega, \ \nu \in \mathbf{Y};$ (2) we have  $\mathbb{F}^0(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O})) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{F});$
- (3) the  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{K})$ -module  $\mathbb{K}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O}))$  is projective and injective, and contains the indecomposable object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{K})$  as a direct summand with multiplicity 1.

*Proof.* By periodicity, it is enough to prove this claim when  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ . Assume this from now on. Choose  $s_1, \ldots, s_r \in S_{\text{aff}}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$  as in Lemma 6.6, and for  $\mathbb{E} \in \{\mathbb{K}, \mathbb{O}, \mathbb{F}\}$ , let

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}) := \xi_{s_r} \cdots \xi_{s_1} \xi_{\omega^{-1}} (\mathsf{T}_{t_{w_s(\varsigma)}}(\mathbb{E})).$$

(See Remark 9.16 for comments on this definition.)

When  $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{K}$  or  $\mathbb{F}$ , the proof of Proposition 7.4 shows that  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}))$  is injective and projective, and that it contains the injective envelope  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{E})$  of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w(\mathbb{E})$  as a direct summand. More precisely, considering the baby co-Verma multiplicities described in that proposition and comparing with Theorem 7.9, we see that in this case:

- $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}))$  contains  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{E})$  as a direct summand with multiplicity 1;
- for any other indecomposable injective object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{E})$  occurring as a direct summand of  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}))$ , we have  $y \succ w$ .

The first item above implies that we then have

(9.10) 
$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{E})), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{E}))) = 1.$$

We now consider the case  $\mathbb{E} = \mathbb{O}$ . Let  $\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O})$  be the intersection cohomology complex associated with the constant  $\mathbb{O}$ -local system on  $\mathrm{Gr}_w$ . It is well known that  $\mathbb{K}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{K})$ , so that (9.10) implies that

(9.11) 
$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathbb{K}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O}))), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{K}))) = 1.$$

Next, let us study the analogous problem over  $\mathbb{F}$ . The modular reduction  $\mathbb{F}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O}))$  is a perverse sheaf which is not simple in general; instead, there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{K} \to \mathbb{F}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O})) \to \mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{F}) \to 0$$

where  $\mathcal{K}$  is a perverse sheaf with composition factors of the form  $\mathsf{L}_z(\mathbb{F})$  with  $z \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$  such that z < w (and hence  $z \prec w$  by Lemma 2.5(3)). By Lemma 5.8, the  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{F})$ -module  $\Phi(\mathcal{K})$  has all of its composition factors of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{z'}(\mathbb{F})$  with  $z' \prec w$ .

Apply the exact functor  $\operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(-), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F})))$  to the exact sequence above to get a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{F})), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}))) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{F}(\Phi(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O}))), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F})))$$
$$\to \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathcal{K}), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}))) \to 0.$$

By (9.10), the first term has dimension 1. The claim above on the composition factors of  $\Phi(\mathcal{K})$  and the description of the summands  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{F})$  that can occur in  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}))$  imply that  $\operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathcal{K}), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}))) = 0$ . We conclude that

(9.12) 
$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathbb{F}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O}))), \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F})) = 1.$$

Combining (9.11), (9.12), and Lemma 9.15, we see that the functor  $\mathbb{F}^0$  induces an isomorphism

$$(9.13) \mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O})), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathbb{F}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O}))), \Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}))).$$

Similarly, according to Corollary 9.11, the rings  $\operatorname{End}(\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{K})))$  and  $\operatorname{End}(\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F})))$  have equal dimensions, so by Lemma 9.15 again, the functor  $\mathbb{F}^0$  induces an isomorphism

$$(9.14) \mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{End}(\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}(\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}))).$$

Of course, analogues of both of these isomorphisms hold if  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))$  is replaced by some direct summand.

Let us now study the direct summands of  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))$ . Because  $\mathbb{O}$  is a complete noetherian local ring, the finite  $\mathbb{O}$ -algebra  $\operatorname{End}(\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O})))$  is a semiperfect ring by [La, Example 23.3], and similarly for direct sums of copies of  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))$  or direct summands of such objects. Then, by [Kr, Corollary 4.4] applied to the full subcategory of  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$  generated by  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))$  under direct sums and direct summands, the Krull–Schmidt theorem applies to  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O}))$ : this object has a unique (up to isomorphism and reordering) decomposition into indecomposable summands

$$\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathcal{M}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{M}_n$$

where each  $\mathcal{M}_i$  has a local endomorphism ring. As explained above, for any i we have a natural isomorphism

$$\mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{M}_i) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{M}_i)).$$

In particular,  $\operatorname{End}(\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{M}_i))$  is again a local ring. In other words, each  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{F})$ -module  $\mathbb{F}(\mathcal{M}_i)$  is indecomposable, and these are all the indecomposable summands of  $\Phi(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{F}))$ . Exactly one of these summands is isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{F})$ ; we can therefore assume without loss of generality that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{F}) \cong \mathbb{F}(\mathcal{M}_1)$ . We define

$$\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O}) := \mathcal{M}_1.$$

Parts (1) and (2) of the theorem hold by construction. It remains to prove part (3). This is equivalent to showing that

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w(\mathbb{K}), \mathbb{K}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O}))) = 1.$$

To see this, observe first that since  $\mathbb{K}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O})) \cong \mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{K})$ , by Lemmas 9.14 and 9.15 and the construction of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O})$  we have

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w(\mathbb{K}), \mathbb{K}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O}))) = \dim \mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O})), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O})).$$

Next, it follows from (9.13) that

$$\dim \mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O})), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O})) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathbb{F}(\mathsf{L}_w(\mathbb{O}))), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{F})),$$
 and the right-hand side is equal to 1 by (9.12).

- Remark 9.18. (1) It is possible to adapt the reasoning of Propositions 5.7, 6.5, and 7.4 to the setting of  $\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O})$ -modules, to show that the object  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{O})$  appearing in the preceding proof is a projective object in  $\operatorname{Mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$ . Therefore, its direct summand  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O})$  is also projective. (Of course, it would also be projective in  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_u}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$  if one knew that the latter category was abelian: see Remark 9.13.) Note, however, that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O})$  is not injective, unlike its field counterparts: this essentially comes down to the fact that  $\mathbb{O}$  is not an injective  $\mathbb{O}$ -module.
  - (2) For any  $y, w \in W_{\text{ext}}$ , the  $\mathbb{O}$ -module  $\text{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{O}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O}))$  is free of finite rank, and the functors  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\mathbb{F}^0$  induce isomorphisms

$$\mathbb{K} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{y}(\mathbb{O}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}(\mathbb{O})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{K}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{y}(\mathbb{O})), \mathbb{K}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}(\mathbb{O})))$$

and

$$\mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{y}(\mathbb{O}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}(\mathbb{O})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{y}(\mathbb{F}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}(\mathbb{F})).$$

In fact this follows from part (1) in Theorem 9.17, combined with Lemmas 9.14 and 9.15 and Remark 9.16.

**Corollary 9.19.** Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a tilting object in  $\mathsf{Perv}_{I_u}(\mathsf{Gr}, \mathbb{O})$ . If  $\mathcal{M}$  is a direct summand of  $\Phi(\mathcal{F})$  which satisfies  $\mathbb{F}^0(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ , we have  $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $y \in W_{\text{ext}}$ . By part (1) in Theorem 9.17 and by Lemma 9.15 and Remark 9.16, the  $\mathbb{O}$ -module  $\text{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{O}))$  is free of finite rank, and the functor  $\mathbb{F}^0$  induces an isomorphism

$$\mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{O})) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{F}^0(\mathcal{M}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{F})).$$

Since the right-hand side vanishes, this implies that we have  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{O})) = 0$ . Using Lemma 9.14 we deduce that  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{M}), \mathbb{K}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{O}))) = 0$ , and hence that  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{M}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_y(\mathbb{K})) = 0$  by part (3) in Theorem 9.17.

Since  $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{M})$  is finitely generated, what we have shown implies that this object has no composition factor, i.e. is trivial.

The following application of Theorem 9.17 will be needed in §9.4 (where we will show that, in fact, the dimension in question is equal to 1).

**Proposition 9.20.** If  $\mathbb{k}$  is any field, then for any  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}$  the dimension of the  $\mathbb{k}$ -vector space  $\text{Hom}_{\text{mod}_{L}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{k}))}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}(\mathbb{k}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w^{\triangle}}(\mathbb{k}))$  is at least 1.

*Proof.* By periodicity (see (2.4)), it is enough to prove this property when  $w \in W_{\text{ext}}^{\text{res}}$ We assume this from now on.

Suppose first that k is a field of characteristic 0. In this case, according to Remark 8.11(1) we have  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w \cong \Phi(\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}})$ . The object  $\mathsf{L}_{w^{\triangle}}$  occurs as a composition factor of  $\mathsf{T}_{w^{\triangle}}$ , so  $\Phi(\mathsf{L}_{w^{\triangle}})$  is a subquotient of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w}$ . It follows from Theorem 3.16 and Lemma 5.2 that  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w^{\triangle}}$  is a direct summand of  $\Phi(\mathsf{L}_{w^{\triangle}})$ , and hence a composition factor of  $Q_w$ . The result follows.

We now consider the case where k has positive characteristic. We can assume that k is finite. Let K be a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$  whose ring of integers  $\mathbb{O}$  has k as residue field. Since  $\mathbb{K}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O}))$  contains  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{K})$  as a direct summand, and likewise for  $w^{\triangle}$  (part (3) in Theorem 9.17), the previous paragraph and Remark 9.18(2) imply that the free  $\mathbb{O}$ -module  $\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{O}),\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w^{\triangle}}(\mathbb{O}))$  has rank  $\geq 1$ . Using again Remark 9.18(2), we deduce that dim  $\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w(\mathbb{k}), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w^{\triangle}}(\mathbb{k})) \geq 1$  as well. 

9.4. Application: multiplicities and projective covers. We now return to the setting of field coefficients. In the following proposition we gather the main properties of the objects  $\mathcal{Q}_w^A$ , some of which have already appeared in earlier statements.

Proposition 9.21. Let  $w, x \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ .

- (1) The object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A$  is both the injective envelope and the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A$ . (2) We have  $\mathbb{D}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A$ .
- (3) We have  $\operatorname{Av}_{*}^{A}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}^{A}) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}$  and  $\operatorname{Av}_{!}^{A}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}^{A}) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}$ .
- (4) The multiplicities in baby Verma and baby co-Verma filtrations of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A$  satisfy the following "reciprocity laws":

$$(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})=[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A]=[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A}:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A]=(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A).$$

Moreover, these numbers are zero unless  $x \leq w \leq w_A x^{\triangle}$ , and they are equal to 1 when w = x or  $w = w_A x^{\triangle}$ .

Recall the map  $\iota_A$  defined in (7.5), characterized by the property that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\iota_A(x)}^A$  is the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A$ . In view of (9.5), parts (1) and (2) are both equivalent to the claim that

(9.15) 
$$\iota_A(x) = x \quad \text{for all } x \in {}^AW_{\text{ext}}.$$

*Proof.* Let us start with part (4). The first equality has already been noted in (9.7). The second one is part of Lemma 9.4. Finally, since  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A$  admits both a baby Verma filtration and a baby co-Verma filtration (see Theorem 7.9(2) and Proposition 9.7), the equality  $(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^{\prime A})=(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A)$  holds by Remark 9.6. Most of the last assertion of this part has already been established in Corollary 7.5; it only remains to show that

$$[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A x^{\triangle}}^{\prime A} : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] = 1 \quad \text{for all } x \in {}^A W_{\text{ext}}.$$

We will return to this later in the proof.

We will now prove parts (1) and (2). Observe that by applying  $\mathbb{D}$ , we have

$$(\mathbb{D}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A):\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_z^{\prime A})=(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_z^A)$$

for all  $z \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ . Now Remark 9.9 and the equalities from part (4) show that there exists a unique minimal element z (with respect to  $\leq$ ) such that the right-hand side is nonzero, namely x. Since  $\mathbb{D}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A)$  is an indecomposable injective object, in view of Remark 9.9 again this implies that  $\mathbb{D}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A$ , proving part (2). As noted above, this claim is equivalent to that in (1).

For part (3), the first isomorphism was already established in Theorem 7.9(3). The second one follows by Verdier duality; alternatively, since we now know that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x$  is the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x$ , one can repeat the argument from the proof of Theorem 7.9(3) to show that  $\operatorname{Av}_1^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x$ .

It remains to prove (9.16). By Corollary 7.5, we at least know that  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{w_Ax^{\triangle}}]$ :  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_x^A] \leq 1$ . Suppose in fact that this multiplicity is 0 for some x. By the portion of part (4) that is already proved, we see that the baby co-Verma modules  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_y^A$  appearing in a baby co-Verma filtration of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A$  all satisfy  $x \leq y < w_A x^{\triangle}$ . Using Corollary 7.5 again, we see that the composition factors of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A$  are of the form  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_z^A$  with  $z \prec w_A x^{\triangle}$ ; in particular,  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w_Ax^{\triangle}}^A] = 0$ , and hence  $\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A,\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_Ax^{\triangle}}^A) = 0$ . If  $A = \emptyset$ , this contradicts Proposition 9.20, and we are done. Before passing to the case where  $A \neq \emptyset$ , let us note that once we know that  $(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x:\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x^{\triangle}}) = 1$ , then by Remark 7.8 we know that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'_{x^{\triangle}}$  is actually a quotient of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x$ .

Let us now finish the proof of (9.16) in the case where  $A \neq \emptyset$ . Since  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w_A x^{\triangle}}^A$  is the socle of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A x^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}$ , the equation  $[\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A:\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w_A x^{\triangle}}^A]=0$  implies that  $\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_x^A,\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A x^{\triangle}}^{\prime A})=0$ . We have

$$0 = \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}^{A}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_{A}x^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}) = \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}^{A}, \operatorname{Av}_{\psi}^{A}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{x^{\triangle}}^{\prime}))$$

$$= \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Av}_{1}^{A}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}^{A}), \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{x^{\triangle}}^{\prime}) = \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{x}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{x^{\triangle}}^{\prime}),$$

where the second equality uses Lemma 6.3(2), the third one follows from adjunction, and the last one uses part (3). This contradicts the previous paragraph, and thus finishes the proof.

9.5. Further properties of baby Verma and baby co-Verma modules. In this subsection, we prove a number of statements exhibiting a symmetry between baby Verma modules and baby co-Verma modules.

We start with the following corollary of Proposition 9.21.

**Lemma 9.22.** For any  $w \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , the object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$  has a simple head, and the object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}^A_{w_Aw^\triangle}$  has a simple socle, both isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^A_w$ .

*Proof.* Proposition 9.21(4) and Remark 7.8 imply that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}$  is a quotient of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A$ , so like  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A$ , it has a simple head, isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ . The claim for  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}^A$  follows by Verdier duality.

Below we will require the following combinatorial lemma.

**Lemma 9.23.** The map  ${}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}} \to {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  given by  $w \mapsto w_A w^{\triangle}$  is a bijection.

Note that  $w_A w^{\triangle}$  at least lies in  ${}^A W_{\text{ext}}$  by Remark 7.2(1). This lemma may have a purely combinatorial or alcove-geometric proof, but we will give an argument that relies on properties of  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules and is intertwined with the proofs of the next two statements in the following way:

Proof of Lemma 9.23 for  $A = \emptyset$ . The inverse map is given by (2.5).

Proposition 9.24. Let  $w \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ .

- (1) The object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^{A}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}$  is the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^{A}_{w}$  in the Serre subcategory of  $\operatorname{mod}^{\mathbf{Y}}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})$  generated by the simple objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^{A}_{y}$  with  $w_Ay^{\triangle} \not\prec w_Aw^{\triangle}$ .
- (2) The object  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}$  is the injective hull of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$  in the Serre subcategory of  $\operatorname{mod}_{(I_n^A,\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  generated by the simple objects  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A$  with  $w_A y^{\triangle} \not\prec w_A w^{\triangle}$ .

Proof assuming that Lemma 9.23 holds for A. We will prove the claims for  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}$ . Those for  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}^{A}$  follow by Verdier duality.

We have already seen in Lemma 9.22 that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}$  has a unique simple quotient, isomorphic to  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_w^A$ . Next, we must show that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}$  lies in the Serre subcategory described in the statement. This is a consequence of Corollary 7.5, which tells us that

$$[\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^{\triangle}}^{\prime A} : \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_v^A] \neq 0$$
 implies  $w_A v^{\triangle} \succeq w_A w^{\triangle}$ .

Finally, to show that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^A_{w_Aw^{\triangle}}$  is the projective cover of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}^A_w$  in this Serre subcategory, we must show that

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_{A}w^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}, \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}^{A}) = 0 \quad \text{if } w_{A}y^{\triangle} \not\prec w_{A}w^{\triangle}.$$

As noted in the proof of Lemma 9.22 there is a surjective map  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A \twoheadrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^{\triangle}}^{\prime A}$  whose kernel  $\mathcal{K}$  admits a baby co-Verma filtration. Since  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_w^A$  is projective, we have a surjective map  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{K},\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A) \to \operatorname{Ext}^1(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^{\triangle}}^{\prime A},\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A)$ . So it is enough to show that

(9.17) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{K}, \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{y}^{A}) = 0 \quad \text{if } w_{A}y^{\triangle} \not\prec w_{A}w^{\triangle}.$$

By Proposition 9.21(4), the baby co-Verma modules which occur in a baby co-Verma filtration of  $\mathcal{K}$  have their labels that lie between w and  $w_A w^\triangle$  in the period order. More precisely, by Lemma 9.23, the terms of the baby co-Verma filtration can be written as  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A z^\triangle}^{\prime A}$  with  $w \leq w_A z^\triangle \prec w_A w^\triangle$ . By Lemma 9.22, the unique simple quotient of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A z^\triangle}^{\prime A}$  is  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_z^A$ , so  $\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A z^\triangle}^{\prime A}, \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_y^A) = 0$  if  $y \neq z$ , i.e. if  $w_A y^\triangle \neq w_A z^\triangle$ . This implies (9.17).

**Proposition 9.25.** For  $w, w' \in {}^{A}W_{\text{ext}}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Ext}^n_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I^A_{\operatorname{u}}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}^A_w, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^A_{w'}) &\cong \operatorname{Ext}^n_{\operatorname{mod}_{(I^A_{\operatorname{u}}, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\mathcal{R})}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}'^A_{w'}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}^A_w) \\ &\cong \begin{cases} \mathbb{k} & \text{if } w = w' \text{ and } n = 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Proof assuming that Proposition 9.24 holds for A. The claims for  $\operatorname{Ext}^n(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w'}^{\prime A})$  are contained in Lemma 9.8. Recall that this lemma comes from the general theory developed in [BS]; it is available here because, as shown in the proof of Theorem 7.9,  $\operatorname{mod}_{I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  is an essentially finite highest weight category with respect to the poset  $({}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}, \preceq)$ .

Define a new order  $\unlhd$  on  ${}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  by declaring that  $w \unlhd y$  if  $w_A w^{\triangle} \succeq w_A y^{\triangle}$ . Using Proposition 9.24, one can show that  $\mathrm{mod}_{(I^A_{\mathrm{u}},\mathcal{X}_A)}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})$  admits a second structure as an essentially finite highest weight category, this time with respect to the poset  $({}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}},\unlhd)$ . In this context, baby co-Verma modules are standard objects, while

baby Verma modules are costandard objects. We omit the details, as they are very similar to those in the proof of Theorem 7.9.

The claims in the proposition for  $\operatorname{Ext}^n(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w'}^{\prime A}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_w^A)$  then follow from the analogue of Lemma 9.8 for this new highest weight structure.

Proof of Lemma 9.23 for  $A \neq \emptyset$ . In view of (2.5), the rule  $w \mapsto w_A w^{\triangle}$  gives a bijection  $W_{\text{ext}} \to W_{\text{ext}}$ , so the induced map  ${}^AW_{\text{ext}} \to {}^AW_{\text{ext}}$  (see Remark 7.2(1)) is at least injective. We must prove that it is also surjective.

Let  $v \in {}^{A}W_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , and choose a simple quotient of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{v}^{\prime A}$ , say  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$ . Since  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{w}^{A}$  is the socle of  $\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_{A}w^{\triangle}}^{A}$  by Lemma 9.22, the following groups are all nonzero:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_v^{\prime A}, \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^\triangle}^A) & \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Av}_\psi^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_v^\prime), \operatorname{Av}_\psi^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^\triangle})) \\ & \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\xi_A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_v^\prime), \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^\triangle}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_v^{\prime A}), \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^\triangle}), \end{split}$$

where the isomorphisms follow from Lemma 6.3(2) and adjunction. The description of the baby co-Verma filtration of  $\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_v'^A)$  in Lemma 6.3(3), together with the " $\emptyset$ " case of Proposition 9.25, imply that

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Av}_*^A(\widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_v'^A), \widehat{\mathcal{Z}}_{w_A w^{\triangle}}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } w_A w^{\triangle} \in W_A v, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

So we must have  $W_A v = W_A w^{\triangle}$ . Since both v and  $w_A w^{\triangle}$  belong to  ${}^A W_{\text{ext}}$ , using Lemma 2.3 we conclude that  $v = w_A w^{\triangle}$ , as desired.

9.6. More on injective  $\mathcal{R}$ -modules and tilting perverse sheaves. We conclude with a complement to Proposition 7.11(1). The following statement can be regarded as a geometric counterpart of [Ja, Lemma E.8].

**Proposition 9.26.** Let  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . The object  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_w)$  is a projective (equivalently, injective)  $\mathcal{R}$ -module if and only if  $w = w_A x^{\triangle}$  for some  $x \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ .

*Proof.* The "if" direction is Proposition 7.11(1); we need only prove the "only if" direction.

First we treat the case when  $\mathbbm{k}$  has characteristic 0. Assume that  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}_w^A)$  is injective. Then the functor

$$\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{mod}_{(I_{u}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R})}(\Phi^{A}(-),\Phi^{A}(\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A}))\cong \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{Perv}_{(I_{u}^{A},\mathcal{X}_{A})}(\mathrm{Gr},\Bbbk)}(-,\mathsf{T}_{w}^{A}\star^{\mathcal{L}^{+}G}\mathcal{R}_{0})$$

(where the identification follows from Lemma 5.1) is exact. As explained in §5.3, since  $\mathbbm{k}$  has characteristic 0, the skyscraper sheaf  $\mathcal{IC}^0$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ , so  $\operatorname{Hom}(-, \mathsf{T}_w^A \star^{\mathcal{L}^+G} \mathcal{IC}^0) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(-, \mathsf{T}_w^A)$  is an exact functor. That is,  $\mathsf{T}_w^A$  is an injective object in  $\operatorname{Perv}_{(I_{\mathfrak{u}}^A, \mathcal{X}_A)}(\operatorname{Gr}, \mathbbm{k})$ . This object is also indecomposable. From the classification of indecomposable injective objects in Theorem 7.1, we see that  $\mathsf{T}_w^A \cong \mathsf{T}_{w_A x^\triangle}^A$  for some  $x \in {}^A W_{\operatorname{ext}}^S$ ; we then have  $w = w_A x^\triangle$ .

Now suppose  $\mathbb{k}$  has positive characteristic, but that  $A = \emptyset$ . We may assume that  $\mathbb{k}$  is finite. Choose a ring  $\mathbb{O}$  as in §9.3 that has  $\mathbb{k}$  as its residue field, and let  $\mathbb{K}$  be its fraction field. Let  $w \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , and assume that  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{k})) \cong \Phi(\mathbb{k}(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{O})))$  is injective. Then there exist  $w_1, \ldots, w_k \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}$  and an isomorphism

$$(9.18) \Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\Bbbk)) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\Bbbk) \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_2}(\Bbbk) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\Bbbk).$$

In view of part (1) in Theorem 9.17, Lemma 9.15 and Remark 9.16 imply that the morphisms

$$\mathbb{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{w}(\mathbb{O})), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_{1}}(\mathbb{O}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_{k}}(\mathbb{O})) \to \\ \operatorname{Hom}(\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{w}(\mathbb{k})), \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_{1}}(\mathbb{k}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_{k}}(\mathbb{k}))$$

and

$$\mathbb{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{O}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{O}), \Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{O}))) \to \\ \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{k}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{k}), \Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{k})))$$

induced by  $k^0$  are isomorphisms. Using (9.18), we deduce that there exist morphisms

$$f:\Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{O}))\to\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{O})\oplus\cdots\oplus\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{O})$$

and

$$g:\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{O})\oplus\cdots\oplus\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{O})\to\Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{O}))$$

such that  $\mathbb{k}^0(f)$  and  $\mathbb{k}^0(g)$  are mutually inverse isomorphisms. Similarly, by Remark 9.18(2),  $\operatorname{End}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{O}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{O}))$  has finite rank over  $\mathbb{O}$ , and the functor  $\mathbb{k}^0$  induces an isomorphism

$$\mathbb{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \operatorname{End}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{O}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{O})) \to \operatorname{End}(\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{k}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{k})).$$

In view of Lemma 9.27 below, this implies that  $f \circ g$  is an isomorphism, and hence that  $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{O}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{O})$  is a direct summand in  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{O}))$ . In other words, there exists  $\mathcal{M}$  in  $\mathrm{Mod}_{I_w}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mathcal{R}(\mathbb{O}))$  and an isomorphism

$$\Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{O})) \cong (\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_1}(\mathbb{O}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_{w_k}(\mathbb{O})) \oplus \mathcal{M}.$$

We have  $\mathbb{K}^0(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ , so by Corollary 9.19 we have  $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{M}) = 0$  as well. This implies that the object  $\Phi(\mathbb{K}(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{O})))$  is also injective. This object contains  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{K}))$  as a direct summand, so  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_w(\mathbb{K}))$  is injective. The field  $\mathbb{K}$  has characteristic 0, so by the previous paragraph, we conclude that  $w = x^{\triangle}$  for some  $x \in W_{\mathrm{ext}}^S$ , which completes the proof in this case.

Finally, we consider the case where  $\Bbbk$  has positive characteristic, but  $A \neq \varnothing$ . Let  $w \in {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , and suppose that  $\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_w)$  is injective. Then  $\mathrm{Av}^A_*(\Phi^A(\mathsf{T}^A_w)) \cong \Phi(\mathrm{Av}^A_*(\mathsf{T}^A_w))$  is also injective. By Proposition 3.12, the latter is isomorphic to  $\Phi(\mathsf{T}_{w_Aw})$ . By the previous paragraph, we must have  $w_Aw = x^\triangle$ , or  $w = w_Ax^\triangle$ , for some  $x \in W^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ . On the other hand, Lemma 9.23 implies that there exists  $y \in {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}}$  such that  $w = w_Ay^\triangle$ . The injectivity of the map  $z \mapsto z^\triangle$  implies that x = y, so that this element belongs to  $W^S_{\mathrm{ext}} \cap {}^AW_{\mathrm{ext}} = {}^AW^S_{\mathrm{ext}}$ , which finishes the proof.  $\square$ 

**Lemma 9.27.** Let  $\mathbb{O}$  be the ring of integers in a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ , let  $\mathbb{F}$  be its residue field and let A be a finite  $\mathbb{O}$ -algebra. If  $a \in A$  is such that its image in  $\mathbb{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} A$  is invertible, then a is invertible.

Proof. Let  $\varpi$  be a uniformizer in  $\mathbb{O}$ . Then by completeness it suffices to prove that the image of a in each  $A/\varpi^n A$   $(n \geq 1)$  is invertible. This is checked by induction, the case n=1 being true by assumption. If we know that a is invertible in  $A/\varpi^n A$ , and if  $b \in A$  has image in  $A/\varpi^n A$  the inverse of a, then  $ab=1+\varpi^n c$  for some  $c \in A$ . If  $d \in A$  has image in  $A/\varpi A$  the inverse of a, then  $ad \in 1+\varpi A$ , hence  $a(b-\varpi^n dc) \in 1+\varpi^{n+1} A$ , which shows that a is invertible in  $A/\varpi^{n+1} A$ , as desired.

## References

- [ACR] P. Achar, N. Cooney, and S. Riche, The parabolic exotic t-structure, Épijournal Géom. Algébrique 2 (2018), Art. 8, 31 pp.
- [AR1] P. Achar and S. Riche, Modular perverse sheaves on flag varieties I: tilting and parity sheaves, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. 49 (2016), 325–370, with a joint appendix with G. Williamson
- [AR2] P. Achar and S. Riche, Dualité de Koszul formelle et théorie des représentations des groupes algébriques réductifs en caractéristique positive, in SMF 2018 : Congrès de la Société Mathématique de France (E. Breuillard, Ed.), 83–150, Séminaires et Congrès 33, SMF, 2019.
- [AR3] P. Achar and S. Riche, A geometric Steinberg formula, preprint arXiv:2109.11980.
- [AR4] P. Achar and S. Riche, *Central sheaves on affine flag varieties*, book project, preliminary version available at https://lmbp.uca.fr/~riche/central.pdf.
- [APW] H. H. Andersen, P. Polo, and K. X. Wen, Representations of quantum algebras, Invent. Math. 104 (1991), 1–59.
- [ABG] S. Arkhipov, R. Bezrukavnikov, and V. Ginzburg, Quantum groups, the loop Grass-mannian, and the Springer resolution, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 17 (2004), 595–678.
- [ABBGM] S. Arkhipov, R. Bezrukavnikov, A. Braverman, D. Gaitsgory, and I. Mirković, Modules over the small quantum group and semi-infinite flag manifold, Transform. Groups 10 (2005), 279–362.
- [AG] S. Arkhipov and D. Gaitsgory, Another realization of the category of modules over the small quantum group, Adv. Math. 173 (2003), 114–143.
- [BaR] P. Baumann and S. Riche, Notes on the geometric Satake equivalence, in Relative aspects in representation theory, Langlands functoriality and automorphic forms, 1–134, Lecture Notes in Math. 2221, CIRM Jean-Morlet Ser., Springer, 2018.
- [BBDG] A. Beïlinson, J. Bernstein, P. Deligne, and O. Gabber, Faisceaux pervers, in Analysis and topology on singular spaces, I (Luminy, 1981), Astérisque 100 (1982), 5–171.
- [BGS] A. Beilinson, V. Ginzburg, and W. Soergel, Koszul duality patterns in representation theory, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 9 (1996), 473–527.
- [BNPS] C. P. Bendel, D. K. Nakano, C. Pillen, and P. Sobaje, Counterexamples to the tilting and (p, r)-filtration conjectures, J. Reine Angew. Math. 767 (2020), 193–202.
- [BGMRR] R. Bezrukavnikov, D. Gaitsgory, I. Mirković, S. Riche, and L. Rider, An Iwahori-Whittaker model for the Satake category, J. Éc. polytech. Math. 6 (2019), 707–735.
- [BR] R. Bezrukavnikov and S. Riche, A topological approach to Soergel theory, preprint arXiv:1807.07614.
- [BY] R. Bezrukavnikov and Z. Yun, On Koszul duality for Kac-Moody groups, Represent. Theory 17 (2013), 1–98.
- [BS] J. Brundan and C. Stroppel, Semi-infinite highest weight categories, preprint arXiv:1808.08022.
- [CYZ] X. W. Chen, Y. Ye, and P. Zhang, Algebras of derived dimension zero, Comm. Algebra 36 (2008), 1–10.
- [D1] S. Donkin, On a question of Verma, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 21 (1980), 445–455.
- [D2] S. Donkin, On tilting modules for algebraic groups, Math. Z. 212 (1993), 39–60.
- [D3] S. Donkin, On projective modules for algebraic groups, J. London Math. Soc. (2) **54** (1996), 75–88.
- [FS] L. Fargues and P. Scholze, Geometrization of the local Langlands correspondence, preprint arXiv:2102.13459.
- [FM] M. Finkelberg and I. Mirković, Semi-infinite flags. I. Case of global curve P¹, in Differential topology, infinite-dimensional Lie algebras, and applications, 81–112, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 194, Adv. Math. Sci. 44, Amer. Math. Soc., 1999.
- [Ga] D. Gaitsgory, Construction of central elements in the affine Hecke algebra via nearby cycles, Invent. Math. 144 (2001), 253–280.
- [GG] R. Gordon and E. L. Green, Graded Artin algebras, J. Algebra 76 (1982), 111–137.
- [IM] N. Iwahori and H. Matsumoto, On some Bruhat decomposition and the structure of the Hecke rings of p-adic Chevalley groups, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 25 (1965), 5–48.

- [Ja] J. C. Jantzen, Representations of algebraic groups. Second edition, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 107, American Mathematical Society, 2003.
- [KS] M. Kashiwara and P. Schapira, Categories and sheaves, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften 332, Springer-Verlag, 2006.
- [KL1] D. Kazhdan and G. Lusztig, Representations of Coxeter groups and Hecke algebras, Invent. Math. 53 (1979), 165–184.
- [KL2] D. Kazhdan and G. Lusztig, Schubert varieties and Poincaré duality, Geometry of the Laplace operator (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Univ. Hawaii, Honolulu, Hawaii, 1979), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXVI, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1980, pp. 185–203.
- [Kr] H. Krause, Krull-Schmidt categories and projective covers, Expo. Math. 33 (2015), 535–549.
- [La] T. Y. Lam, A first course in noncommutative rings, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 131, Springer-Verlag, 1991.
- [MV] I. Mirković and K. Vilonen, Geometric Langlands duality and representations of algebraic groups over commutative rings, Ann. of Math. (2) 166 (2007), 95–143.
- [Ri] S. Riche, Geometric Representation Theory in positive characteristic, habilitation thesis, available at https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-01431526.
- [RW] S. Riche and G. Williamson, A simple character formula, Ann. H. Lebesgue 4 (2021), 503–535.
- [So] W. Soergel, Kazhdan-Lusztig polynomials and a combinatoric[s] for tilting modules, Represent. Theory 1 (1997), 83–114.
- [Wi] G. Williamson, Modular intersection cohomology complexes on flag varieties, with an appendix by T. Braden, Math. Z. 272 (2012), 697–727.
- [Yu] Z. Yun, Weights of mixed tilting sheaves and geometric Ringel duality, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 14 (2009), 299–320.

Department of Mathematics, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA 70803, U.S.A.

 $Email\ address: {\tt pramod@math.lsu.edu}$ 

UNIVERSITÉ CLERMONT AUVERGNE, CNRS, LMBP, F-63000 CLERMONT-FERRAND, FRANCE. Email address: simon.riche@uca.fr